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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE
OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a
higher investment risk may be attached than other companies
listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful
consideration.

Given that companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given
that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on
GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss howsoever
arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the
contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Great World Company
Holdings Ltd (the “Company’) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock
Exchange for the purpose of giving information with regard to
the Company. The directors of the Company, having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge
and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive,
and there are no other matters the omission of which would make
any statement herein or this report misleading.
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Chairman’s Statement
FERS
Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) and the
management of Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the
“Company”, together with its subsidiaries collectively referred to as
the “Group”), | am pleased to present to you the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020.

The past year has been very tumultuous and challenging. Rising
geopolitical tension with trade disputes between the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and the United States of America
(the “USA”), a price war over oil production causing waves
spreading across the markets and social unrest in Hong Kong
have contributed to a pessimistic macro-economic sentiment.
Meanwhile, the world was facing one of the biggest crises we have
witnessed in modern history with the spread of the COVID-19 virus
and tipping the global economy into recession.

Despite these challenges, the Group has been resilient and
committed enormous efforts to strengthen and consolidate existing
business segments while finding new opportunities that leverage
our fundamentals to develop innovative products and services to
broaden our income sources.

The Group recorded a total turnover of approximately
HK$441,778,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing
an increase by approximately 92.04% as compared to
approximately HK$230,039,000 for continuing operations of last
year. Loss for the year was approximately HK$41,256,000 (2019:
HK$17,146,000). The Board did not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the year (2019: Nil).

Our management team is aware that in this economic context,
industries that are related to offline activities will be more vulnerable
to an economic downturn. In contrast, digital sectors will be more
resilient or even have potential opportunities. The Group will thus
consolidate its position in the intelligent advertising business
segment which has known tremendous growth even in the current
context due to a massive shift of consumer behaviour to online
channels. The Group will leverage the technical platforms that have
been developed, especially in the fields of Big Data and Atrtificial
Intelligence (“Al”) that will be very promising in a post-COVID
economy and will investigate innovative applications of these
technologies into untapped market segments.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020
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Chairman’s Statement
FERE

In an uncertain but recovering economy, consumers will likely
scale back on discretionary spending, bringing additional pressure
to a wide range of consumer-oriented products. However, the
supply chains have been gradually reverting to normalcy and the
management will leverage its network to focus on industrial goods
with stable and growing demands instead of volatile non-essential
consumer goods and services. In a post-COVID-19 economy,
effective supply chain services will play a key role. Businesses need
more than ever to cope with uncertainties and navigate among the
systematic disruptions that are hitting every industry, that is why we
will be very rigorous in the selection of our product portfolio and the
range of industries we will serve. Despite the challenges, we are
still confident in the long-term growth potential of our key markets,
especially China, which are supported by unique demographics
and economic potential.

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our staff members for their resilience and contribution in this
challenging year and extend my appreciation to the shareholders
and investors for their support.

Ng Mui King, Joky
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June, 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Yangiang, aged 38, has been an executive director
of the Company since 6 October 2014. He is the chairman of
the nomination committee of the Company. He has 13 years of
experience in forestry, finance and corporate management. He
holds a bachelor’s degree and a master’s degree in engineering
from the Central South University of Forestry and Technology.

Ms. Yang Wei, aged 42, has been an executive director of the
Company since 14 June 2016. She has 19 years of experience in
clean energy, environmental protection and planning strategies.
Ms. Yang served at the Clean Energy Action Office under the
Ministry of Science and Technology of the People’s Republic of
China and the United Nations Development Program (UNDP) in
China. Currently she works as the director of the “Biomass Energy
Project Administration Office” initiated by UNDP in China. Ms. Yang
holds a bachelor’s degree in Chinese Language from the Beijing
Normal University.

Mr. Gu Zhonghai, aged 36, has been an executive director
of the Company since 9 August 2019. He holds a bachelor of
e-commerce and a master degree in business administration from
Wuhan University of Technology. Mr. Gu started off his career in
the marketing field in 2009 at China Telecom Corporation Limited
Shenzhen branch. From 2011 to 2014, he served as operation
manager and directors of VIP at Tencent, with experience
in providing services to several companies on the list of the
Fortune Global 500. He has an in-depth insight into big data
marketing, traffic cooperation and traditional corporate digitalized
transformation as well as their implementation.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky, aged 58, re-designated from an executive
director to a non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 22 December 2017. She is the chairman of the Board and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. She
has over 27 years of experience in telecommunication, import and
export trading, accounting, finance and corporate management.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020
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Biographical Details of Directors

EEERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chung Koon Yan, aged 56, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since 9 May 2008 and is the
chairman of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Chung holds
a Master’s degree in Professional Accounting from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. He is a practicing member and a fellow
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Mr. Chung is a director of
Chiu, Choy & Chung CPA Ltd. He has over 26 years of experience
in accounting, auditing and taxation. Currently, Mr. Chung is an
independent non- executive director of Asian Citrus Holdings
Limited (stock code: 73), a company whose shares are listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“MB”) and were admitted to trading on AIM (a market operated
by the London Stock Exchange) in 2006 but which has been
cancelled from trading on AIM since 29 May 2017, an independent
non-executive director of Synergy Group Holdings International
Limited (stock code: 1539), a company listed on the MB, and is
also an independent non-executive director of Winson Holdings
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 6812), whose shares are listed on
the MB.

Ms. Zhao Yongmei, aged 52, has been an independent non-
executive director since 20 October 2014. She is the chairman of
the remuneration committee and a member of the audit committee
as well as the nomination committee. She has over 23 years of
experience in banking, finance and corporate management.

Dr. Yang Fuyu, aged 45, has been an independent non-executive
director since 12 January 2016. He is a member of the audit
committee, the remuneration committee and the nomination
committee. Dr. Yang holds a Doctorate degree of Agronomy in
China Agricultural University. Dr. Yang is currently a Professor and
a tutor for doctoral students of China Agricultural University, the
Secretary-general of Innovative Strategic Alliance of National Forage
Industry Technology, the Secretary-general of Innovative Strategic
Alliance of Beijing Huaxia Prataculture Industry Technology, the
director of the Youth Committee of Chinese Grassland Society and
the Secretary-general of Professional Committee of Energy Grass
of Chinese Grassland Society.
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Biographical Details of Senior Management

SREEAEREE

Mr. Leung Hoi, aged 32, is the Head of Marketing of the
Company. Mr. Leung worked under the authority of French
Commerce Chamber and the French Embassy in Shanghai to help
French technological companies implement business development
strategies in the Chinese market. Mr. Leung has extensive
experience in technology product development, international
marketing strategies as well as international strategic planning. Mr.
Leung holds an EMBA from Beijing University as well as a master’s
degree in engineering from Institut d’Optique Graduate School in
France.

Ms. Lu Min, aged 40, is a Vice-President of the Company. She has
occupied senior management positions in multiple state-owned
enterprises and telecommunications equipment manufacturing
companies. She has more than 15 years of experience in various
fields such as telecommunications equipment technology, supply
chain management and international trading, and has a deep
understanding of online business digitalization and cross-industries
integration.

Mr. Rao Bin, aged 57, is a Vice-President of Shenzhen Zhixunpai
and General Manager of Shenzhen-Guangdong Region. He has
held senior management positions in renowned media companies
such as Southern Metropolis Daily and Toutiao. He has more
than 20 years of experience in advertising, media promotion,
especially in real estate advertising. Mr. Rao holds a master’s
degree in Chinese Language and Literature from Huazhong Normal
University.

Ms. Zhang Xiao Man, aged 31, is a Vice-President of Shenzhen
Zhixunpai and Regional Manager of Shenzhen. She has more than
10 years of experience in real estate advertising and has deep
expertise in advertising and marketing planning as well as brand
promotion, brand strategy and advertising creation. Ms. Zhang
holds a Bachelor’s degree in International News Professional from
Hong Kong Baptist University.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
Bk oM

MARKET OVERVIEW
Intelligent Advertising and Railroad Media Business

Intelligent Advertising Business

The COVID-19 pandemic caused systemic disruptions to
almost every industry but impacted offline business severely
while providing extraordinary growth opportunities to online
activities. With lockdown, quarantine and global supply chain
disruptions, traditional offline retailers had to transition into
the online realm and must now face new challenges. The
priority for many businesses is now to transition smoothly
and implement new retail and omnichannel transformations.
According to the latest “Future Consumer” report by Deloitte,
substantial shift from offline to online is being observed
across the board, including a new type of online shopping
experiences featuring a hybrid form of online and offline retail
experiences for consumers. The crisis has generated huge
traffic increase for dominant e-commerce platforms as well
as other types of generally less frequented platforms, such as
official brand websites and mini-apps.

The average smartphone user in China spent an additional
30% of their time using their mobile device in February 2020
because of the city lockdown and quarantines. There are
increases in time spent with TV and digital media in 2020 as
people seek out news and entertainment. The rapid move
from offline to online has also quietly shifted the ground in
communications, with many new and innovative methods
emerging. New favourites include live streaming, professional
and niche KOLs.

As a result, online advertising is booming and online related
activities generated additional revenue for major players. The
Chinese tech giant, Tencent Holdings Limited (“Tencent"),
recorded a 26% year-on-year revenue jump during the first
quarter (“Q1”) of 2020, outpacing growth in both the previous
quarter and the same period in 2019. Tencent’s online
advertising segment grew 33% in Q1, facilitated by increased
traffic. Research firm eMarketer said total ad spend in China
in 2020 will total US$113.67 billion, representing year-on-
year growth of 8.4% with digital spending growing 13.0% to
US$81.06 billion,

Railroad Media Business

The impact of the coronavirus pandemic can be felt by us all.
With travel bans, shopping centres empty, social gatherings
prohibited, and many individuals quarantined or simply
afraid to go out: the disruption to normal life is considerable.
One of the most impacted fields from the outbreak is urban
transportation.

mEHE
ERERERERERRE

EEEEK
COVD-19ZEBLRTHMAETESX
RGMEE MR TEBTERE -
MERBERKTBIREIZREK - BB
EE IR A R 2 Bkt R g8
R ERETSERATSCER
BN ER R A RS o
BRI RELEBEEHKHERIEF
BE YHOTHSERE2REER -
BEEHEHEMRHIRREEE]
WE - MISERE LHETERALRLE
PIEAHEERBEEAFARERE
TEERBROFTLBLEYER -2
KRIEEHATEETHEFAUR
Hm@meELA¥e (WEH MR
Mk ER) B REAREEE -

MR BRI M REEE — T %
FZATRTFHIEEFHRAFERE
BRIBEEREIMEMI0% - —F=-F
Fo APEERFTEMIREEA - Fitt
TMHEMERE B FREERRRE - R
TRR EEEAE  TRERETE
THAEE  RIEEEFAREFTN -
MIZHERERERER EXERME
B REM -

Eit - B EEEEDRE  HEKLE
EEAEEL2EELRBINIE -
BRI EBEEMIZERER AR ([
M —E_EFEF—F([E—F))
WASRISREILLIE R 26% @ B8 F—=
ER-ZZ—NFRHAER - BAAK
FEEDBIBRARELM  F—F
#K 33% ° BT %5 A 7l eMarketer 7§
CTECEFRBEERAYBEEE
1,136.78E T IHFHK84% - &
FoHFERYIEK13.0%£810.618
FEIT °

HERERE

PP E ABRERZ I ER BT RE
Mg WITES BOHPL=E
BEAREE  BZHEARXBEEX
MEEMIN  EEERETTE -
B RBLSBRERET —AKITE
HYRRIF o

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH



10

Management Discussion and Analysis
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The high railway passenger flow comes after a relaxation of
travel restrictions amid dwindling COVID-19 cases in China.
In April, China has resumed ground public transportation
and urban rail transit services; however, public transportation
businesses still face tremendous challenges due to social
distancing. Railway operators and other public transport
operators still need to adjust their seating and reservations
to ensure more distance. As services are restored, ridership
is returning in some places, but not to full levels. Since the
outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the road transport
industry in China has played a vital role in preventing and
controlling the spread of the virus and restoring economic and
social order.

According to intelligence from China Daily, rail development
remained to be the key to sustaining China’s economic growth
on a long-term basis. The National Development and Reform
Commission, which is the nation’s top economic regulator,
gave the green light for urban rail development in Shenzhen
City in Guangdong Province as well as two other cities,
involving a total investment of CNY¥224.8 billion (US$31.74
billion).

Cultivation and Sales of Agricultural and Forestry Products
Business

The COVID-19 pandemic has been causing operational issues,
such as supply chain constraints, lack of site access and shortage
of labour. According to the Food and Agriculture Organization of the
United Nations, agricultural activities are highly disrupted by each
component of the supply chain, creating bottlenecks. Countries’
lockdown and border closure are strongly impacting farmers’
access to input, such as seeds, fertilizers and agrochemicals.
Wholesalers are attempting to perform logistical shifts, redirecting
goods from shuttered businesses to places where people need
it. Closure of businesses has notably reduced the market space
for agricultural products with a significant impact on the sector by
causing a dramatic decrease in product demand. Restrictions on
travel and people movement as well are also impacting consumers’
demand.

Beijing-based consulting firm BRIC Agri-Info Group estimates
that across mainland China, more than 3 million tonnes of farm
produce, mostly perishable vegetables, has been left unsold due to
disruptions in the transport chain. Other sectors of the agricultural
industry are also impacted as farmers struggle to sell their goods or
find enough workers.
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However, “Medicinal Herbs Market Forecast, Trend Analysis &
Competition Tracking — Global Market Insights 2020 to 2030”
showed significant market demand for traditional medicine. A
Traditional Chinese Medicine hospital suggested the use of herbs
to combat coronavirus, causing a surge in demand. While the
European market is expected to maintain its dominance in demand
for medicinal herbs during 2020-2030, the South Asian market will
grow nearly 10%. The market for conventional medicinal herbs will
grow by almost 3 times through 2030, owing to the focus of key
players to cultivate medicinal herbs through traditional methods. In
Europe, one-third of the demand for medicinal herb is from health
supplements and nutraceutical.

Trading (Supply Chain) Business

Despite unprecedented efforts undertaken by governments,
businesses and individuals, the repercussions of COVID-19
outbreak are more prominent with every passing day. The view that
the virus originated in China, the de-facto “factory of the world’,
has accentuated the economic damage, which has resulted in a
collapse of a significant portion of supply chains.

According to a survey conducted by the Institute for Supply Chain
Management, 75% of companies reported supply chain disruptions
in one form or another due to coronavirus-related transport
restrictions, and 50% of them experienced sudden and unexpected
delays in receiving orders.

Global supply chains are vulnerable due to substantial consolidation
by geographical regions for the sake of efficiency while having
limited risk management and contingency plans. Following the
first wave of disruption to the supply chain from China, further
disruptions came from South Korea and Japan. As the surge in
COVID-19 cases continues into Europe and America, supply chains
may take another hit. The outbreak of COVID-19 has already
exposed the vulnerabilities of high dependence on China. However,
China retains considerable competitive advantages in many areas,
such as electronics and machinery and equipment manufacturing
which can hardly be replaced in the near term.
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According to Market Research Future’s report, the uninterruptible
power supply (“UPS”) market will grow significantly in the next few
years attributing to the growing demand of the high-power range
systems. In recent time, the adoption of UPS system is considered
to be an outstanding power-backup. The global UPS market is
estimated at US$7,225.7 million. The value of the UPS market is
estimated to grow at a higher rate by 2025.

Various factors are driving the growth of the UPS market. These
factors include growing demand for constant power supply,
surging demand for networking capacity and data, increasing use
of modular UPS system for its key advantages such as lower cost
and technological advancements. Additional factors pushing the
market growth include demand across various industrial verticals
such as hospitality, telecom, education, healthcare, government, IT
and plant automation.

Property Business

2020 will be a challenging year for China property developers amid
the macroeconomic slowdown. People’s Bank of China has rolled
out measures to inject liquidity so as to ease the monetary market
and support the economy, especially for small and medium-sized
businesses. The Chinese economy is estimated to have contracted
by 9% in Q1 of 2020 from a year earlier, based on estimates
by Goldman Sachs. The International Monetary Fund predicted
a growth of 1.2% for China’s economy this year, following the
coronavirus disruption, which will turn into contracted property
sales and decreased property prices despite government monetary
easing.
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BUSINESS REVIEW
Intelligent Advertising and Railroad Media Business

Intelligent Advertising Business

Shenzhen Zhixunpai Information Technology Company
Ltd. (“Shenzhen Zhixunpai”), a subsidiary of the Company,
strengthened its collaboration with a multitude of mainstream
media by growing significantly the intelligent advertising and
media services it has rendered.

Despite the unfavourable macro environment and a slight dip
in performance in early 2020 due to the COVID-19 lockdown,
our intelligent advertising business has been resilient and
achieved significant growth overall. In 2019, Shenzhen
Zhixunpai had been recognized by Tencent advertisements
as a leading service provider and nominated as “Outstanding
industry channel service provider” for its performance in the
service of real estate customers in its designated region.
More than ever, Shenzhen Zhixunpai is consolidating its
position as a leading service provider of intelligent advertising
and targeted marketing by partnering with more advertisers
and media resources while strengthening its cooperation
with Tencent. Collaboration with more media resources and
traffic providers allows Shenzhen Zhixupai to diversify its
range of services to customers and leverage its experience
in the industry to provide innovative marketing solutions and
staying ahead of the competition. Shenzhen Zhixunpai has
continuously improved its online targeting capability through
the development of Al systems that could be refined by
the data generated by its intelligent advertising business.
Shenzhen Zhixunpai will keep building its data and technology
capabilities to bring more value to the customers and to be an
industry leader by maximizing returns for its customers.

Shenzhen Zhixunpai has already begun its transition into an Al
company with its current application of Al technology in online
advertising. Innovating its mobile advertising and targeted
marketing capabilities continuously, Shenzhen Zhixunpai
has built its own proprietary Big Data and Al technological
platforms to sort through large quantities of data coming from
traffic generated by the intelligent advertisement business.
These technological platforms can harness the data to provide
an edge in its current business segment while enabling the
expansion to new verticals such as omnichannel e-commerce
services, real estate platforms or even venture into Fintech and
Insuretech.

Expansions in new verticals would allow Shenzhen Zhixunpai
to provide additional growth opportunities and broaden its
income sources while playing a pivotal role in the Group by
delivering synergy opportunities via the technological tools and
the data it provides to other business segments.
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Railroad Media Business

The main businesses of this segment include: (1) Guangzhou
Railway Magazine — Guang Tie Yue Xing; (2) Guang Tie Yue
Xing magazine WeChat mini-app, which can be used to
promote products and increase magazine traffic; and (3) a
WeChat eCommerce platform to sell and market goods and
products.

We are the only railway magazine operator of China Railway
Guangzhou Bureau Group Co., Ltd. The railway routes
include: Guangzhou, Shenzhen, Hong Kong, Changsha,
Wuhan, Zhengzhou, Shijiazhuang, Beijing, Lanzhou, Xi’an.
Chongging, Chengdu, Guilin, Nanning, Guiyang, Kunming,
Hefei, Nanjing, Hangzhou, Shanghai, Nanchang, Jinhua,
Wenzhou, Fuzhou, Xiamen and other developed cities in the
Pearl River Delta, servicing more than 400 million travellers.

The advertisement business has met an inevitable slowdown
due to draconian lockdown measures that have been imposed
during the COVID-19, putting High-Speed Railroad service,
the country-wide most used transportation system in the PRC,
at a complete standstill. However, traffic is steadily resuming
since the lockdown ended. The trajectory of the COVID-19
pandemic is still quite unpredictable with uncertainties on the
possibility of another wave due to a pendulum effect of case
importation. However, the Group is exploring opportunities to
expand beyond advertisement within the railroad ecosystem
and to offer more on-board services such as the supply of a
wide range of products on-board, from food and beverage
to a variety of lifestyle products. We firmly believe that this
channel remains to be of critical importance to reach cost-
effectively a high number of potential customers because of
the sheer number of passengers and their general economic
profile.

The Group will strengthen its technological capabilities while
leveraging its media resources to create an Al-powered
targeted marketing platform that can provide packaged
online and offline solutions to help customers face the post-
COVID challenges. The Group will also expand organically
into new business segments by harnessing the technological
capabilities that have been developed.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, a revenue of

approximately HK$294,140,000 was generated from the
provision of intelligent advertising and railroad media services.
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Cultivation and Sales of Agricultural and Forestry Products
Business

The COVID-19 pandemic had a significant impact on the Group’s
plans for the cultivation and sales of Cistanche. On the one hand,
cultivation was impacted due to a shortage of labour caused by
lockdown measures. On the other hand, prices for Cistanche
have been decreasing due to sluggish consumer demand in an
economic slowdown.

The Group has gathered additional insights on the value chain
of this vertical and has noted that profit margins for agricultural
products are low and decreasing due to macroeconomic
conditions. The Group will be exploring opportunities to develop
mass-market consumer products based on the processing of its
agricultural produce to broaden income sources and access higher
profit margins than pure forestry products. Ideally, this business
segment will transition progressively from produce to product.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue generated from the
sales of agricultural and forestry products was approximately
HK$71,594,000. The Group expects more revenue will be
generated from sales of agricultural and forestry products once
the impact of the pandemic starts to dissipate, and the macro
environment is once again more favourable.

Trading (Supply Chain) Business

The Group provides a one-stop supply-chain solution for the
market-driven customers, providing them with the most cost-
effective solutions to meet their procurement needs. The Group
offers a wide range of bespoke services and solutions including
product bundle optimization, ordering and sourcing, customs
clearance and logistics management to help the customers to
seek the finest procurable options in the market based on the
customers’ own specifications.

The COVID-19 outbreak had a systemic impact on every
industry, profoundly disrupting supply chain services by choking
transportation, delaying manufacturing and reducing consumer
demand to a complete standstill. Plants met with extended closure
mandated by the government while country-wide lockdown
completely disrupted logistics. Supply chain obstructions and
difficulty in recovering production due to delayed return of
workforce, lack of personnel mobility and traffic restrictions
contribute to an unprecedented magnitude of disruption.
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Nevertheless, the Group has been able to mitigate the impact of
this “Black Swan” event. Thanks to the supply chain network it has
built over time, the strong relationships built with key suppliers, the
supply chain risk management and business continuity strategies
as well as continuous optimization of product portfolio structure,
its business has been resilient. It has even achieved growth in
the power supply product segment. The power source products
such as uninterruptible power systems has proven to be resilient
to disruptions. The Group believes that as the economy recovers,
these products with applications in a wide range of industries will
have excellent growth prospects.

The Group will maintain a high standard for supply-chain risk
management, closely observing industries of interest to seize
potential investment opportunities in order to diversify its product
portfolio further and broaden the income sources. Paying particular
attention to the consumer market, the Group will leverage its
supply chain network to find new growth channels as the economy
hopefully begins its slow recovery.

Our management is actively seeking new technology investment
opportunities around the world and starting to examine the
development of its own products to increase the profitability while
creating new lines of products with strong branding. Hopefully,
the Group will make a breakthrough in the coming year by offering
innovative high-tech products through acquisition of promising
intellectual property and in house development capabilities.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, a total gross revenue of
approximately HK$75,127,000 was generated from the supply
chain business.

Property Business

The Group owns a property which comprises a residential and
commercial development site with a site area of approximately
3,111.96 square meters (“sq.m.”) located at Leshan City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC. The property has a gross floor area of
approximately 28,251.82 sqg.m. (inclusive of a basement floor) and
comprises 4 types of functions, namely residential, commercial,
basement car park and facilities.

The leasing of the commercial portion of the property has
commenced and the Board expects to commence the selling
programme of part of the residential portion of the property and
the leasing of certain residential portion of the property and/or
basement car park area when the property market appears to
revive with loose policy environment.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, revenue derived from short

term leasing of the commercial portion of the property was
approximately HK$917,000.
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OUTLOOK

The June 2020 Global Economic Prospects by the World Bank
describes both the near-term outlook for the impact of the
pandemic and the long-term damage it has caused to prospects
for growth. The baseline forecast envisions a 5.2% contraction
in global GDP in 2020, the deepest global recession in decades.
Advanced economies are expected to shrink 7.0% in 2020 while
emerging market economies will contract 2.5%, their first since
aggregate data became available in 1960. The World Trade
Organization predicts that global merchandise trade will decline by
a percentage in between 13% and 32% this year.

According to McKinsey & Company, despite pockets of reopening,
net consumer optimism has decreased and most consumers
continue to expect a long-lasting impact from COVID-19. As
incomes are declining, consumers habits are evolving, spending on
essentials and not discretionary categories. However, consumers
are shifting to online and digital solutions as well as less contact-
intensive channels to get goods and services. Consumer
acceptance of digital solutions for online shopping is growing
in countries with more developed e-commerce infrastructures,
including the USA, Germany, India, Japan, Korea and China.

The Group’s profitability and business growth are affected by the
current macroeconomic conditions. However, due to global supply
chain reshuffle as well as a massive shift in consumer behaviour,
there are growth prospects that the Group’s management team will
investigate thoroughly.

The Group will also keep growing its supply chain solution business
by consolidating its sourcing network and focusing on products
that are immune to consumer sentiment fluctuations. In times of
uncertainties, the Group focuses on products that are widely used
across different industries to reduce dependence on the well-
being of any industry. To mitigate the risks posed as a supply
chain solution provider, the Group will seek technology investment
opportunities that would enable the development of its own-brand
products and could get involved directly in the manufacturing phase
upstream and the distribution and retail downstream to secure a
larger share of the profit and leverage its extensive experience.

Our long-term strategy is the development of own-brand products
and global distribution network as well as investing in global
supply-chain, advertising business and other high growth potential
businesses.
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Online business strategy is vital in the digital transformation of
businesses across industries. One of the current core businesses
is intelligent advertising on which the Group will continue to
focus. Thanks to the technological platforms and the data it has
accumulated in the course of this business, the Group is exploring
opportunities to apply its know-how and technology capabilities
in other business areas. By providing Big Data coupled with Al
services to build a new generation of omnichannel retail platforms,
the Group could expand into industries as diverse as Insuretech or
online real estate platforms.

The Group will remain conservative and prudent towards its
profitability in the coming months. Nevertheless, we have taken
measures to mitigate the impact of an economic downturn and will
formulate necessary strategies and take further actions to enhance
the long-term profitability and sustainability of the Group.

In addition to the existing businesses, the Group is committed to
seeking other development opportunities and will acquire high
quality investment projects with good potential in order to enhance
its investment return and create value for its shareholders.

RISK FACTORS

Market Risk

The world is facing a crisis like no other and there is substantial
uncertainty about its impact on people’s lives and livelihoods. A rare
disaster, coronavirus pandemic, has resulted in a tragically large
number of fatalities. As countries implement necessary quarantines
and social distancing practices to contain the pandemic, the scale
of the collapse in activity that has followed is unprecedented.
According to the IMF, assuming the pandemic fades in the second
half of 2020 and that policy actions taken around the world are
effective in preventing widespread firm bankruptcies, extended job
losses and system-wide financial strains, global growth in 2021
could rebound to 5.8%.

However, recovery in 2021 would be only partial as this prediction
remains below the originally projected economic activity before the
virus hit.

Natural Risk

The ability to harvest Cistanche deserticola as well as the
growth of plants may be affected by unfavourable local weather
conditions and natural disasters. Weather conditions such as
floods, droughts, cyclones and windstorms and natural disasters
such as earthquakes, fire, disease, insect infestation and pests
are examples of such events. The occurrence of severe weather
conditions or natural disasters may diminish the supply of plants
available for harvesting, or otherwise impede the logging operations
or the growth of plants, which in turn may have an adverse effect
on the Group’s agricultural and forestry business.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020

BREXRBRBEHSTERNAF(CER
EHEE - AKEBINRLEBZ R
BEeES  AEEBFER TR0 ES -
BRERMFELRERNZEHBRERER
WEIE AEELSKEE  KEEXA
ask K B 01T 8 R IS EL A S A5 <R o BB IR R
FERATEERBNABEZLF —K
ERETEYR AEEAREREZE
% R IE EEETFS

AEBHRKBANBINRFRTRE
BOVREE - @E L - HAFI2 RENE SR
BICETENZE  IHEFHIELERKER
REE-—FSTHRAFNEENRARF
EEPARIICIES {2

BRIRBIAEMIN  REER N SHKEAMHE
R YRBBERBEREBEN Z2RER
REEE @ URFAERE@HERELR
BIEEE -

[ B (R 2=

™5 B

WRIFEERE —SRMARANEHE  HA

REEREAOZEFERANTEE

M o 2 R A AL R A S A TR S HA
EBT - BE BRI ZNRERERE N

?i@ﬁ%ﬁ%? HEA B BIRNE - BE 2 2R =2

FIFTRENEERBAHE - RIZEBIRE®

EeHBHNER BRRRENR_F_FF
THFZRFOER - 2R R B R TT
R AR EXRERE - RAWEER

PEGYBER RN —F2HKER
Al EE S E 5.8% ©

AT B —EERMHEE - TR
e B D5 B8 5 R 1018
EED -

RN

AEFNRKEN MEDERSIE X
TR T R AR & B AKX E Z%ﬁ; 7+ 8
FRHEK EZ; B, - [ & F R IR IR -
AR ~ N IRA ﬁ%ﬁ&iﬁ—ré
RNE - ﬁﬁ%%iﬂﬂkﬂié RAER]
BEEH AR 2 BRI BIKR
XX EEY AR BMAEH RS
BEERMEXBERTNZE -



Management Discussion and Analysis

TEEWL R D

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

Our business is subject to China laws and regulations, including
without limitation sale of goods and services, trade descriptions,
intellectual property, product safety, food safety, data privacy,
insurance, dutiable commodities, product eco-responsibility,
telecommunications and broadcasting, competition, listing
and disclosure, and corporate governance. Whilst we manage
compliance proactively and procure to obtain first-rate independent
legal services to ensure the highest standards in compliance,
any failure to comply with laws and regulations may result in legal
proceedings being filed against us and could expose us to civil
and/or criminal liability and sanctions. In any event, dealing with
complaints, investigations, or legal proceedings, regardless of
their outcome, could be costly and time-consuming and could
divert management attention. More importantly, the long-term
sustainability of our business is largely dependent on a steady and
balanced regulatory environment. Unanticipated changes in policies
or regulatory practices by the relevant authorities may require us to
change our business strategies and practices, and consequently,
could materially adversely affect our business.

The Board paid attention to the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with all significant legal and regulatory requirements
essential to its business operations. The Group would seek
professional advice from its external legal advisers and consultants
to ensure that transactions and business to be performed by the
Group are in compliance with applicable environmental policies,
laws and regulations. During the reporting period, as far as the
Company is aware, it has complied in all material respects with the
laws or regulations that have a significant impact on the Group’s
business and operation.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Results of operations

The Group recorded a turnover of approximately HK$441,778,000
for the year ended 31 March 2020, representing an increase
by approximately 92.04% as compared to the turnover from
continuing operations of approximately HK$230,039,000 for
last year. The overall increase in turnover was generated mainly
from the intelligent advertising business. Administrative and other
operating expenses increased to approximately HK$35,818,000
compared to approximately HK$14,267,000 of the previous
corresponding year, representing an increase of approximately 2.51
times, mainly attributable to, among others, the increase in staff
costs of approximately HK$7,931,000 as well as the expenditure
on research and development of approximately HK$11,125,000
for the intelligent advertising business. A loss from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of biological assets of approximately
HK$5,784,000 (as analysed in note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements) was recognised for the year. Loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2020 was
approximately HK$31,739,000, which was approximately 89.1%
higher than the loss attributable to owners of the Company incurred
for last year of HK$16,783,000.

Liquidity and financial resources

The Group’s operations and investments were financed principally
by cash generated from its business operations, borrowings and
shares issued. As at 31 March 2020, cash and bank deposits
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$13,285,000,
representing a decrease of 59% comparing with the cash and
bank deposits of approximately HK$32,405,000 as at 31 March
2019. The Group’s net current assets, which comprised properties
inventories, biological assets, trade and other receivables, cash
and bank deposits, trade and other payables, contract liabilities,
amounts due to directors, related companies, amounts due
to non-controlling interest, and convertible notes amounted to
approximately HK$108,211,000 as at 31 March 2020 (2019:
HK$111,003,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the ratio of long-
term debt to equity, was 76% as at 31 March 2020 (2019: 81%).
The decrease in gearing ratio as at 31 March 2020 as compared
to that of 31 March 2019 is mainly attributable to all outstanding
convertible note been connected to convertible shares during the
year ended 31 March 2020.

Capital structure
Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital are set
out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

Fund raising activity
The Group had no material fund raising activity during the year
ended 31 March 2020.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020

Bt % B B

REEREE
BHE-_ZE-_TF=A=+—HILFEE"
RNEBEE XL 441,778,000
230,039,000 7% JT 18 I #792.04% ° & ¥ 8
BEENMEEREEEESER - 1THK
Hg g M BREFRIEIL 14,267,000
TTIE HNZE 4935,818,0008 7 » B8 R AN
HWob1fE TERAN(HFABE)ET
B ZN 3% h1497,931,00058 T LA R B BB &
HETEH R N4 11,125,0008 7T °
EMEEZ AFEEZEH AL EKANE
E51E495,784,000/8 T (RN4R & B A R = I
F22f) ERAFERR HE-ZT =
TFEZAZ1+—BLFE  ARFHEEA
FEAEE5 184945 31,739,000/8 70 * B FFE
& 7 NN B A FEAG 518 16,783,000 7%
TCIE HN4989.1% °

REBHESRUMBER
AEBZEBEMNRETBHEEKLE -
BERERITRHELEZRSEBNES -
AEBR_ZE-_TF=A=+—HZHS
N R 1T 1E 40 /13,285,000 7T » A =
E-NFZA=Z+—BZ2BEE&METER
#732,405,000 7% JC IRk > 59% ° AREE B =
T-RE-A-+—HZRBEEFE (B
EYE BTE £WEE BURERKE
UK Re RIRITEFER - BAERR
REMEMNZKE - cHEE BRHESEK
FAENRIRIE  EREERESZRIER
AT RS 2218 ) #9/45108,211,000/8 7T (- &
— L5 1 111,003,000 7T) °

AEBEZEXRBBEEEDAEARIAA
BEUHERLER R ZF=ZF=1+—
BAE76% (ZZE—NF :81%) - RZT =
TF=ZA=1+—H BXrEBELER=-ZF
—hWhFZA=+—HB %] NHEEHRE
ER_TE-_EFE=ZA=+—BIUFEZMR
EREETBRREREASTBRERRMNE
R FTER -

B A4 E
KRB AREE 2 FBHNERE IR
RHTEEST -

EHED
WHE—T-TF=A=+—HILEE
452 3 A K A -



Management Discussion and Analysis

TEEWL R D

Treasury policies

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy to maintain cash
necessary to meet anticipated expenditures plus a reasonable
cushion for emergencies. Aimost all bank deposits are being kept
in Hong Kong dollars, or in the local currencies of the operating
subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange risk. Any
excess cash should be invested in liquid income-producing
instruments which should be managed by a qualified investment
manager or operated in accordance with advice provided by
a qualified investment manager or decision of an investment
committee, if formed, comprising at least one executive director,
at least one independent non-executive director and at least one
individual who must possess appropriate professional qualifications
and/or financial and investment expertise and experience.

Most of the trading transactions, assets and liabilities of the Group
were currently denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States
Dollars and Renminbi. The Group did not experience any material
difficulties on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuation
in currency exchange rates during the year under review. As at
31 March 2020, the Group had no foreign exchange contracts,
interest of currency swaps or other financial derivatives for hedging
purpose.

The Group is closely monitoring the movement of the foreign
currency rates and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2020, the Group had no outstanding capital
commitments (2019: Nil).

Charges on assets and contingent liabilities

As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have charges on assets
(2019: Nil) and did not have any material contingent liabilities (2019:
Nil).

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had approximately 109
employees (2019: 70 employees). The Group reviewed employees’
remuneration from time to time and salary adjustment was normally
made on an annual basis. Special adjustment based on length of
service and good performance could be made at any time when
warranted. In addition to salaries, the Group provided employees’
benefits such as medical insurance and provident fund. Share
options and bonuses were also available to employees of the
Group at the discretion of the directors and depending upon the
financial performance of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of the events after the reporting period are set out in note
47 to the consolidated financial statements.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The board of directors (the “Board”) of Great World Company
Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) has been committed to maintaining
a high standard of corporate governance within the Company and
its subsidiaries (the “Group”) in order to enhance the transparency
in disclosure of material information. The Board considers such
commitment is essential for internal management, financial
management and protection of shareholders’ interest and believes
that maintaining a high standard of corporate governance benefits
all shareholders, investors and the business of the Company as a
whole. The Company has applied the principles in and complied
with the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG
Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31
March 2020 except for the following deviations:

Code Provisions A.6.7 and E.1.2

Independent non-executive directors (“INEDs”) and other non-
executive directors should attend general meetings of the Company
to gain and develop a balanced understanding of the views of the
shareholders.

The chairman of the Board the (the “Chairman”) should attend the
AGM of the Company.

Although the Chairman, who was a non-executive director of the
Company, was unable to attend the AGM of the Company in 2019,
she had nominated the other member of the Board who attended
the AGM to chair the AGM and to act as the communication bridge
in response to any information required by the Shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings as
set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules as the code
of conduct regarding the Directors’ transactions in securities of
the Company. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each
of the Directors has confirmed that he/she has complied with the
required standard of dealings as set out in the adopted code of
conduct regarding Directors’ securities transaction throughout the
year ended 31 March 2020.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for reviewing, evaluating and finalising
the Company’s strategies and policies, annual budgets, business
plans and performance, and has full access to adequate, reliable
and timely information on the Group so as to enable them to make
a timely decision. The Board also has the collective responsibility
for leadership and control of, and for promoting the success of, the
Group by directing and supervising the Group’s affairs.

One of the roles of the Board is to protect and enhance
shareholders’ interests. The Board acts with integrity and due care
for the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. Leading
the Group in a responsible and effective manner, the Board adopts
terms of reference which detail its functions and responsibilities,
including, but not limited to, ensuring competent management,
approving objectives, strategies and business plans and monitoring
integrity in the Company’s conduct of affairs. The management
is obliged to supply the Board with adequate information in a
timely manner to enable the members to make informed decisions
and to discharge their duties and responsibilities. Each Director
has separate and independent access to the Group’s senior
management to acquire more information and to make further
enquiries if necessary.

The Board is also responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties of the Company. The duties of the Board on
corporate governance functions include developing and reviewing
the Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance,
reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management and
reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in this Corporate Governance Report.

The Board currently comprises three executive Directors, namely
Mr. Zhang Yangiang, Ms. Yang Wei and Mr. Gu Zhonghai, one
non-executive director, namely Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky (chairman of
the Board), and three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Chung Koon Yan, Ms. Zhao Yongmei and Dr. Yang Fuyu.

Each Director has different professional and industrial experience,
which enable them to make valuable and diversified advice and
guidance to the Group’s activities and development. Details of
the background and qualifications of the Directors are set out on
pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. The Company has received,
from each of the independent non- executive Directors, an annual
confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.
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Candidates to be nominated as directors of the Company are
experienced, high calibre individuals. Under the Articles of
Association of the Company, any Director appointed by the Board
shall hold office until the first annual general meeting after his/
her appointment and shall then be subject to re-election by the
shareholders. Apart from this, every Director is subject to retirement
by rotation in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Board held a total of
11 board meetings, inclusive of the quarterly regular meetings
according to the CG Code. The attendance of each Director is set
out on page 29.

CHAIRMAN

Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky was appointed as the Chairman of the
Board in 2007. The primary role of the Chairman is to provide
leadership for the Board and to ensure that the Board works
effectively in the discharge of its responsibilities.

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Company has not appointed a Chief Executive Officer and the
day-to-day management of the Group’s business is carried out by
the senior management and monitored by the executive Directors.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees in accordance with
the CG Code, namely the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee. These committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to seek independent professional advice when appropriate
and upon request. Details of these committees, including their
compositions, major responsibilities and functions, and work
performed during the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chung Koon Yan (chairman of
the Audit Committee), Ms. Zhao Yongmei and Dr. Yang Fuyu.
The Audit Committee meets with the Group’s senior management
regularly to review the effectiveness of the internal control systems
and the quarterly, interim and annual reports of the Group.
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The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee are:

M

(i)

(V)

(V)

making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor and any resignation and dismissal of that
auditor;

reviewing and monitoring the independence and objectivity of
the external auditor and the effectiveness of the audit process
in accordance with applicable standard;

liaising with the Board, senior management and the auditors
to monitor the integrity of financial statements, the quarterly,
interim and annual reports in particular on accounting policies
and practices and compliance with accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and other legal requirements in relation to
financial reporting;

reviewing the financial control, internal control and risk
management system to ensure the management of the
Company discharges its duty under an effective internal
control system;

reviewing the report and management letter submitted
by external auditor, and considering any findings of major
investigations of internal control matters as delegated by the
Board or on its own initiative and management’s response;
and

considering the engagement of external independent
consultant to provide internal audit function and to carry out
internal control review, which comprises, inter alia, enterprise
risk assessment, review the internal control system and
corporate governance compliance/practice of the Group.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the audit committee reviewed
the financial results, the accounting policies and practices adopted,
the reports of the external independent consultant on internal audit
as well as reviewing the risk management and internal control
procedures of the Group and 5 audit committee meetings were

held.

The attendance of each committee member is set out on

page 29.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee currently comprises one non-
executive Director, namely Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky, and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Zhao Yongmei
(chairman of the Remuneration Committee) and Dr. Yang Fuyu. It
reviews and determines the policy for the remuneration of directors
and senior management of the Group.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are:

U

(i)

(V)

i)

conducting regular review of the remuneration policy of
Group’s directors and senior management;

making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all remuneration of Directors and
senior management and on the establishment of a formal
and transparent procedure for developing such remuneration

policy;

making recommendation to the Board on remuneration
packages of the Directors;

determining remuneration packages of senior management
proposed by the Directors that will attract, motivate and retain
the competent staff;

reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration by
reference to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the
Board from time to time;

reviewing and approving compensation payable to executive
Directors and senior management in connection with any
loss or termination of their office or appointment or any
compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal
of director for misconduct; and

recommending the Board of the structure of long-term
incentive plans for executive Directors and certain senior
management.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, one remuneration
committee meeting was held to review the remuneration package
of the Directors and the senior management of the Company. The
attendance of each committee member is set out on page 20.
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EXERBRE

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises one executive Director,
namely Mr. Zhang Yangiang (chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive Directors, namely
Ms. Zhao Yongmei and Dr. Yang Fuyu.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are:

(@)

reviewing the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least
annually and making recommendations on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy;

identifying and nominating for approval of the Board suitably
qualified candidates as additional Directors or to fill Board
vacancies as they arise;

making recommendations to the Board with respect to the
re-election by shareholders of any Director under the relevant
provisions in the Company’s articles of association;

assessing the independence of the candidates in the case
of appointment and re-appointment of independent non-
executive Directors having regard to relevant guidelines or
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules in place from time to
time; and

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors on an annual basis having regard to relevant
guidelines or requirements of the GEM Listing Rules in place
from time to time.
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During the year ended 31 March 2020, one meeting was held by
the Nomination Committee to review the composition of the Board.
The attendance of each committee member is set out on page 29.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
the approach to achieve diversity on the Board. With a view to
achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. In designing the Board’s composition,
Board diversity has been considered from a number of aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. All Board appointments will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
Upon the review of the Board’s composition taking into account
the diversity policy, the Nomination Committee considers that the
Board has maintained an appropriate mix and balance of age,
ethnicity, skills, knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the business requirements of the Company. The
Nomination Committee will review the board diversity policy to
ensure its effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.

The Company adopted a nomination policy which sets out
the selection criteria in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate as Director and procedure of appointing and re-
appointing a Director. In assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate, the Nomination Committee would consider factors
including but not limited to academic background, qualifications,
relevant experiences in the industry, character and integrity of the
candidate, whether the candidate can contribute to the diversity of
the Board and the candidate’s commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest. Suitable candidate can be nominated
by any Director for the Nomination Committee’s consideration.
The Nomination Committee should evaluate the personal profile
of the candidate based on the selection criteria as set out in the
nomination policy and undertake adequate due diligence in respect
of each proposed candidate. After comprehensive assessment,
the Nomination Committee will then make recommendation to
the Board for approval. The Nomination Committee will review the
nomination policy and assess its effectiveness on a regular basis or
as required.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020

HE T -_ZHF=-ZA=+—HItFE &
HLZESBRIT-AREH  URiTESE
ZKEBHE BLZBEEKE 2 HFREE
RE29H -

ARBRREFEXNBLZT/IRE  EF
HIEBEREFEKB LTI TTE - RE
HAIRENMGENERE  ARARESEE
BEEHHaZ Tt AXIHHEERREAR
RAFEEROBBITIE - NRFAEES
REAKE  CRBRZTAREEEES
REZ it BEETRRER - Fie -
XIERBEER Tk FERLR Rk
HBLERGFER - EFEMEREHHIA
AAMES SRA - XHEZBAERGIAZ
BEHGTTERESFEXEZ TN
mE - BEHEFTSHEK (BEBEZTILK
KRR REZEERAREFTSHEFE
Tk - BEe - MFE BRLRETTERAT
HRFAEMAA L FE  FEARFNE
BHEX - REZESHEHNIRFLEMN
EE2ZTUCHER - REREBIE -

ARBERH—BRBBEK - EPHIF
EEFERREARTAENRESRE
IRRERBBESNIERF - FHEEHRR
BANBBENR REZESHEE (B
FBETRR)BESS BF HETE
BB REANRRULRE  REARSD
HEZSZTCFLER RIREALRA
PR MM m A ER R o (A E
ENREABREAMREREZESEE -
REZEERENRERRRMHE IS
BEFEREANBAGELH S =23
REAETRBAS - REFER - BA
ZESHERBRAEZTSRLEREZZN
HE - REZ B K EHNIRFLEHN
RABRILFFEEBRIE -



Corporate Governance Report
TEERME

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING(S)
AND BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETING(S)

The following table shows the attendance of Directors at general
meeting(s) and meeting(s) of the Board and Board Committees
during the year ended 31 March 2020:

BZZER

EEHERRAE ESERZEEET
+_

TRINREE

—ET-TF=A=

—_=

H
LTFEEEHERRRE EFSRESF

FEBZIER

Number of meeting (s) attended/held

HEER BTEENY
Meeting(s) of Meeting(s) of Meeting(s) of
General Board Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Committee Committee Committee
EExg® ENZEE FMZEe REZEg
RRAE - f -f Ef
Executive Directors: HITEE -
Mr. Zhang Yangiang RABRTAE 11 1111 - - il
Ms. Yang Wei Bt 11 1111 - - -
Mr. Gu Zhonghai BEREEE 17 7/7 - - -
Non-executive Director: FHTEE -
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky REBL+ - 5/11 - 2/3 -
Independent Non-executive BUHPTEE -
Directors:
Mr. Chung Koon Yan EERLE 11 1111 5/5 - -
Ms. Zhao Yongmei HKg LT 11 1111 5/5 3/3 il
Dr. Yang Fuyu BEREL 11 11/11 5/5 3/3 1/1
DELEGATION BY THE BOARD ExgoRE

The Board is responsible for determining the overall strategy and
corporate development and ensuring the business operations
are properly monitored. The Board reserves the right to decide
all policy matters of the Group and material transactions. The
Board delegates the day-to-day operations to senior staff who are
responsible for different aspects of the operations of the Group.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in
respect of legal action against the Directors in compliance with the
CG Code. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

Training and Support for Directors

Each newly appointed Director shall receive induction on the first
occasion of his/her appointment, so as to ensure that he/she
has appropriate understanding of the business and operations
of the Company. The Company will also arrange and provide
support for suitable training, placing an appropriate emphasis on
the roles, functions and duties of its Directors. All Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. A form has been
provided to each of the Directors to assist them to record training
information for reporting to the Company as confirmation of training
undertaken. The training information indicate that the Directors
have received training and/or materials on corporate governance
and other relevant topics.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

The Board is responsible to ensure the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group in accordance with
the relevant statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards and to ensure the published consolidated financial
statements should be issued in a timely manner and can provide
a true and fair view of the business and financial information of
the Group. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Board has adopted Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinances
that are relevant to its operations.

The Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, the Board has
prepared the consolidated financial statements on a going concern
basis.

The responsibilities of the external auditors on financial reporting
are set out in the Independent Auditors’ Report on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020.

The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control system for the purpose of compliance with
the provision of the CG Code with an aim to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatements, errors,
losses or fraud, and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure
in achieving the Group’s business objectives.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Remuneration paid and payable to the auditors of the Company in
respect of their services for the year ended 31 March 2020 are as
follows:

FriR AR

Services rendered

ZHURTS

Audit services
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

Internal control is fundamental to the Group’s daily operations.
Internal control is useful to Directors, senior management and other
key personnel who are accountable for control in the Group as well
as acting as a tool in providing Directors and senior management
with information of sufficient quality to make business decisions
and meet their regulatory obligations.

In this connection, Internal Control Policy and Procedures
have been formulated and implemented within the Group
with the primary objective of providing general guidance and
recommendations on a basic framework of internal control and risk
management. The key objectives of the internal control include:

—  Safeguarding assets

—  Ensuring completeness, accuracy and validity of financial
records and reports

—  Promoting adherence to policies, procedures, regulations and

laws

Promoting effectiveness and efficiency of operations

The Internal Control Policy and Procedures cover, amongst others,
the following material activities — finance, operation and compliance:

Finance

Effective financial control is essential in identifying and managing
liabilities to ensure that the Group is not unnecessarily exposed
to avoidable financial risks as well as safeguarding of assets from
inappropriate use or loss, including the prevention and detention
of fraud and errors. A set of measures has been formulated and
implemented to tighten the control on cash flow. All payments
should be properly checked and approved. Proper accounting
and financial records shall be maintained in supporting financial
budgets, periodic management accounts and reports.

Operation

With regard to the Group’s businesses, different sets of principles
and procedures have been set up for management teams of
different operations to follow. Through the implementation of those
principles and procedures, the operation process became more
accountable, transparent and efficient.

Compliance

The Company has fully complied with the requirements of the GEM
Listing Rules. Financial reports, announcements and circulars have
been prepared and published in accordance with the requirements
of the GEM Listing Rules.
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During the year, the Company engaged an external independent
consultant with professional staff in possession of relevant
expertise (the “Independent Professional Firm”) to perform internal
audit function and to carry out an internal control review, which
comprised, inter alia, enterprise risk assessment and review of the
internal control system of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls. The review plan was approved by the
Audit Committee and the Board. Based on the risk assessment
and the review of the internal control system of the Group
conducted by the Independent Professional Firm for the year, no
significant risk and control deficiency was identified. The relevant
assessment and review reports have been considered by the
Audit Committee and the Board for assessing the effectiveness
of the Risk Management and Internal Control Systems. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of
the Accounting Function and the internal audit function performed
by the Independent Professional Firm. The Board, through the
reviews made by the Independent Professional Firm and the Audit
Committee, concluded that the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems are effective and adequate for the Group as a
whole.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
the Company may declare and pay dividends to the shareholders
of the Company. The recommendation of the payment of any
dividend is subject to the absolute discretion of the Board, and any
declaration of final dividend will be subject to the approval of the
shareholders of the Company.

Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and
the articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether
to propose a dividend payout, the Board will take into account,
among other things, the Group’s actual and expected financial
performance, expected working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans, the retained
earnings, distributable reserves and liquidity position of the Group,
the general economic conditions and any other factors that the
Board deems relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and

there is no assurance that dividends will be paid in any particular
amount for any given period.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting and to put forward proposals at Shareholders’
meeting

Any one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of
the requisition not less than one-twentieth of the paid up capital
of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of
the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board by mail at Room 1202, 12/F., Great Eagle Centre, 23
Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong, to require an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of
any business specified in such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting on
a date not more than 28 days after the date on which the notice
convening the meeting is given, the requisitionist(s) him/herself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

Procedures by which enquiries may be put to the Board
Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
by addressing them to the company secretary of the Company
by mail at Room 1202, 12/F., Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The company secretary of the
Company is responsible for forwarding communications relating to
matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to the Board and
communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions and inquiries, to the relevant executive officer of the
Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Communication with Shareholders

The Company believes in regular and timely communication with
shareholders as part of its efforts to help shareholders understand
its business better and the way the Company operates. To promote
effective communication with the public at large, the Company
maintains a website (www.gwchl.com) on which comprehensive
information about the Company’s major businesses, financial
information and announcements, annual, quarterly and interim
reports and shareholders circulars are being made available.

The Board is endeavour to maintain an on-going dialogue with
shareholders. The chairman of the Board and members of the
Board Committees will attend the annual general meeting to
answer questions.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This is the environmental, social and governance (the “ESG”) report
for Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We”). This report is designed
to allow the shareholders, investors (including potential investors)
of the Company and the public to have a more comprehensive
and profound understanding of the work done on the ESG issues
of the Group for its financial year ended 31 March 2020. This
report elaborates the philosophy and practice in respect of social
responsibility and the achievements it has made in economic,
environment and social aspects. The Group primarily adopts the
principles and basis of Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) set out in Appendix 20 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) as
its standards, with an aim to establish a sound environmental,
social and governance structure. For information on the Group’s
corporate governance, please refer to the “Corporate Governance
Report”.

The management of the Group is responsible for monitoring and
managing ESG-related risks and the effectiveness of the ESG
management system. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the
Group has complied with the “comply and explain” provisions set
out in the ESG Guide.

The board of directors of the Group believes that a sound
environmental, social and governance structure is vital for continued
sustainability and development of the Group’s activities. Therefore,
the Group understands the importance of gender equality and
diversity both in implementing the policy and operating business.
Details of the gender and age composition, and comparative
remuneration in each level of position as at 31 March 2020 can be
categorised as follows:
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Employment

By Gender
Female
Male

By age group
Below 30

30 to 50

Over 50

By region
Hong Kong
Mainland

By employment contract and gender
Permanent (female)

Permanent (male)

Temporary/fixed term (female)
Temporary/fixed term (male)

By employment contract and region
Permanent (Hong Kong)
Permanent (mainland china)

By employment type and gender
Full-time (female)

Full-time (male)

Part-time (female)

Part-time (male)

Per employee category
Senior

Middle-level
Supervisory-level
General

Diversity

Percentage of employees by gender

Per employee category
Senior

Middle-level
Supervisory-level
General

Percentage of employees by age group

Per employee category
Senior

Middle-level
Supervisory-level
General
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The summary of material ESG issues, which are covered in this
report, are listed below:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS
A1. Emissions

The Group is principally engaged in intelligent advertising
and railroad media business, cultivation and sales of
agricultural and forestry products business, trading (supply
chain) business and property business and has been
persistent in conducting its business in an environmentally
responsible manner and takes measures to reduce
the possible impact on the environment arising from
its production and operating activities. We will closely
monitor our greenhouse gas emissions and energy
consumption and will stay abreast of environment related
regulatory developments in the respective areas where
the Group operates.

In terms of emissions, the Group’s current business did
not generate significant emissions, but the monitoring of
emissions is still indispensable. Therefore, we will regularly
arrange for the testing of air emissions.

Air Pollutant Emissions

The pollutants listed in the standard include particulate
matter, sulfur oxides and nitrogen oxides. In addition, the
cars we operate will also generate trace amounts of air
emissions.

Types of emissions

235 €7 k Ficl

Nitrogen oxides
AEty

Sulfur oxides
ety
Particulates matter

R E
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Amount (g) Amount (g)
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Greenhouse Gas Emissions

The main sources of the Group’s greenhouse gas (“GHG”)
emissions and removals were from Scope 1 (direct
emission from the mobile combustion sources) and
Scope 2 (“energy indirect” emission from the acquired
electricity) and Scope 3 (other indirect emissions):

1 April 2019 - 31 March 2020

Scope of Greenhouse Gas
Emissions/Removals

BERBHER HREE

Scope 1
#E1

Direct Emission
BB

GHG Deduction

Nl

mE R R

Scope 2
#E2
Indirect Emission

) % kIR

Scope 3
#E3
Other Indirect Emission

H Al % B X

Total
HEt

Emission/
Removal Sources

BERL R BR SRR

Combustion of fuel in mobile
sources

BB RIAE R

Removals from planted trees

EREDEAGS

Purchased electricity

Paper waste disposed at
landfills
BEEIHERNER

Travelling
=ik

BERBHE
AEBELREREB(DEERE])
BERR BRI BR Y E B RO A 8
(BBMEREZHIN #EE2
(BEEOWTRERME ] 00
Ko B 3 (EL Al R BED) -

“E-NFHNA-HBHE=-B-%

F=ZA=+—8H
Emission/Removal Intensity
in tonnes of CO, (per employee)
BB R RE
(Mg = & {bfi) (BEEES)
16.89 0.15 tonnes CO,
0.15W8 — &1L Hix
(4,606.16) (42.26) tonnes CO,

(42.26) W8 — & {tfix

33.15 0.30 tonnes CO,

0.30M8 — &Ltk

0.16  0.0015 tonnes CO,

0.0015 Mg — & (b fix

76.47 0.70 tonnes CO,
0.70W — & b Bk
(4,479.49) (41.10) tonnes CO,

(41.10) W8 — &b Hix
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RIE - HERERBRS
1 April 2018 - 31 March 2019

Scope of Greenhouse Gas Emission/
Emissions/Removals Removal Sources

BERBHER RREE BB ORBRIR

Scope 1

#E1

Direct Emission Combustion of fuel in mobile
sources

HEHN B IRBREL Y R B

GHG Deduction Removals from planted trees

= RS R EEEINEACS

Scope 2

#E2

Indirect Emission Purchased electricity

fE 2 BE AR BEE

Scope 3

#E3

Other Indirect Emission Paper waste disposed at
landfills

H o 2 BERR BEEIHERNER

Travelling
Z IR
Total
et
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F=ZA=+-—

Emission/Removal
in tonnes of CO,
2

(Mg =S {b )

13.49

(5,066.16)

4.44

0.16

4.44

(5,043.18)

H
Intensity
(per employee)
RE
(BEES)

0.25 tonnes CO,
0.25 Mg — & {Lfik

(92.11) tonnes CO,
(92.11) W8 — &b Ak

0.08 tonnes CO,
0.08 Mg — & {L ik

0.003 tonnes CO,
0.003 W& — &1L fi%

0.08 tonnes CO,
0.08 Mg — (L5

(91.69) tonnes CO,
(91.69) W8 — &btk
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Energy Saving and Emission Reduction

The Group is committed to mitigating, through enhancing
efficiency and implementing environmental initiatives,
its indirect, negative impact on the environment from
operation. Overall, the Group is continually seeking new
ways to operate in a manner that is as environmentally
considerate as possible. The Group has therefore
implemented the following measures to minimize the use
of energy:

== #ﬁm

— Increasing the application of natural light;

—  During the past year, the Company took additional
action to reduce the impact of its operation on
the environment. Energy-efficient LED light tubes
were installed in the Group office in order to reduce
energy consumption;

— Operating a high-efficiency motor unit when
replacing the machine;

— Turning off lights and unnecessary energy-
consuming devices when employees leave to reduce
energy;

— Maintaining the temperature of the air-conditioner
at a suitable level, cleaning the air-conditioner and
ventilation equipment regularly to conserve power;

—  Vigorously creating “paperless” office by encouraging
the use of electronic documents, double-sided
printing and recycling paper to reduce paper printing
and consumption; and

- Promoting the use of telephone or video
conferencing system for Directors’ and employees’
communication to decrease the frequency of
business trips.

Hazardous Waste and Non-hazardous Waste

The Group did not generate any hazardous waste during
the reporting year. Non-hazardous waste from the
Group’s operation was mainly office paper.

The total amount of non-hazardous waste generated by
the Group during the reporting year was approximately
0.0344 tonnes, with an intensity of approximately 0.0003
tonnes per employee.

During the year, there was also no incident of non-
compliance with local relevant environmental laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the Group
relating to air and greenhouse gas, emissions, discharge
into water and land, and generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous waste.

B BE R HE

REBRNBEBREALEREHR
IRIRFE Emliﬂﬁiiw“”mﬁﬁiﬁﬁ’ﬁ'ﬂﬁ
BETE -EEMS  AEBIE
T = I%ﬁﬁxﬁ%i—fﬁﬁﬁéﬁa
RO FAEE - At ARELD
BA TREAZE R ERD

£

— MAERBEARN:

— RBE—F  RNQRKERE
SNERERE & B IRIEA R
2o fElEDBE LR ENAK
;@?Jﬁ/—\ﬁ LUR A BE TR JE
£

— BRHSEIRAEMERA

- EEEMRAREEAEENT
B EVRERERR IR AR BERE |

- #= JmJ*i’HTE L7}<
:‘: IE,Hﬂ/EJﬁE pEEpE)

1% ABIHIE D)

HF

- RNEEIMEE&EIBRAE
SEERE TR BEIT
E Ko 18 BR N P 4 3R DA ORE 4
SRATENROERE - I

- REBEZLREEFHAEHAN
RBERRERETERE R
D ZEER o

BEEERYREZERY

RB|EFE  AEEWEELSE
MBEEREY AEEZEEL
MEEEENIESH MK -

RBEFE  AEEEANESE
REE Y4B S %) /50.0344 1 - B8
BEZEE £0.0003 1 o

FAEZRIMBEERBYR
mmim;am ETAENE
SEERYIE TEZELEERE
WHBRRERLERBHARE
BEEATENEMT-

HRERBERLFR —T—N-—FT_TFEFR
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To encourage effective utilization of resources,
the Group’s management will review and develop
management policy regarding the use of energy and
resources, which manages consumption of chemical
pesticide, fertilizer, electricity, water and office paper.

Energy Consumption

The energy used in the Group’s business operations is
mainly consumption of purchased electricity. The Group
consumed a total of 27,888 kWh with an intensity of
507 kWh per employee during the reporting year.

Water Consumption

For the administrative office, the Group consumes water
in the office from a centralized water and sanitation
system implemented in the building. The cost of water
consumption of the Group is inclusive in the monthly
rent, and the building management does not individually
measure the water consumption of each tenant and
hence no relevant data can be collected. In spite of this,
we strive to reduce water consumption in daily operation
by encouraging employees to turn taps off tightly to
prevent dripping of water and giving priority to effective
water-saving products.

To enhance the efficiency of water consumption and
reduce waste water, the Group adopted a drip irrigation
system, which help to achieve water conservation by
reducing evaporation and deep drainage. Apart from
using the purchased water, we also use rain water in the
planting operation.

There is no records in consumption of water in forestry
planting during the reporting year, and no issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Nevertheless, the
Group reminds employees to practice water conservation
in daily operations.

Packaging Materials
The Group’s business operations did not involve any
packaging materials during the reporting year.
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A2. Use of Resources

A2. BREM
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A3.

Chemical pesticide and fertilizer

1 April 2019 - 31 March 2020
—E-NEFEWA—-BZE
—®-2%=A=+-H

Pesticide
B
Fertilizer

fehe

1 April 2018 - 31 March 2019
—E-N\FHWBE—HZE
—E-hF=A=+-8

Pesticide
B
Fertilizer

{ERE

The pesticide used in planting forest is to prevent pests of
diseases and the fertilizer used is to stabilize the growth
of the tree in some areas of the land which is lack of
nutrition.

The use of pesticide and fertilizer was thoughtful
considered and determined by relevant expert. It will
not bring significant effect to the environment and is in
compliance of the local regulations and law.

Environment and natural resources

The Group constantly assesses and monitors the
environmental risks in its daily operation, and formulates
corresponding mitigation measures promptly when
discovering any potential risk to the environment, so as
to ensure such risk can be controlled and reduced to
an acceptable level. The Group is committed to making
efficient use of natural resources and reducing waste.

To protect the natural environment of the forest, the
Group has perform the following:

Regularly inspection and evaluation

The Group conducts regular inspection on unauthorized
activities or illegal logging, fire hazard, pest or diseases,
etc.. Any issues observed would be handled at the forest
and remediation or rectification works will be done timely.

A3.

tEEERIE
Amount (g) Intensity
B (=) RE
4,118.44 0.0025g per tree
BR%0.002552
8,130,000 5.00g per tree
HR%5.0052
Amount (g) Intensity
E(®) BnE
6988.46 0.004g per tree
F1R10.004 52
9,273,800 3.80g per tree
H1ERI3.8057%

TEHEMPT A R B2 BT LRk
T ERCERABELHER
VR DB AR R

BRERCENERTIEBERAE
BABRRE  TEHRTEK
ERFE BNABMEARKE
e

BRERBRER
AEERERARLEPHEN G
REFRERAR  ERRAHRE
B (A 7 1 1 B B % s 1) TE AR
RRRRIE NG - (I REIRA B AR AL
BIATE S I [ E R ZZAKCE o K
SEFNRBRERBEARABERK
WAIRE o

RRERMNBERIRE - AEE
BEETUATERRE:

FERBRER L

AEETEHRERERENLD
HIPEEIAR Y KK BREIRE
%o —BEMMABRTMARE
715 Ko 5 B T NP #E 7T RO AL IE
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Government involvement

The Government has standard measures and regular
engagement on the Group’s forest in terms of fire
prevention and pest control practices. The Group
cooperated with local government to perform pest control
spray and fire prevention measures.

Positive effect of our business to the environment

In Xinjiang, desertification issue made destruction to the
environment. Our business, planting forest, is an effective
way to prevent desertification and sandstorm, and bring
significant benefit to the environment.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
B1. Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Group. The
Group aims to provide employees with respectful and fair
working environment through maintaining a sound system
of human resources management covering the various
aspects such recruitment and remuneration.

The recruitment and promotion of the Group are fair and
open for all employees, and are not affected by age, sex,
physical or mental health status, marital status, family
status, race, skin colour, nationality, religion, political
affiliation and sexual orientation and other factors. In
order to provide a good and fair working environment and
safeguard the well-being of the employees, the Group
seriously considers all those valuable opinions from the
employees for enhancing workplace productivity and
harmony.

The Group offers competitive remuneration, promotional
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to
attract and retain talents. Remuneration packages are
reviewed periodically based on the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and market condition. The
Group aims to reward and motivate the contribution and
performance of employees and assist them in their career
development and promotion within the Group.

The Group strictly complies with applicable laws and
regulations in the localities of its operation, and the
relevant administrative rules and measures are strictly
enforced. These rules and regulations specify the
requirements relating to employment, labor relations,
employees’ remuneration, social insurances, housing
fund, mandatory provident fund and welfare to protect
the rights of employees.
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B2. Health and Safety B2. BEREZE

The Group is committed to protecting the health and
safety of the employees and the community, we require
employees to comply with all relevant occupational health
and safety regulations, and do our utmost to provide
them with safe and healthy working environment.

The Company strives to provide a positive and inclusive
working environment for our staff, and to ensure that
our staff members enjoy a healthy-work life balance.
To promote good health, the Company enhanced staff
medical benefits during the year under review.

Risk management is an important part of ensuring
occupational safety. We can identify and assess
occupational health and safety risks through identification
of the source of danger, assessment of identified risks,
and appropriate risk control measures. If there are
significant risks in the operation of the Group, we will
definitely eliminate or reduce the risks with maximum
effort, do our best to reduce personal hazards and
property losses, and maximize the value of the Company
by minimizing the cost of risks.

In order to avoid accidents and ensure that all employees
work in a safe manner, we implement established policies
and guidelines for different working conditions and needs
which stipulates clearly the safety procedures as well as
emergency response plans. Those established policies
and guidelines will be reviewed periodically and further
improved to better protect our employees. At the same
time, first aid kit is available at each workplace to ensure
that any employee who is injured or ill at work can receive
immediate attention.

The management department of the Group’s office has
also conducted a comprehensive fire drill and emergency
drill regularly. Through actual drills, employees’ ability to
escape and save themselves at the scene of the fire was
enhanced, employees’ use of fire-extinguishing tools was
improved, and everything was done to reduce human
and property losses.
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B3.

The Group does acknowledge the potential health issues
that exist in office settings. Hence we do take measures
to preserve our talents from exposure to occupational
diseases or injuries, no matter severe or minor. The
Group motivates our staff to achieve work-life balance.
The Group has offered various facilities in the office to
address the health and safety needs of our employees,
encompassing:

— installing air purifiers in areas where are relatively
crowded such as conference and meeting rooms;

— ensuring ample space between workstations and
clean and tidy common space such as corridors and

pantry;

— maintaining sufficient indoor ventilation, especially
under COVID-19 Pandemic and lighting system in
the offices; and

—  offering adjustable chairs and monitor screens for
eye protection at each individual workstation.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there was no breach
of relevant laws and regulations relating to employee’s
health and safety.

Development and Training

Talent development is an important part of our human
resource strategy. The Group understands that the
employees’ knowledge and skills are essential to
the Group’s operation and business growth, good
development plan lays a good foundation for the
employees to face business challenge in the future, it also
helps them to grasp promotion opportunities, fulfill their
career aspiration.

The Group provides the employees with effective training
and develop a clear promotion ladder, ensuring that the
employees have the required skills. The Group conducts
performance evaluation annually, and based on the
assessment result to provide the staff with appropriate
training, and offer job development and promotion
opportunities for outstanding employees.
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B4.

B5.

The Group encourages employees to attend
comprehensive professional training to deliver top
services to our customers. The newly hired employees
are required to attend Employee Orientation to familiarize
with the Group’s mission, vision, core value and business
goals.

Details of competencies are kept on each employee’
personnel files. Regular performance appraisal will be
carried out to ensure the requirements of employees are
met.

Labor Standards

The Group’s employment policies in regard to prohibiting
child and forced labour are implemented to respond
to the local employment laws and regulations. The
recruitment process of the Group is strictly abided by the
guidelines of the Human Resource Department. No child
nor forced labor in the Company’s operation during the
reporting year.

Prior to confirmation of employment, the Group’s human
resources department will require job applicants to
provide a valid identity documents to verify that the
applicants are lawfully employable, and ensure full
compliance of relevant laws and regulations that prohibit
child and forced labour. Furthermore, staff undergoing
unfair treatment can report to the Group through
whistleblowing policy.

The Group has no tolerance for the use of forced
labour or child labour in our business operations. The
Group enters into employment contract with each of
its employees in accordance with the relevant laws and
regulations in the localities of its operation.

Supply Chain Management

The Group attaches importance to developing and
maintaining long-term relationships with our suppliers,
looking forward to forming long-term partnerships with
them. We take a fair and open principle on procurement
of materials and services. We support and encourage
the suppliers to promote efficient use of resources and
environmental protection and fulfill corporate social
responsibility. The Group also conducts follow-up
assessment on the suppliers, and, if necessary, reviews
them through a third-party organization.

B4.
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B6.

The Group could not achieve sustainable development
without working together with its suppliers. The Group
has formulated supplier assessment systems and
conducted regular assessments of the environmental
and social performance of suppliers. These systems
guarantee the quality of raw material and equipment
used in the production of the Group and strengthens
the Group’s relationship with suppliers so as to create
a beneficial cooperation together. On-site evaluations
would be conducted regularly by the Group to assess
the performance of social responsibilities of suppliers. For
instance, if suppliers have violations of labor regulations,
including employment of child labor, forced labor, etc.,
the Group would immediately terminate the cooperation
with them.

During the year, the Group was not aware that any key
suppliers had any significant actual or potential negative
impact on business ethics, environmental protection,
human rights and labour practices nor any of them had
any non-compliance incidents.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to providing customers with
high-quality products and services and settling customer
complaints effectively, continuously improving service
level and ensuring customer satisfaction.

The Group attaches great importance to corporate
reputation to ensure good product and service quality
through internal control and avoid leakage of personal
data of customers. We have established a sales
management system to monitor the sales process. By
identifying customers’ requirements on our products and
services, we negotiate with them on prices, quantity,
quality and delivery schedule prior to entering into sales
contracts. Subsequently, we will follow up the delivery
process to ensure that our products fulfill the terms under
the sales contracts. We will collect customers’ feedback
through various communication channels before, during
and after the delivery processes. Customers’ feedback is
used as the benchmark to evaluate our quality assurance
system and we will take rectification measures when
needed.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020

B6.

AEEERARFEERENRE
HEBOHRB N - REEHIET
HERTERR  THEHER
HEIRE AL @ RIETTHE - —
77 T e OR P I A 5 ) AR E O SR A
BREENEE  5—JTE N
AEBEARFNOBRE  KFAZ
ERFNEEAE - AEETTE
EHZBERSA  FHAHER
Mt EEERNE - fl - FHE
HEPFEERAETL mE8T
FERBHERNAR - AEE
5 SZ BME 1 BRI F A 1 o

FAAEELTANEBEMNEE
HERYHEER BRFRE .
AERS TEMEREMNERE
R EERAETE  MERRIT
(CRS=PE S

EmEE
AEEAGERATFPIREEEER
HARH - AREEEPIRG
BRERB KT REREFPWE
o

AEETHEREXREE  EH
BB BB R RE MRS (2
g BeEPMEABERINE -
BMEGEHEEEHE - A&
BHEBE - RMBREFPHE
m A R EK - WiRIL TP
BAER BE EERIMH
RI& - HREFTHEAK - Lz
B IRERZN B - BEREMIA
EmTaHEAKE THER -
EEMIMAT - ZBEP RX
& BMPeREFPERZER
BRIFER BETPRE X
REFERMPEERERRNE
& MERMEN T 2RI LE
R



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RIE - g RERREG

B7.

The Group strictly abides by the regulation regarding the
collection, processing and use of the information collected
from our customers and business partners. When signing
a contract with a customer or a business partners, a
term on confidentiality of their information will be included
to avoid disclosure of their information. Employees are
obligated to retain in confidence any information obtained
in connection with their employment, including but not
limited to trade secrets, client information, supplier
information and other proprietary information.

The Group has been in compliance with relevant laws
and regulations which had a material impact on our
business operation and has not been assessed any fines
or penalties with regard to product safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to our products for
the year ended 31 March 2020.

Anti-Corruption

The Group advocates a high standard of business
integrity throughout its operations and has no tolerance
of corruption or bribery in any form. The Group strictly
adheres to the laws and regulations in regard to anti-
corruption and bribery in all locations where the Group is
conducting business.

The Group has complied with the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Chapter 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the Anti-Money Laundering and Counter-Terrorist
Financing (Financial Institutions) Ordinance (Chapter 615
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and other relevant laws in
regions in which the Group invests.

All directors, management and employees of the
Group are required to abide by the Group’s regulations.
We encourage the reporting of suspected business
irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for
this purpose.

The Group is committed to adhering the highest ethical
standards. During the reporting year, the Group was not
involved in any litigation regarding corruption, bribery,
fraud or money-laundering. The Group will continue to
comply with the relevant laws and regulations both in
Hong Kong and China.

The Group was not aware of any legal actions against
it for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust or monopoly
practice during the year.
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The Group recognizes the importance of fulfilling
corporate social responsibilities. We will continue to seek
possible ways of promoting the awareness of community
care and helping each other through coordinating various
activities which are suitable to our identity and cater to
the needs from the community. We believe that these
activities, such as donation, voluntary work, mentorship
programs, will help create a better and stronger
relationship between the Group and the community,
thereby contributing to our sustainable development.

In order to enable sustainable development of the Group,
it is inseparable from the support of the community
and the people. As a responsible Group, we continue
to practice public welfare, actively participate in various
charitable and social charities, and care for disadvantaged
communities.

The Group strives to minimize potential negative social
impacts while promoting opportunities and benefits for
host communities. Our community responsibility policies
include:

—  Continually improving community development and
community investment programs through monitoring,
measuring and managing our social and economic
impacts;

—  Developing programs that ensure the sustainable
welfare of communities;

— Upholding and promoting the human rights of our
employees and contractors, our suppliers, and the
communities in which we operate;

— Recognizing and respecting indigenous people’s
culture, heritage and traditional rights and supporting
the identification, recording, management and
protection of indigenous cultural heritage;

—  Building and maintaining stakeholder relationships
with people who are directly affected or interested in
our operations; and

—  Managing the risk of public health threats amongst
employees, contractors and local communities.
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Report of the Directors

ESEEHRE

The directors of Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the
“Company”) submit their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2020.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND GEOGRAPHICAL ANALYSIS
OF OPERATIONS

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by operating
segment is set out in note 7 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A review of the Group’s performance, business activities and
development is included in the Chairman’s Statement on pages 4
to 5 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 8 to
12 of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set
out in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss on page 67.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the
year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 46 to the consolidated financial
statements and in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in
Equity on page 72 respectively.

The Company has no balance of distributable reserves available for
distribution to the owners of the Company as at 31 March 2020
(2019: Nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

ESEEHE

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in investment property of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
Results, assets and liabilities of the Group for each of the last five
financial years are summarised on page 191.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company are
set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SHARES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or
sold any of its shares during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association and there is no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
the Company has maintained a sufficient public float of not less
than 25% of the Company'’s total issued shares as required under
the GEM Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

ESEEHRE

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S PLACING BEXAQNABREF RGP ZABRERHE

OF NEW SHARES
Placing of 65,000,000 new shares on 2 July 2015

R=-F—-H%F+ A= HE 65,000,000 &
R 5

Net proceeds from the Company’s placing of 65,000,000 new RHIRESME KEMBEBRZE Ao
shares at the placing price of HK$0.62 per share, after deducting ~ RI#REC & B & % 0.62 78 7T B & 65,000,000
the placing commission and other related expenses, were  BETIR % 2 P15 FRIEF EE4Y /3 39,900,000

approximately HK$39.9 million.

Intended use of proceeds

P13 55 B AT E F #8

Enhance the Group’s general working capital base for
developing the existing business and preparing to take
up investment opportunities in the future with readily
available funds.

BAXEE-—REEESEMN BUBRARBEY
KEBRENES ARIIREM BRI M -

BT °

Actual use of proceeds up to 31 March 2020
B —E_EF=F=1—HZHEMHEEREZ

The Group used approximately HK$37.28 million for
operating expenses of which approximately HK$19.48
million was used during the year ended 31 March
2020 (2019: HK$14.8 million).

An amount of HK$2.2 million was used to pay part of
the balance of consideration for acquisition of 60% of
equity interest of Zhifeng Holdings Limited during the
year ended 31 March 2019.

The remaining net proceeds of approximately
HK$0.42 million has not been utilised as at 31 March
2020. The Directors intend to use the amount for
working capital of the Group and future investments
and/or developments of the Group.

BE-_ZT-_ZTHE=-A=1T"HLFE rEEE
FA #37,280,00078 JT1E & & BRI X - H P H 4
19,480,00078 7T (=& — fL4F : 14,800,000/87T) °

BHE-_ZTZ-NAWF=ZA=Z=+—-—BLFE &%
2,200,000 8 TR BB ESERAER A A
60% A H) BR D R AB AR o

BTSRRI R 420,0008 TR _E_TF=
A=+—HHEADH -EE=REBLBHREELAEH
LBEESUARKEBOAKRIEEN, HER -

At the date of this annual report, the Directors do not anticipate RZAFHHBE] - FEEIBAEBEANERER
any change to the plan as to use of proceeds. The unused net & 2 52|17 EAE(A & E) - KB 2 FT1EX

proceeds were placed with banks in Hong Kong.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up
on the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence and has
been reviewed by the remuneration committee.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are determined
by the remuneration committee, having regard to the Group’s
operating results, individual performance and comparable market
statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive
to directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme is set out
below and in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTIONS

2012 Share Option Scheme

The Company has adopted a new share option scheme at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 3 August 2012
(the “2012 Share Option Scheme”), which is valid and effective
for a period of 10 years commencing on 3 August 2012, upon
the termination of the share option scheme adopted at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 2 August 2002.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme enables the Company to grant
options to selected persons to subscribe for shares in the Company
as incentives or rewards for their contributions or potential
contributions to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion,
invite (i) any director or any employee of the Company, any of
its subsidiaries or any invested entity; (i) any holder of legal or
beneficial title of any securities issued by any member of the Group
or any invested entity; (iii) any business or joint venture partner,
contractor, subcontractor, agent, sub-agent of the Group or any
invested entity; (iv) any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technological support or any advisory,
consultancy, professional services to any member of the Group
or any invested entity; and (v) any supplier of goods or services,
customer or distributor of the Group or any invested entity, to
take up options to subscribe for the shares in the Company for a
consideration of HK$10 per each lot of share options granted.

The option period shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant
of option. There is no minimum period for which an option must be
held before it can be exercised. HK$10 is payable on acceptance
of an option within 28 days from the date of grant.
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The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the 2012 Share Option Scheme must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the shares in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2012 Share Option Scheme or the date of approval
by the shareholders in general meeting where the limit is refreshed.
The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the options granted and to be granted to each individual in
any twelve-month period up to and including the date of grant
shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the date of grant
unless approval from Company’s shareholders has been obtained.
Options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non- executive director of the Company or any of their respective
associates in excess of 0.1% of the total number of shares in issue
or with a value in excess of HK$5 million must be approved in
advance by the Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during the specified option
period. The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors, and
shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of
the Company’s shares for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the
Company’s shares. The maximum number of shares which may be
issued upon exercise of all options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2012 Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s
shares in issue from time to time.

Movements of the share options granted under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme are as follows:

Exercise price Asat

Participants Date of grant Exercisable period pershare 1 April 2019

gk H-F-nE

BEAL RtAH i ke BA-H

Employeesand others 4 February 2016 4 February 2016 - HK$0.264 112,000,000

(in aggregate) 6 January 2026
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No. of underlying shares comprised in option

TARREZABRGHA
Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled  Outstanding
during during during during  at 31 March
the year the year the year the year 2020
it 3
Zh=1-8
HATE
RERRE  REATE  RERXY  REREHE  BRENA
- - 11,200,000 - 100,800,000
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Zhang Yangiang

Ms. Yang Wei

Mr. Gu Zhonghai (appointed on 9 August 2019)

Non-executive Director
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky (Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chung Koon Yan

Ms. Zhao Yongmei

Dr. Yang Fuyu

Biographical details of directors
Brief biographical details of directors are set out on pages 6 to 7 of
this annual report.

Rotation

Pursuant to Article 100 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky and Mr. Chung Koon Yan will
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors and non-executive Director has
entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a term of
two years and each of the independent non-executive Directors
has entered into an appointment letter with the Company for a term
of one year; all appointment letters are subject to renewal with early
termination clause in accordance with the removal, retirement and
re-election provisions of articles of association of the Company.

None of the Directors (including those proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting) has a service contract
with the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the employing company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

There were no contracts or arrangements subsisting which a
Director was materially interested and which was significant in
relation to the business of the Group at any time during the year
ended 31 March 2020.
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INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares, the
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules were as follows:

Long position in shares and underlying shares of the Company

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each and the underlying shares

EEER
RZE-ZTFZA=Z+—H EFHLARQ
AE BT A B A R A s H E (] 48 B
FEE(EERBHEMBEGD ([FH KE
BB EXVED) 2 kin - BERGD RE
ST HERBEESRBEKRGIEXVIET
NESHIMBMEARNT RBRAT 2 Ean
Kag (BIEESERARAEETHRAE
ﬁ%m%&%fMW&XMXWE%i
EEHAZEDNER) AL ALAR
ﬁ%%%&%ﬁ%ﬂ%&ﬁ%ﬁﬁZ%ﬁ
R - RAREGEM F TR RIS 5.46 2= 5.67
KERNEARRMBRAZEGZIER
W

REQXARGEEBROFEZRE

BREENIETZEBERKRGRABKRLHE

Personal
Name of Director interest
EEpns BAES

Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky -

REBLL

Note: These shares are held by Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. of which
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky is the beneficial owner.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company had any interests
and short positions in the shares, the underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short
positions which the Directors and chief executive of the Company
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
required to be entered in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or which were notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules.

Approximate
percentage of
the issued

Corporate Total number share capital of

interest of shares the Company

HAERT

ERITRA

DR R 1 B BRBEDL

337,920,000 337,920,000 12.16%
(Note)
(Hrat)

Wit 3% % B 19 B Gold City Assets Holdings
Ld.#HE MREBREA/ZRANE
WHEBA

BREXHREEN RZZE_ZF=A
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year was any of
the Company or its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to
enable the Directors or chief executives (including their spouses or
children under 18 years of age) of the Company to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INSURANCE

The Company has taken and maintained directors’ and officers’
liability insurance throughout the year, providing appropriate cover
for certain legal actions which may be brought against its directors
and officers.

INTEREST OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND
OTHER SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2020, save as disclosed below, so far is known
to the Directors and chief executives of the Company, no person
(other than a Director or a chief executive of the Company) has
an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the Company which will fall to be disclosed to the Company
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to section 336 of the SFO or, who is directly or indirectly,
interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of
share capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstance at general
meetings of any member of the Group.

Long positions in shares of the Company

Name of shareholder Capacity

RREE LB 4%

Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. (Note 1) Beneficial owner

Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. (#77# 1) ExEBAA

Mr. Huang Shih Tsai (Note 2) Beneficial owner

BHELE (Wi72) EnfEAA

Ms Lin Shunping #JIE ¥ 22 &= Beneficial owner
ERBAA
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Nature of ordinary shares share capital of

interest of HK$0.01 each  the Company
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NS

Personal 155,000,000 5.58%
A

Personal 199,000,000 7.16%
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EEEHG
Notes:

1. Gold City Assets Holding Ltd. is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands of which the issued share capital is beneficially owned
by Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky, a non-executive Director of the Company.

2. The shares held by Mr. Huang Shih Tsai (“Mr. Huang”) were allotted
on 15 August 2011 as partial consideration for the acquisition of
100% equity interest in a company wholly-owned by Mr. Huang.

3. On 27 March 2020, 199,000,000 conversion shares were issued
at the conversion price of HK$0.08 per share to Ms. Lin Shunping
pursuant to the Convertible Notes 2015.

COMPETING INTERESTS

The Directors are not aware of any business or interest of the
Directors nor the controlling shareholders of the Company (as
defined in the GEM Listing Rules) nor any of their respective close
associates that competes or may compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group or, of any other conflicts
of interest which any such person has or may have with the Group
during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 61% of the Group’s total sales for the year and sales
to the Group’s largest customer amounted to approximately 30%.

The Group has 5 suppliers who accounted for 59% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year and purchases from the Group’s
largest supplier amounted to approximately 26% of the Group’s
total purchases for the year.

At any time during the year, none of the Directors, their associates
or any shareholder of the Company (which to the knowledge of
the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital) had an interest in any of the Group’s major customers or
suppliers.
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Report of the Directors

ESEEHE

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Details of significant events after the year are set out in note 47 to
the consolidated financial statements.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2020 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey
Cheng Limited.

The term of office of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited will
expire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for
the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited as the
auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be proposed
at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Mui King, Joky
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Independent Auditors’ Report
18 3 A% B A RS

31/F, Gloucester Tower &
HLB) B #7 & 3 & ¥ 4 5 # ;o 3 The Landmark PE
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED 11 Pedder Street ETH 1%
Central EHES
Hong Kong EETITRESE
To the shareholders of Bttt KIERR AR AR
Great World Company Holdings Ltd 2K

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Great
World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 67 to 190,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2020, the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditors’ Report

B2 AR

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

BERETEE

MRET FERRBEA LA Z A -
RRHARRAVBEREANEAR/E
RHEIR - ELERTAENAZBEBEZE
BRAMBHREANMHABRKETRED
AZEEM TS ELFREHREBOESR -

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matter

REETER

Valuation of investment property

BREMRMLE

Refer to note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements

At 31 March 2020, the Group has investment property
with carrying amount of approximately HK$53,931,000.

The fair value of the Group’s investment property is
determined by adopting the valuation techniques with
significant unobservable inputs, assumptions of market
conditions and judgements. The Group also engaged
independent qualified professional firms of valuers
to establish and determine the appropriate valuation
techniques.

Due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the
significant assumptions and judgements involved in the
valuation, valuation of investment property is identified
as a key audit matter.

2EIR AT IERERMTE18

R-_E-EBEF=A=+—8"
#753,931,000 BT 2 IR EWME -

SEREVERZ AFEDEAGERMN  BBE
KTT%’E%%)\%@F IS AR 0 R 5% e H i B E
Ex@ﬁ BB ABERERMBERR BILK
HEE RS AR -

R EEMEE AR AT REEFENEAR
&R HE - REME ZHER#R RERETFE -

EEEEAREER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AR ERNEERRETEHR

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
determination of the valuation of investment property
including but not limited to:

e evaluating the competency, capability and
objectivity of the valuers;

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;

e discussing with the independent external valuer
and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and valuation parameters used in the
valuation based on our knowledge of the business
and industry; and

e checking, on sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found that the key assumptions were supported by
the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRETER

Net realisable value of properties held for sale

FEHEMEX 2 TERFE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial
statements

At 31 March 2020, the Group has properties held for
sale located in the People’s Republic of China with the
carrying amounts of approximately HK$82,165,000.

The properties are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value on an individual property basis. Net
realisable value is estimated at the actual or estimated
selling price less estimated costs to be incurred and
the estimated costs necessary to make the sales. The
determination of net realisable value with reference to
the valuation performed by the independent qualified
professional firm of valuers require management
judgement.

2RRA M BMRMFE20

R-E-_THE=FA=+—H ' BEERFEARH
M A BRE{E A4 82,165,000 /8 T EHH{EH &Y% -

% YR THIR AR N m] B 3R FAE ) BUE & DA E B D
EMEREIR - Al FHFERER A EER
1 FEEMGEETRAMES BB ERAMEE -
2EBUYUARBREXMGERARET 2 HEEE RN
BRE T BSRIEL BB 6

BEREFEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AEBENERNEEBRETSEE

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
determination of the valuation of properties held for sale
including but not limited to:

e conducting site visits to properties held for sale
projects to observe the development progress and
evaluating whether the development progress for
each project was consistent with the development
plan;

e evaluating the competency, capability and
objectivity of the valuers;

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;

e challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions based on our knowledge of the
business and industry; and

e checking, on sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found the net realisable value of properties held for
sale were supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter

BRETER

Valuation of biological assets

EYMEEME

Refer to note 22 to the consolidated financial
statements

At 31 March 2020, the biological assets were carried at
approximately HK$38,483,000 at 31 March 2020 with
a loss arising from change in fair value less costs to sell
of biological assets for the year ended 31 March 2020
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss of approximately HK$5,784,000.

The biological assets were significant to the Group.
Management’s assessment of the fair value of
biological assets involve significant judgements and
estimates. The most significant assumptions and
valuation parameters used in the valuation include
the estimated quantities, age and the related market
prices of biological assets applied. Independent
external valuations were obtained in order to support
management’s estimates.

2R M B mRME22

RIE-TF=A=1+—B E£YPEER_T_F
E_ A=+—H®EREERK38,784,000% 7T LA

AHEERAERBE_ZT_ZTF=_A=1+—H1t
i&%i%ﬁ?z N EZ R EKATSEE
#95,784,000 % 7T ©
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MBE  REMEENE SESBELINSHENRE
X EEEMMLET -

BHREIFSEEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

AERBANEZNMEEFRETNSE

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s
determination of the valuation of biological assets
including but not limited to:

e evaluating the competency, capability and
objectivity of the valuers;

e assessing the methodologies used and the
appropriateness of the key assumptions based on
our knowledge of the relevant industry and using
our valuation experts;

e discussing with the independent external valuer
and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions and valuation parameters used in the
valuation based on our knowledge of the business
and industry; and

e  checking, on sampling basis, the accuracy and
relevance of the input data used.

We found the key assumptions were supported by the
available evidence.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditors’ report thereon (the “Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information and,
in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

e  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

BREMRET FEMBRREAENER

(&)

e HEERARKBLLESFTERNNR
EEEL AR o RIFPTENRME R
& RERLAFERERNENEH
M EANHEE M - (Al sE B B
EEENBERKERNELEASR
B o MRAZBEDR R IFEEATHE
E - BB ETERBENRETIRA
ERETBRA M B HRERT RAEREH
B-BREAHENEETR  BIAZHE
BIEERE R - NZBEI R i 2 A
REBZEZBEN RS B EPAEUSHR
AHERE o A - RERFBEKBERA B
BY BEEETHRFELE -

o HEGRAMBmMERMERII®mS A
EBNAR  BREKE  UNEEHM
BHREREETERBEEIZNER -

e B BERBEAEBEEBXXBEBOME
BERERTE EENELERE MU
BUHGAMBRRERER - AEHK
fEaE SESETRFOHME  EBM
T - AZBENREABR AL R
Bif-

FREMERIN  AZBEIHEZZ B G
BTENEIEE  BFERTHERERSE
AT BREARBEER P EL T
PB4 1 ) o] B2 KRB

AZBEENEZZEGRIENR  HHA
AZBMENEBEMBLENEEERE
mER - WHEEFBBAE LR EHHEA
REFERZBEBILIEN A B RN
Hib I8 LA (2ER ) 18RERDI 5

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH

65



66

Independent Auditors’ Report
R R S

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditors’ report is Kwok Tsz Chun.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Tsz Chun
Practising Certificate Number: PO6901

Hong Kong, 29 June 2020
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

AN 1= 2
%mﬁﬁ%

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

Notes
H et

CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEREEK
Revenue gy 5
Cost of sales $HE A
Gross profit EH
Other gains or losses HihEm 6
(Loss)/gain arising from changes in fair & ¥& & 2 A FEEF

value less costs to sell of biological B & A FT 1S

assets (B8, W& 22
Loss arising from change in fair value of E&¥WE N FEEH)

investment properties EERNEE 18
Impairment loss recognised in respect  F& 52 &) i E R B E5 18

of goodwill 19
Selling and distribution costs S B o) S5 A AR
Administrative and other operating TEEEMEERS

expenses
Finance costs BB KA 8
Loss before tax BRELATE 1B 9
Income tax credit FriG MR % 10
Loss for the year from continuing BERKEXEBMBFREE

operations
DISCONTINUED OPERATION HIEREEK
Profit for the year from discontinued BRI E TS

operation F A% F 11
Loss for the year KEEEE

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-hF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
441,778 230,039
(432,797) (227,432)
8,981 2,607
(1,392) 150
(5,784) 823
(1,929) -
- (9,257)
(3,169) (500)
(35,818) (14,267)
(3,030) (2,398)
(42,141) (22,842)
885 392
(41,256) (22,450)
- 5,304
(41,256) (17,146)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

AN 1=
%mﬁﬁ%

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-TF-A=1+—HILFE

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable
to owners of the Company:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operation

Loss for the year attributable
to non-controlling interests:
From continuing operations
From discontinued operation

Loss for the year

Loss per share

From continuing and discontinued
operations

Basic and diluted

From continuing operations
Basic and diluted

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

2020 2019
—E_ZF —E—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Kt FRET FET
EAREEANEEREE
(B58|) aF -
REFEKLEER (31,739) (22,440)
KEKLIEREETR - 5,657
(31,739) (16,783)
FEREREEREE
B5E -
REFEREER (9,517) (10)
REKR IR EER - (353)
(9,517) (363)
REEEE (41,256) (17,146)
BREE 14
REFERRIEEEEE
ERREE (1.34) HK cents 34l (0.71) HK cents 751lL
ERREE (1.34) HK cents 4L (0.95) HK cents # 1l
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEBRERHEMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

Loss for the year NEEEE

Other comprehensive loss for the year AN & H fth & HE 518
ltems that are or may be reclassified HE /e a] e EFTSIA

subsequently to profit or loss: BmsIHE -

— Reclassification adjustments for —FRAREFINERR
foreign operation disposal of BN ERE
during the year

— Exchange differences arising on —BREBINEBEEZ
translation of foreign operations M 5 =&

Other comprehensive loss for the year N4 E £ {th & [ £5 18

Total comprehensive loss for the year KA E 2 HEELEE

Total comprehensive loss NTEEEEEREE:
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ =N
Non-controlling interests FEFE AR M 2

2020 2019
—E-8F —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(41,256) (17,146)
- (30)

(7,857) (13,270)
(7,857) (13,300)
(49,113) (30,446)
(37,946) (27,759)
(11,167) (2,687)
(49,113) (30,446)

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e R R

At 31 March 2020
R-ZE-_FF=A=+—H

2020 2019
—E-EHF —T-hF
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
Bt FET FET
Non-current assets IREBEE
Land use rights + b {5 A 15 - 5,692
Right-of-use assets EREEE 16 8,840 -
Property, plant and equipment Y - BB REE 17 4,218 6,511
Investment property "EYE 18 53,931 59,649
Goodwill [EES 19 - -
Biological assets EYEE 22 37,344 42,346
104,333 114,198
Current assets REEE
Properties held for sale FIELEWEE 20 82,165 89,617
Inventories rE 21 23 -
Biological assets EMEE 22 1,139 3,626
Trade and other receivables JIE S BR 3k K L i UK IR 23 156,863 141,382
Cash and bank deposits e MIRITHER 24 13,285 32,405
253,475 267,030
Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables JE 1< BR 3% K2 B A FE < 3R 1B 25 (56,561) (60,089)
Contract liabilities EHEE 26 (26,115) (1,376)
Lease liabilities HEBE 28 (1,745) -
Amounts due to directors B —REERIA 27 (6,576) (6,576)
Amounts due to related companies JE T A3 A R RIE 27 (52,105) (55,673)
Amounts due to non-controlling interests &1~ FE 1% f& 1 %5 X 08 27 (2,162) (2,098)
Convertible notes AR E B 29 - (30,215)
(145,264) (156,027)
Net current assets REBEERE 108,211 111,003
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Amount due to a shareholder FE — &R R IR 27 (69,414) (69,414)
Lease liabilities HEARG 28 (2,031) -
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 30 (17,978) (20,137)
(89,423) (89,551)
Net assets EEZFE 123,121 135,650
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

At 31 March 2020

R-FE-FTHF=-A=+—H

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Equity attributable to owners of the

Company
Non-controlling interests

RAR#E

(LN

G
RRTERABEES

FERES

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2020 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Ng Mui King, Joky
RER
Director

EF

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

2020 2019

— — N

Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
k3 FET FE T
31 27,789 23,689
51,428 59,019

79,217 82,708

43,904 52,942

123,121 135,650
ZEGREVBRERKCESEN_T=F

FRAZTNABRERRETE - WHIA

TALTREREE

Zhang Yangiang
A E
Director

EF

BEFMBT it ez F a7 A M ISR < AR ER D ©

HRERBERLFR —T—N-—FT_TFEFR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GABMBEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

At Aprl 2018 RZZ-\EMA-A
Total comprehensive loss for the year AEERABEAE

Changes in ownership interests in a subsidiary ﬂﬂﬁ £y % P %‘J E E"]Wﬁﬁ'
upon desmed disposal without loss of EEN-RHBRRNES

controlrote 37) BEGEY (757
Disposal of subsicaries /ot 35 HERELA (HE65)

Non-controling inferests arising on acquisttion WENBARELY
of subsiciaries (o2 ) FERER (%)

131 March 2019 and at 1 Aprl 2019 R-E-NE=A=1-A
RZZ-NEMA-A

Total comprenensie loss for the year TEEREERLE

Conversion of convertiole honds ERTARES
Lapse of share options (7012.39) BRELR Wit3s)

Changes in ownership interests in a subsiclary ﬂ\ﬁgﬁl%ﬁ@ HER B
upon deemed cisposal without loss of EER-FNBLANER
control roie 37) BERED Wit57)

Capital contribution from non-controling REFoERERNTE
inferests

Non-controling interests arising on acquisiion WENBLEELY
of subsiciares (o2 ) FARER (hE%)

At31 March 2020 R-EZ5£=f=1-A

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG EUN 1
Convertible Share Non-
Share Share  notes equity options  Translation ~ Accumulated controlling
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
TR
k& ROEE ZEEEGE BRERE  EIRE  ZHEE Mt FERER it
HK$ 000 HKS 00 HKS 000 HK$000 HKS000 HKS 00 HK§ 000 HKS000 HKS000
AT AT FAT AT AT AT FAT AT AT
23,689 233,339 13454 11513 7,33 (178,828) 110,501 47,704 158,200
- - - - (10976) (16,783 (27,759 (2.687) (30,446)
- - - - - (34 (34 34 -
- - - - - - - 2,038 2,038
- - - - - - - 5,858 5,863
23,689 233,339 13,454 11,518 (3,642 (195,645) 82,708 52,942 135,650
- - - - (6,207) (81,739 (37,946) (11,167) (49,113
4,100 42128 (13454) - - - 3,114 - R4
- - - (1,151) - 1,151 - - -
- - - - - 1,681 1,681 (1,681) -
- - - - - - - 4,057 4,057
- - - - - - - (o47) (247)
21,189 215,467 - 10,362 (9,849 (22455 9217 43,904 123121
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

= A ==
mElEERER
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss before tax from continuing
operations

Profit before tax from discontinued
operation

Adjustments for:
Bank interest income
Finance costs

Depreciation on property, plant and

equipment
Depreciation on right-of-use assets
Amortisation of land use rights
Written down of properties

held for sale

Loss arising from change in fair value

of investment property

Impairment loss recognised in respect

of goodwill
Loss/(gain) arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell of
biological assets
Provision/(reversal) of impairment
loss recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables, net
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries

Operating cash flows before
movements in working capital
Increase in properties held for sale

Increase in inventories

Decrease/(increase) in biological assets
Increase in trade and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in trade and
other payables

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities

Cash used in operations
Tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Notes
Kzt
REELBMBZRERE
FRBICEETEFE
Z BRE AT E 1B
IR TS
B 154 Bl V2 A
FLATIER A
RITH B ULA 6
& KA 8
M - BB MEEITE
9
FREEENE 9
T Hb {5 PR A 8H 9
WOR I EL E M
9
BREWMEQNTEEE
EXnEiE 18
ERHO B RAEEE
19
EEEZ NFEE
B E K ARFTE
EiE s () 22

A W B T % L A B K
FIRMER B EEE
B (BR) - FER 6
HEM B ARz e

BEALEBHZ
EERLTE
R B D 2 28 00
AT

L EER D, (8
BB 4t M

RIS B0

JEASS R 3 e L b B A ROR
G4
aRaEEm O
REgERzBE
ENHIE
REXBER 2R FHE

2020 2019
—E-8F —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FBEIT
(42,141) (22,842)
- 5,304

(20) (25)
3,030 2,398
2,351 2,525
1,513 -
- 83
1,947 -
1,929 -
- 9,257
5,784 (823)
1,438 (122)
- (6,016)
(24,169) (10,261)
(203) (96)
(23) -
236 (629)
(52,810) (30,502)
(10,437) 19,872
27,017 (3,003)
(60,389) (24,619)
(19) 8)
(60,408) (24,627)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AN ==
:%ﬂ? ] IE@/)ILE%:Z
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-ZE-TF=-A=-+—HIFE

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received on bank deposits

Purchase of property, plant and
equipment

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from disposal
of subsidiaries

Net cash inflow arising from acquisition
of subsidiaries

Net cash generated from/(used in)
investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Interest paid

Repayments of lease liabilities

Repayment to related companies

Advance from/(repayment to)
non-controlling interests

Advance from third parties

Repayment to third parties

Net cash generated from/(used in)
financing activities

Net decrease in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
the beginning of the year

Effect of foreign currency exchange
rate changes

Cash and cash equivalents at
the end of the year

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

Notes

Kzt

REXBB2RETRE
B WERITIF A B
BEYE - Jﬂ%&aﬁ

HEMBRREEZ
BeRA/ (ORit) H58 35
WERBAREL L
BERAFHE 36

REXKMRE(FA)Z
RERE

MEXEMEZHESRE
EARFLE
EEHERE
M REE R RIER
Bl (BET
- Fa
REE=AHBEK
FE =B

T) IR

MEXKE/ (A2
REeRHE

RERREEENZRD
R
FHRERBEEEEY

SIEEREH o HE

ERZAETRBAESEEY
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2020 2019
—EC-SF —NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT

20 25

(433) (10)
34,680 (372)

12 73

34,279 (284)
(276) -
(1,499) -
(239) (3,870)
64 (221)

20,679 -
(13,219) -
5,510 (4,091)
(20,619) (29,002)
32,405 59,116
1,499 2,291
13,285 32,405

BEMIFIE R AR A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

5
nJj\

Fort
EE
1.

BB R M

he year ended 31 March 2020
ZECEF-RA=F+—HILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Great World Company Holdings Ltd (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability and its shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The address of the Company’s registered office
is P.O. Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands, British West Indies and its principal place of
business is room 1202, 12/F, Great Eagle Centre, 23 Harbour
Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The substantial shareholder of
the Company is Gold City Assets Holdings Ltd. of which the
beneficial owner is Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky, a non-executive
director of the Company.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of its subsidiaries (together with
the Company, the “Group”) are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollar (“HK$”), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (“HK$’000”) except otherwise indicated.

—RER

tRIERERAF ([RARAE]) R
MEHESdMKIAEREERA
A-HEROREAEMEXIMAR
~al ([BRZAT)) GEM ET o AR A
o 1 9% = B 6 4k & P.O. Box 309,
Ugland House, Grand Cayman KY1-
1104, Cayman Islands, British West
Indies R L F 2 & XM B A BB LT
BB 23 R EE R 12181202 F -
KRB ZEEZREAGold City Assets
Holdings Ltd. - EE=#EA A BAR
AEMITERRERL L -

KRB EEBEBBIREER - KK
BARGERARA SB[ AEEH])
CEEEBHNGRE P BWMERWMF
43

HEMBHMRIDARNRF ZEES
BET(BT) 2 BRREREAE
S FTEEBENREFAERZITT
([F#&Tl) °

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”)

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and amendments to HKFRSs issued by
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA”) which are effective for the Group’s financial year
beginning from 1 April 2019. A summary of the new and
revised HKFRSs applied by the Group is set out as follows:

HKFRS 16 Leases

HK (IFRIC) - Int 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments

HKFRS 9 (Amendments) Prepayment Features with

Negative Compensation

HKAS 19 (Amendments) Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

HKAS 28 (Amendments) Long-term interests in
Associates and Joint
Ventures

HKFRSs (Amendments) Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2015-2017 Cycle

Except as disclosed below, the application of other new and
revised HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact
on the Group’s financial performance and financial positions
for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set
out in the consolidated financial statements.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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he year ended 31 March 2020
ZECEF-RA=F+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases (“HKAS
177), and the related interpretations. The Group applied the
HKFRS 16 in accordance with the transition provisions of
HKFRS 16.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply HKFRS
16 to contracts that were previously identified as leases
applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether
an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this standard
to contracts that were not previously identified as containing
a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed contracts
which already existed prior to the date of initial application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 April 2019,
the Group applies the definition of a lease in accordance with
the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in assessing whether a
contract contains a lease.

As a leasee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application, 1
April 2019.

As at 1 April 2019, the Group recognised additional lease
liability and right-of-use asset at amounts equal to the related
lease liability by applying HKFRS 16.C8(b)(ii) transition.
Comparative information has not been restated.

2.

ERHIEEMBREER (FE
PEEmEER ) REBRT A (E)

ERAUBREEAF16REL
REBRAFE G XERTBTER
EARERFE165 - BAE M IEREAER
F16FIR BB LT ERIF 175 H
E([BASERNE175]) RE#A
2 - AEERESEV KRS LER
F165 M BB KSR A BB I &R
SEBIFE165R -

HEZESE
AREEERAITHEE L HBERE
RERBEHEMNFEI7THRLEL (BK
MBEHRERBLZES) RBR4NRE
E—RBLHEE ESHE#5 B
EZANERBEMREERF16
5 MEBELIFESESHER
BHATERALER - Hit - A%
By EE A ETRER B ZA
EETFEZEH -

R T NFNA—BHNZKRIL
HERZAHK  AEBRBIRBER
M mEEE16RAAERE /HE
EZEELEFNE-BRAHNREEEH
ERABEA
AEEEEYEAE LY B REZER
F1RINVGEABAE I = F
—NFOA-BHERRFTE -

RZZE—hFMNA—B AEEBB
JE A B S B 1 4 a5 4R BI 28 16 9% C8(b) i)
BREG LEBAHERECES

B LBERMALEST -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)

As a leasee (continued)

When applying the modified retrospective approach under
HKFRS 16 at transition, the Group applied the following
practical expedients to leases previously classified as
operating leases under HKAS 17, on lease-by-lease basis, to
the extent relevant to the respective lease contracts:

(i) elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for leases with lease term ends within 12 months
of the date of initial application;

(i) excluded initial direct costs from measuring the right-of-
use assets at the date of initial application;

When recognising the lease liabilities for leases previously
classified as operating leases, the Group has applied
incremental borrowing rates of the relevant group entities at
the date of initial application. The incremental borrowing rates
applied by relevant group entities was 4.6%.

2.

ERFIEEMBREER (&R
P EER ) REBRT AR (E)

ERMBRELEAF16REE (B)
ERAMA (18)
ERBERETEMEREELE
165 B MEREN T AR AEH
WRERBEEGTERE TR D
BAKEMRNZEE  UBBEHEEZ
AL EEENHEHESNIEREE
NEMIATREE

) EEFHHEBEEERR B2
BARNBRZBETSERER
BREENEERE

(i) RYRERBRAEEREEE
FRF HH Bk M1 06 B AR

EMEESBAKERN 2 HERR
HERER ARECEMAREE
ERNMKERB R ZIEEERA
o HASERAZIEEETNERS
4.6% °

HK$’000
FET
Operating lease commitments disclosed asat RZ-ZE—NFZA=Z+—HEEZ
31 March 2019 BRI R HE 2,763
Lease liabilities discounted at relevant EEBEEEANEUARNEESE
incremental borrowing rates 2,522
Less: Practical expedient — leases with lease B ATRER A -THEREXER
term ending within 12 months from the HEAREEH 128 A AR IEMHEE
date of initial application (436)
Lease liabilities as at 1 April 2019 R-ZE-NENA—HZHEEAE 2,086
Analysed as DA
Current mED 940
Non-current IERE 1,146
2,086
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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he year ended 31 March 2020
ZECTF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2.
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(“HKFRSs”) (continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (continued)
As a leasee (continued)

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets for own use as at 1

April 2019 comprise the following:

Right-of-use assets relating to operating leases
recognised upon application of HKFRS 16
Reclassified from land use rights (note)

By class:
Land
Office premises

Note: Upon application of HKFRS 16, land use right of amount
approximately of HK$5,692,000 were reclassified to right-of-

use assets.

As lessor

In accordance with the transitional provisions in HKFRS
16, the Group is not required to make any adjustment on
transition for leases in which the Group is a lessor but account
for these leases in accordance with HKFRS 16 from the date
of initial application and comparative information has not been

restated.

Effective on 1 April 2019, the Group has applied HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 15”) to
allocate consideration in the contract to each lease and non-

lease components.

ERHIEEMBREER (FE
PEEmEER ) REBRT A (E)

ERMBHRELEAFE16RHEE (B)

EBERBA ()
R-TE—-NENA—BERAEEEY
BFEESESNT
HK$'000
FET
EREAT SRS ERFE 16514 R i
KETHEEENEREEE 2,086
B i(FREEHSE M) 5,692
7,778
HK$'000
FHEIT
R
T 5,692
WREYHE 2,086
7,778

Wit - RERBEEVEREERNE165
& & #E#)5,602,0008 JT #Y £ i
EREEH I REERREE -

B HEA
1R 48 E 5 B 7 95 A 16581038
T - A B BE A E A R
AT B it (L 8% - BIRIE
RO ME R E O ARNS
fEF BT SR - WA
CESH-LIR

B-ZE-NFOA-HERE K&
BEEBEEM GRS ERE155R
EPEM Mz ([BEMBHRE LR
F1RDUBEHNRESEERH
ENIEHERD -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERAWMIERUVBHREEL(ES
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS MEREER D REBT A (E)
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (continued) ERMBREERE16RHAE (B)
Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position Y BMRRRN &
The following adjustments were made to the amounts UTASR-_ZE—NFHA—RBZER
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position EMBRARTEAZSEIEL 2 H
at 1 April 2019. Line items that were not affected by the B WESEHFE BB WIAEIE
changes have not been included. A -
Carrying Carrying
amounts amounts
previously under
reported HKFRS 16
at 31 March at 1 April
2019  Adjustments 2019
RIEEBTE
&2 Al
paed £165%%
R-E-NF R-ZE—AF
=A=+—H A—H
ERZREE e WEREE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET FEIT
Non-current assets kRBEE
Right-of-use assets EREEE - 7,778 7,778
Land use rights - Hb s A 5,692 (5,692) -
Current liabilities RBAE
Lease liabilities HEAE - 940 940
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Lease liabilities HE&BE - 1,146 1,146

Note: For the purpose of reporting cash flows from operating activities
under indirect method for the year ended 31 March 2019,
movements in working capital have been computed based on
opening consolidated statement of financial position at 1 April
2019 as disclosed above.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ZECTF=A=+—HILFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts'

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business?

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKAS 8

Definition of Material*

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform?*

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19 Related Rent

Concession®

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2021.

2 Effective for business combination for which the acquisition date
is on or after the beginning of the first annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2020.

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2020.

5 Effective for annual period beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

The directors anticipate that the application of all new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

ERHIEEMBREER (FE
PEEmEER ) REBRT A (E)

AEBEWERFEA TS S B/MHE N
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BEM WS REE 4
AR 1755

BEMB®RE EBZER?
AEBI 55 355
CCHEN)

BBV RE WEHEABZED
EHIFE10% N AEAEEY
BEGFER Mz EEHESK
2855 A
CCHEN)

B4R EAZEE
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G ERIE SR
(&ETAN)
BBV RE
AERIZE Q5 -
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FEIFEREB
B 75 R 45 2 )
ENGTACCHEN)
BBV RE
AEBIZE 1655
(&ETAN)

TR —F-A-BHERLHEES
ZFEEHEEMS -
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¢ O REFEERHHERMGBZFE
AR AR
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ZEEREES -
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ZFEEREES -

BEXZHFIIEAMEREELN R
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EAVBREZHMSIER - HEKXE
R BB IR EER R HESE S
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years
presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with HKFRSs which is a collective term
that includes all applicable individual HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “GEM Listing Rules”) and
by the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment property and
biological assets that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value
for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment, leasing
transactions that are accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
16 (since 1 April 2019) or HKAS 17 (before application of
HKFRS 16), and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in
HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 /mpairment of
Assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of preparation (continued)

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

For investment properties which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to
be used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the
valuation technique is calibrated so that the results of the
valuation technique equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:
Level 1: inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;

Level 2: inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;
and

Level 3: inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or

liability.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

e  has power over the investee;

e s exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights
of an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting
rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct
the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are
sufficient to give it power, including:

e the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative
to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote
holders;

e potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote
holders or other parties;

e  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

e any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that
the Group has, or does not have, the current ability to
direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions
need to be made, including voting patterns at previous
shareholders’ meetings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to owners of the Company and to
the noncontrolling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
noncontrolling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
ownership interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries upon
liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries without change of control

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not
result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are
accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts
of the Group’s relevant components of equity and the
noncontrolling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-
attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the
noncontrolling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity
and attributed to owners of the Company.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the

acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except
that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised
and measured in accordance with HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

e assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured
in accordance with that standard; and

e |ease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as defined
in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were new leases
at the acquisition date, except for leases for which (a)
the lease term ends within 12 months of the acquisition
date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-
use assets are recognised and measured at the same
amount as the relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect
favourable or unfavourable terms of the lease when
compared with market terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations (continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit
or loss as gain on bargain purchase.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share
of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is
made on a transaction-by-transaction basis.

Revenue from contract with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contract with customers (continued)

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognized
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of the
following criteria is met:

e the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the
Group performs;

e the Group’s performance creates and enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

e the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed
to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It is
assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same
contract are accounted for and presented on a net basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contract with customers (continued)
Principal versus agent consideration

Determining whether revenue of the Group should be reported
gross or net is based on a continuing assessment of various
factors. When determining whether the Group is acting as
the principal or agent in offering goods or services to the
customer, the Group needs to first identify who controls the
specified goods or services before they are transferred to the
customer. The Group is a principal and obtains control any of
the following: (i) a good or another asset from the other party
that the Group then transfers to the customer; (i) a right to a
service to be performed by the other party, which gives the
Group the ability to direct that party to provide the service
to the customer on the Group’s behalf; (i) a good or service
from the other party that the Group then combines with other
goods or services in providing the specified good or service
to the customer. If control is unclear, when the Group is
primarily obligated in a transaction, is subject to inventory risk,
has latitude in establishing prices and selecting suppliers, or
has several but not all of these indicators, the Group records
revenues on a gross basis. Otherwise, the Group records the
net amount earned as commissions from products sold or
services provided.

The Group has evaluated the roles and responsibilities of
the Group and the agents in rendering the relevant services
and concluded that the Group has the primarily obligation in
rendering the services and has the sole latitude in establishing
prices. Accordingly, the Group records the revenue driven
through agents on a gross basis, and the commissions paid
to those agents are records as sale commission as included in
selling and marketing expenses.

Sales of forestry products and information technology
products

Revenue from sales of forestry products and information
technology products is recognised at a point in time when
control of the products has transferred, being when the
products are delivered to the customers and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the product and collectability of the related
receivables is reasonably assured.

FESTEE (&)
REFEFEHNKE (&)
ZEAHEAZE
BEAEENRARGEIZERIF
BEH DEXRUSBEARNFET
e EREAEBERSERRNEFIR
HERNZTASIREAR  A£H
EEEABRETEMNERLARR
ZRTHESIA o MAEBEFATHE
] —IgM RS - AIAREA : ()KRE
S—FHEREHTAEEESRART A
—FHEMKE—HEE: (1ZXH—
FIREARISEET - AR B AEHIE
TZARKAEBRAERPRRHERS
iRBES—HEBAASEG 2 HE
b R RIS & AR B PRI R E
B E s AR o W iE s BARE
ARAEBFZEAERSGERE T
FERRE - BT ESMERMAER
WER XEAZEMIFELHZEE
20 AEERTEAERZERRA -
GR)  NREBKTREVFRARLEE A
IRt EERNAE -

A B BT (A A S R I A TSR A
BERB AN BERET  LEH
EwRA  AEEEERERERE
BT - 0 BRI R A
— B o Eik  AEERBRER
BEBIN XN TREREEOM
SEBBHEMRD  HARBE R
B -

P EPRFEE g R B Al BRI E o £ W 28

HEMERE MM BB E MR
EEmTHEEE RN SRR E
RoANERXNTER  BHEEMN
FTEEPERMERNARBEITEERA
2 FE W R TR O A] [ U 1 T A FR AR o

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH

89



90

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue from contract with customers (continued)
Provision of mobile advertising media services

Revenue from provision of mobile advertising media services
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the performance
period for which the advertisements are displayed.

Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Employee benefits

Retirement benefit obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution
scheme, the assets of which are held in separate trustee-
administered funds.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the scheme at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, with the employers’
contributions subject to a cap of monthly relevant income
of HK$30,000 currently. The Group’s contributions to the
scheme are expensed as incurred and vested in accordance
with the scheme’s vesting scales. Where employees leave the
scheme prior to the full vesting of the employer’s contributions,
the amount of forfeited contributions is used to reduce the
contributions payable by the Group.

The employees employed by the Group’s subsidiaries in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members
of state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by
the government of the PRC. The subsidiaries are required
to contribute a specific percentage of payroll costs to the
retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefits
schemes operated by the government of the PRC is to make
the specified contributions under the schemes.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid
as and when employees rendered the services. All short-
term employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit
in the cost of an asset.

Share-based payment expense

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair value
of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a straightline
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s
estimate of equity instruments that will eventually vest, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to
vest based on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting
conditions. The impact of the revision of the original estimates,
if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative
expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to the share options reserve.

For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant,
the fair value of the share options granted is expensed
immediately to profit or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Share-based payment expenses granted to consultants
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions with parties
other than employees are measured at the fair value of the
goods or services received, except where that fair value
cannot be estimated reliably, in which case they are measured
at the fair value of the equity instruments granted, measured
at the date the entity obtains the goods or the counterparty
renders the service. The fair values of the goods or services
received are recognised as expenses (unless the goods or
services qualify for recognition as assets).
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “loss before tax” as reported in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable
future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment
property that is measured using the fair value model, the
carrying amounts of such property is presumed to be
recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is
rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model
whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over
time, rather than through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities separately. Temporary differences relating to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial
recognition and over the lease terms due to application of the
initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment, including bearer plant are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

The cost of an asset comprises its purchase price and any
directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure
incurred after the property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred.
In situations where it can be clearly demonstrated that the
expenditure has resulted in an increase in the future economic
benefits expected to be obtained from the use of the property,
plant and equipment, the expenditure is capitalised as an
additional cost of that asset.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets
less their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The principal
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

10% to 25% or shorter of the
lease term
5% to 25%

Leasehold improvements

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment

Motor vehicles

Bearer plant

10% to 25%
20% to 33%
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Bearer plants are a living plant that is used in the production
or supply of agricultural produce and are expected to bear
produce for more than one period, and have remote likelihood
of being sold as agricultural produce, except for incidental
scrap sales. Bearer plants are accounted for in the same way
as self-constructed items of property, plant and equipment.
Depreciation is provided for in respect of bearer plants
when they are in the location and condition necessary to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management,
which is the point of maturity of bearer plants. Bearer plants
are measured at accumulated cost less any impairment
before maturity. When the bearer plants are mature, they
are measured at cost, less any subsequent accumulated
depreciation and impairment, with changes recognised in
profit or loss.

Bearer plant is immature until the produce can be
commercially harvested.

Investment property
Investment property is property held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment property is measured at their fair
values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or accrued operating
lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment property is included in profit or loss for the period
in which they arise.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value.

The cost of properties held for sale is determined by
apportionment of the total development costs which comprise
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and costs incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location attributable
to unsold units.

Net realisable value is estimated by the management, based
on prevailing market conditions, which represents the
estimated selling price less estimated costs to be incurred in
selling the property.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling
price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and
costs necessary to make the sale.

Biological assets

Biological assets consist of the growing produce before
harvest on trees. Trees are bearer plants and are accounted
for as property, plant and equipment (see above).

The growing produce on trees are growing crops of the Group
on the cultivation bases. Biological assets are measured at
fair value less costs to sell on initial recognition and at the end
of each reporting period. The fair value of biological assets is
determined based on the current market price with reference
to the species, growing condition, cost incurred and expected
yield of the crops.

The agricultural produce is initially measured at fair value less
costs to sell at the time of harvest. The fair value of agricultural
produce is determined based on market prices in the local
market. The fair value less costs to sell at the time of harvest
is deemed as the cost of agricultural produce for further
processing.

The gain or loss arising on initial recognition of biological
assets at fair value less costs to sell and from a change in fair
value less costs to sell of biological assets shall be included in
profit or loss for the period in which it arises.

Biological assets that are expected to be realised in the next

harvest within the next twelve months are classified under
current assets.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of
the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the market
place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets
(continued)

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

e the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is achieved by both selling and collecting
contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on
the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), except that at the date
of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a financial
asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

e on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

e it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset is no longer
credit-impaired, interest income is recognized by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end
of each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses
recognised in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other gains and losses”
line item.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit
losses (“ECL”) on financial assets which are subject to
impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade receivables,
deposits paid, other receivables and cash and bank deposits).
The amount of ECL is updated at the end of each reporting
period to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that
are possible within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period. Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to
the debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment
of both the current conditions at the end of the reporting
period as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognise lifetime ECL for trade receivables
without significant financing component. The ECL on
these assets are assessed individually for credit card trade
receivables and collectively for corporate customers using a
provision matrix with past due status grouping.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant
increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the end of
the reporting period with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

e  significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations;

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

e an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since initial
recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have low
credit risk at the end of the reporting period. A debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default; (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term; and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability
of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full.

The Group considers that default has occurred when a
financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events of
default that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future
cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that
a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

e  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
e  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

e the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual
reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty,
having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the
lender(s) would not otherwise consider; or

e it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example,
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or
has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables, when the amounts are over 2 years past
due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other iterns subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there
is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based
on historical data adjusted by forwardlooking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is estimated the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective interest
rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level may
not yet be available, the financial instruments are grouped on
the following basis:

e Nature of financial instruments;

e  Past-due status;

e  Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
e  External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on
amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade receivables where the
corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the
transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to
pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Convertible notes

The component parts of the convertible notes are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument. A
conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of a
fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an equity
instrument.

At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component
(including any embedded non-equity derivatives features) is
estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability that
does not have an associated equity component.

The conversion option classified as equity is determined
by deducting the amount of the liability component from
the fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in convertible
notes equity reserve until the conversion option is exercised, in
which case, the balance recognised in convertible notes equity
reserve will be transferred to share capital and share premium.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the
maturity date of the convertible note, the balance recognised
in convertible notes equity reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss upon conversion or expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
notes are allocated to the liability and equity components in
proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. Transaction
costs relating to the equity component are charged directly
to equity. Transaction costs relating to the liability component
are included in the carrying amount of the liability portion and
amortised over the period of the convertible notes using the
effective interest method.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
amounts due to directors, amounts due to related companies,
amounts due to non-controlling interests, amount due to a
shareholder and convertible notes) are subsequently measured
at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy
of the company or the counterparty.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s
functional currency (foreign currencies) are recognised in the
respectively functional currency on the rates of exchange
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary
items measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations
are translated into the presentation currency of the Group
(i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated at
the average exchange rates for the period, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case,
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of transactions are
used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of translation reserve (attributable to non-
controlling interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed arising on an acquisition
of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Impairment of tangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated
individually, when it is not possible to estimate the recoverable
amount of an asset individually, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs.
When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual
CGUs, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of tangible assets other than goodwill
(continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a CGU) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.
In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwiill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.
The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a CGU) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2)

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate.
Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to short-term leases of assets (i.e. those leases that have a
lease term of twelve months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option). The Group also
applies the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption
to lease of office equipment that are considered as low value.
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

e the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives received,;

e any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets, restoring
the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the
commencement date of the lease (i.e. the date the underlying
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line item
on the consolidated statements of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair
value at initial recognition are considered as additional lease
payments and included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of
lease payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating
the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable;

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by
interest accretion and lease payments.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (upon application of HKFRS 16 in accordance with
transitions in note 2) (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

Lease liabilities (continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use assets)
whenever:

e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership
of an underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified
as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or
loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset, and such costs are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model.

Refunaable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under
HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to
fair value at initial recognition are considered as additional
lease payments from lessees.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leases (before application of HKFRS 16)

All leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit
or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and are recognised as an expense on a
straightline basis over the lease term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event,
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount
of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present obligation at
the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks
and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision
is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the
present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of
those cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money
is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle
a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party,
a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain
that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the
receivable can be measured reliably.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

(b)

A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)
(i
(i)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or the Group’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary
and fellow subsidiary is related to the others);

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a member);

both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the group or an entity
related to the group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity); or

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or to the Group’s parent.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Related parties (continued)

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services
or obligations between the Group and a related party,
regardless of whether a price is charged.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced
by, that person in their dealings with the entity.

Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the
financial information provided regularly to the group’s most
senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic characteristics and are similar in respect of
the nature of products and services, the nature of production
processes, the type or class of customers, the methods used
to distribute the products or provide the services, and the
nature of the regulatory environment. Operating segments
which are not individually material may be aggregated if they
share a majority of these criteria.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from
past events and whose existence will only be confirmed by
the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. It
can also be a present obligation arising from past events
that is not recognised because it is not probable that outflow
of economic resources will be required or the amount
of obligation cannot be measured reliably. A contingent
liability is not recognised but is disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements. When a change in the
probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable,
they will then be recognised as a provision.

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past
events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain
future events not wholly within the control of the Group. A
contingent asset is not recognised but is disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements when an inflow of economic
benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is
recognised.

Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s
business, the operation and cash flow of which can be clearly
distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents
a separate major line of business or geographic area of
operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view
to resale.

When an operation is classified as discontinued, a single
amount is presented in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss
of the discontinued operation and the post-tax gain or loss
recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to
sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group(s)
constituting the discontinued operation.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3 to the consolidated financial statements,
the directors are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Fair value of biological assets

The biological assets are valued at fair value less costs
to sell. The fair value is determined based on either the
market-determined prices at the end of the reporting
periods adjusted with reference to the species, age,
growing condition and costs incurred to reflect differences
in characteristic and/or stages of growth of biological
assets. Any change in the estimates may affect the fair
value of biological assets significantly. The independent
external valuer and management review the assumptions
and estimates periodically to identify any significant
change in the fair value of biological assets.

(i) Estimated impairment of financial assets at amortised
cost
The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumption about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group use judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s past history, existing market
conditions as well as forward-looking estimates at the
end of each reporting period.
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Net realisable value for properties held for sale

In determining whether allowances should be made for
the Group’s properties held for sale, the Group considers
the current market environment and the estimated market
value (i.e. the estimated selling price less estimated costs
of selling expenses) less estimated costs to completion
of the properties. An allowance is made if the estimated
market value is less than the carrying amount. If the actual
net realisable value on properties held for sale is less than
expected as a result of change in market condition and/
or significant variation in the budgeted development cost,
may result in material provision for impairment loss.

Assessment of economic useful lives of fixed assets
Fixed assets are depreciated or amortised over their
economic useful lives. The assessment of estimated
useful lives is a matter of judgement based on the
experience of the Group, taking into account factors such
as technological progress, changes in market demand,
expected usage and physical wear and tear. Useful lives
are periodically reviewed for continued appropriateness.
Due to long lives of assets, changes to the estimates
used can result in variations in their carrying amounts.

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the
ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. The Group recognises liabilities
for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the period
in which such determination is made.

Fair value of investment property

Investment property is stated at fair value based on the
market values, being the estimated amount for which
property could be exchanged on the date of valuation
between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s
length transaction or the valuation performed by an
independent valuer. In determining the fair value, the
valuer has based on method of valuation which involves
certain estimates and assumptions. In relying on the
valuation report, the management has exercised their
judgements and is satisfied that the method of valuation
is reflective of the current market conditions. Should there
be any changes in assumptions due to change of market
conditions, the fair value of the investment property will
be adjusted accordingly.
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REVENUE
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers

Continuing operations BEKSEER
Provision of mobile advertising R B ESHERY
media services
Sales of goods HEEm
— forestry products —MEEmMm
— information technology products —EMEEER
Timing of revenue recognition Wz T R R R
Over time BE 2 5
At a point in time NG

Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the
segment information.

3
REEFAHHIRED

2020 2019

—®-®F —T-AF

HK$°000 HK$'000

F#T FET

294,140 15,428

71,594 6,051

75,127 207,817

440,861 229,296

294,140 15,428

146,721 213,868

440,861 229,296

TESIKAEF A KR fas 8 &6
BRPRBENSR YR -

2020 2019
—E-EF —ZET-NEF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET

Continuing operations BEKSEER
Provision of mobile advertising media services 12 % B & & 15 52 IR 75 294,140 15,428
Sales of goods HE B m 146,721 213,868
Revenue from contracts with customers REEFEHHWE 440,861 229,296
Rental income e WA 917 743
441,778 230,039
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5. REVENUE (continued) 5.
Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers
The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue such that the Group does
not disclose information about revenue that the Group will be
entitled to when it satisfied the remaining obligations under
the contracts as all contract works have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

6. OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES 6.
Continuing operations FEREER
(Provision)/reversal of impairment loss 5t & U BR 3% & E b & U 308

recognised in respect of trade R BEBE (BE)
and other receivables, net BE ¥R
Bank interest income |ITH EMWA
Other income HaUA
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION 7.

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are
organised by a mixture of both business lines (products and
services) and geographical areas. In a manner consistent
with the way in which information is reported internally to the
Group’s most senior management for the purpose of resource
allocation and performance assessment, the Group has
presented the following four reportable segments.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group’s operations and reportable segments are as
follows:

Intelligent advertising and Provides mobile advertising
railroad media business media services for intelligent

advertising and property
market customers in the PRC.
Provision of railroad magazine
distribution and e-commerce
platform management,
advertising and product sales

services
Cultivation and sales of Cultivation of forestry and wood
agricultural and forestry material products, cultivation
products business of Chinese herbal medicine

ingredients and specialty
agricultural by products,
sales of processed and pre-
packaged food

Trading (Supply Chain) Sales of information technology
Business products and industrial
consumer products as well
as related R&D and product
manufacturing activities

Property business Property investment and
development, operating and
managing residential and
commercial properties

Note: Best Sky Holdings Limited (“Best Sky”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Best Sky Group”), which
constituted a major line of business in constructing
landscaping projects and earthrock engineering, maintenance
engineering business and planting and selling forest trees
and flowers (referred to as “landscaping and earth-rock
engineering business”), had been disposed of on 1 November
2018. The segment information reported below did not include
any amounts for the landscaping and earth-rock engineering
business which was discontinued upon disposal of the Best
Sky Group, details of which are disclosed in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE-_ZT-TF=-A=+—HLFE
7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately, for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and assessment of the Group’s
performance. Segment performance is evaluated based on
reportable segment results, which is a measure of adjusted
loss before tax. The adjusted loss before tax is measured
consistently with the Group’s loss before tax except that gain
on bargain purchase, unallocated finance costs, unallocated
selling and distribution costs and unallocated administrative
and other operating expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
goodwill and unallocated corporate assets.

All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than

income tax payable, convertible notes, deferred tax liabilities,
and unallocated corporate liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020

BE-F-FF=A=t—HILEE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
These segments are managed separately as they belong to
different industries and require different operating systems and
strategies. There were no sales or other transactions between
those reportable segments. Information regarding the Group’s
reportable segments is presented below:

(@) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities and
other selected financial information

2020

Revenue from external
customers

Total loss of reportable
segments

Total assets of reportable
segments

Total liabilities of reportable
segments

Amounts included in the
measure of segment profit
or loss or segment assets:

Bank interest income

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use
assets

Loss arising from changes in
fair value less costs to
sell of biological assets

Loss on fair value change on
investment property

Written down of properties
held for sale

Provision impairment loss
recognised in respect of
trade and other receivables,
net

Addition of non-current assets

REINDEP 2 Wt
E2HD BOBERE

pu]

2R BEERE

BN MRER
DEEEBREN
TR

RITHBHA

nE - BELRBIE

EREEENE
ENEEHATES

B E RN E LA
B

FANELFEEBEL

MER
MR EH B %
SBYCRS R A i R

FRERH R EBE

B

REFRBEE

Intelligent
advertising
and railroad
media
business
BHESER
Hi%
REXB
HK$'000
FET

294,140
(7,099)
76,363

(70,865)

(74)

(514)

3,351

7. DEER(E
LEDEBABITR AR - FIHE A E
EREBIAR - oFER - tE
A 285D Bz N AT I E S A
RG NEEF 2| EBBERZ 50
T~
(@ oKz 1BE BE AER

HittREMKER
i
Cultivation
and sales of Trading
agricultural (Supply
and forestry Chain)  Property
products  Business business Total
BEK g5
BHER  (fEH
HEXRK B NEEH @t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
71,594 75,127 917 441,778
(16,904) (2,244) (3,107) (29,354)
131,571 3,056 136,315 347,305
(8,406) (2,101) (73,430) (154,802
- 1 1 9
(2,221) - 3 (2,298)
- - - (514)
(5,784) - - (5,784)
- - (1,929) (1,929)
- - (1,947) (1,947)
(31) (1,407) - (1,438)
- - - 3,351
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e B HRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-T-FTFZA=t-ALFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(@) Segment revenue, profit or loss, assets, liabilities and
other selected financial information (continued)

2019

Revenue from external
customers

Total profit/(loss) of reportable
segments

Total assets of reportable
segments

Total liabilities of reportable
segments

Amount included in the
measure of segment profit
or loss or segment assets:

Bank interest income

Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment

Gain arising from changes in
fair value less costs to sell
of biological assets

Impairment loss recognised in
respect of goodwill

Amortisation of land
use rights

REINDEP 2 st

STEDBEES
NHEEBRRN
Ex

RITHBIA

nE - BELRBIE

EWEENATER
R ERAEED
Wi

REBRDIERE

T R

Intelligent
advertising
and railroad
media
business
BaBEER
S
REXK
HK$'000
FHET

15,428

27

9,492

(3,864)

7. DHEHR(E)
(@) 7oAz - B BEE AER

HitnREMBER (B)
—T-hF
Cultivation
and sales of Trading
agricultural (Supply
and forestry Chain) Property

products Business business Total
Bk =)
EMER  (ftE#)

HEXHK B WERK @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET FHET FHET

6,051 207,817 743 230,039

(10,084) (503) (13) (10,573)

111,276 53,683 149,667 324,118

(22,643) (46,054) (79,210 (151,771)

4 - 1 5

(2,087) - 4) (2,091)

823 - - 823

9,257 - - 9,257

(83) - - 3)

Note: Additions of non-current assets consist of right-of-use

assets and property, plant and equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Reconciliations of reportable segment revenue, profit

or loss, assets and liabilities

Revenue

Total revenue for reportable

segments

Consolidated revenue

Profit or loss

Total loss for reportable segments
Unallocated corporate income
Unallocated corporate expenses

Consolidated loss before tax

Assets

Total assets for reportable

segments

Unallocated corporate assets

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Total liabilities for reportable

segments

Unallocated corporate liabilities

Consolidated total liabilities

B

i) £ ¥ 2R B 1R A B
Ao REERA
Ao BEERX

AR BATE R

BE
AERNAEEMRE
&

0

>

ANEEEE

i

HEBEERE

fi

afE

i
mht

#H

=l
HO

Gk

e

2w

#

D

3

APBEEEEAE

RAEABEER

PEBER (B)
b) TEHRHPWE - BE  BER
BEZHE
2020 2019
—F-8F —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
441,778 230,039
441,778 230,039
(29,354) (10,573)
11 23
(12,798) (12,292)
42,141) (22,842)
347,305 324,118
10,503 57,110
357,808 381,228
(154,802) (151,771)
(79,885) (93,807)
(234,687) (245,578)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(c) Geographical Information
The following table sets out information about the
geographical location of the Group’s revenue from
external customers. The geographical location of
customer is based on the location at which the services
were provided or the goods were delivered.

The PRC, excluding Hong Kong FE(TBIERE)
Hong Kong 5

Since over 90% of the Group’s non-current assets were
located in the PRC, no geographical segment information
in accordance with HKFRS 8 Operating Segments is
presented.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

7. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 7. DEERE)
(d) Information about major customers d EHXFEEFZEHR
Revenue from customers for the year ended 31 March HE-_Z-ZEFR-_T—NF=
2020 and 2019 contributing over 10% of the total A=T—BLEFEEREEREK
revenue of the Group are as follows: m10% A Lz EPWZEIT -
2020 2019
—ECRF —E-NF
Reporting segments HK$°000 HK$’000
CIEE: i FET FrET
Customer A (note |) Trading (supply chain) business - 137,845
BFE®R (M) B 5 (HER) X%
Customer B Trading (supply chain) business 56,159 25,535
BRZ B 5 (HER) X%
Customer C (note (i) Intelligent Advertising and
Railroad Media business 131,347 -
BEFER (K77 ) B ES R BRI ERK
Note: Bi: -
()  Revenue derived from Customer A did not contribute 10% () BEZZE-_ZTFE=A=+—H
or more to the Group’s total revenue during the year ended IFEE - FERRRkEY
31 March 2020. EAREENBIKEER 10%
AL
(i)  Revenue derived from Customer C did not contribute 10% iy BE—ZE—-—HAhE=A=+—H
or more to the Group’s total revenue during the year ended HEE KEaERAMKET
31 March 2019. mAAEENAKTER10%
AL
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RERA
2020 2019
—g-®F —Z ¥
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Continuing operations BEKSEER
Imputed interests on convertible notes ] 3 A% Z2 4% # & FI| &

(note 29) (H1e#29) 2,559 2,398
Interest on lease liabilities MEEENE 195 -
Interest on other borrowings HuEEHNE 276 -

3,030 2,398

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

9.

LOSS BEFORE TAX

9. KRBIAIEE

Loss before tax has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRELATE B B, (GTA) A T8
BigER:
2020 2019
—E-EHE —E—-NEF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Continuing operations BESEEK
Auditors’ remuneration for ZE AN ® — ZER
audit services 480 530
Staff costs (including directors’ BIKK(BEEEME)
remuneration) (note 12) (Htet12)
— salaries and other benefits — ¥ e REMEF 13,332 5,688
— contributions to defined —ERRET B
contribution schemes 493 206
13,825 5,894
Amortisation of land use rights - Hb {5 AR A 8E - 83
Cost of inventories sold FT&EF A 152,456 007,432
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BE MEEITE
equipment 2,351 2,138
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ERAEEERE 1,513 -
Operating lease charges in respect of T RIEFKLLHE L H
land and building - 2,003
Short-term lease payments MHBEEN R 436 -
Impairment loss recognised in respect Bt B 2 2 HY EIE E5 18
of goodwill - 9,257
Written down of properties held for sale  #fi 5l 13 1E 1 & ¥ % 1,947 -
Gross rental income from investment &Y EELNTHE
property WA RBRE (917) (743)
Less: direct operating expenses B FAEEESKRAR
arising from investment REMEEENEE
property that generated KRR
rental income during the year 167 160
Less: direct operating expenses B FARAWRELEHESKA
arising from investment IR EMEELN
property that did not BEREERY
generate rental income
during the year 349 345
(401) (238)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B mRMHMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT

Continuing operations
Current tax

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
(Over)/under-provision in prior years

— Hong Kong Profits Tax
— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

Deferred taxation
Credited during the year (note 30)

Income tax credit for the year

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed
The Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”)
which introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The
Bill was signed into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted
on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying
group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2
million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated

assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax

rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax had been made as the

Group had no assessable profit.

MBRMBEYMRMER A Fland T BE B G EREME
AR~ 5which are principally engaged in forestry cultivation,
research and application of agricultural technologies are

entitled to tax exemption.

10. FRIBHiIER

2020 2019
g g 323 —ZT-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FHETT
BEKSEER
BN HA i 18
— BT 19
BAEFE (BERE)
BETRE
—BEREH -
—FR B EMEH -
19
EEBE
FRER (H7E30) (904) (391)
REFEMERER (885) (392)

AT o

EERR-

BAAET ERTOE M H 16.5% 51 & o

PR EB AR 2R AE25% -

SR EB RIS BB -

BRBES -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH

RZEBE—NF=ZA=+—8 FBL
FERB(ZE—LFERE (BE]) (F
TP ER) ([RAIEZR]) - %K
BIE RS AMBAFBHRESE - %K
PIERR-_ZE—NF=ZA=-+/\B%
EXEERE THRBEHREHRLETIE -
BREMBFEHRESE  GEKEE
151%8.25% M X H2 B BB LA
FIGMTETE - W #5352 16.5% BT K 45
M2EBBTUN LB ZHE - A5
ABMAFGHRESEND R G
B ERTR A 2 16.5% K& — T K

B e R A M) 15 5 2R I /= P
R R BERAMBHREAM S AL
BEE -RZEMEFE BEMNEH

RE(PBESERBHIE) TREMR
BRED REEMEPOEAERAR -

HRAEE YW ERRBOEH - B &

BRI EMRMARAR LB
EREGELERMERRARIZNS
REEE  RERMAELER  F
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RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-ZF-A=+T—HLHFE

10. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued) 10. FREBiE R (B)

The income tax for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss as

KEEZHIERANGAEBRHRERAR
HRIBBIESRAT

follows:
2020 2019
—ECEF —T-hF
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
Loss before tax B 15 Al E5 18 (42,141) (22,842)
Tax at domestic income tax rate RERAEREGTE
m 15 (8,886) (4,824)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax ~ BZARFLUTA 2 Fi 765 52 £
purpose (59) (240)
Tax effect of expense not deductible AR 2 e
for tax purpose 4,424 1,935
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR IEEE ~ %Rf“ SR B 3,636 3,219
Tax effect of tax concession RIBE R < RS ?/ 2 - (90)
Tax effect of temporary difference TRE=BE o MBTE - (391)
Over-provision in prior years BEFEBERE - (1)
Income tax credit for the year REEZMRERER (885) (392)
11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION 11. %m@%%ﬁ
On 26 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase E—-NENAZ_F~ EI K E
agreement to dispose of the entire equity interests in Best I F.Tjj%i EMEEERRNAEESD

Sky, a direct wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company at a
total consideration of HK$34,680,000. The Best Sky Group
was engaged in constructing landscaping projects and earth-
rock engineering, maintenance engineering business and
planting and selling forest trees and flowers. The disposal
was completed on 1 November 2018, on which date the
Company'’s control over the Best Sky Group ceased.

Gain/(loss) from discontinued operation is analysed as follows:

Loss from the Best Sky Group ZTZ%E B/ E R

BB ARZERZ B %@REZ%
34,680,000 7T - EREEFENE
REXCIRERLEATIRRER
HEUA KB E Ko 3F B AR AR N EETE
HEFEER T /\F+—H—H
SERK + R B AR R B B 2R R 18 7 12
AL -

BRI EEBO WS (BE) D
mr

2019
—T-NF
HK$'000
FrET

(712)

Gain on disposal of the Best Sky Group HEXXEERN K E (Hi235)

(note 35)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued)

11.

The results of the discontinued operation are as follows:

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross loss
Administrative expenses

Loss before tax
Income tax

Gain on disposal of discontinued operation

Profit for the discontinued operation

Profit for the period from discontinued operation

attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Non-controlling interests

Earnings per share
Basic and diluted

TTHF X

B B A 85 18
Pt

AT B 2 14
R
ENTE ZPN
SEpE AR 2

SREF
ESt

RIERERR (B)

RIMRERBREWT

BRI H A ]

HARERBRDA —

=
=

Period from
1 April
2018 to

1 November
2018
—E—N\F
mMA—HZE
—E-)N\F
+—A—H
EAfE
HK$'000
FET

(161)
(161)
(551)

(712)

(712)
6,016

5,304

5,657
(353)
5,304

0.24 HK cents Il

Nh——E-TEFER
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RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

11. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (continued) 11, RIEREEK (8)

Profit from discontinued operation has been arrived at after B E TR &= A T

charging: HBEY

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment M - BB REETE
Staff costs (excluding directors’ remuneration) BETRA(TBEEZEENE)
— Salaries and other benefits —H N R B AR

R AT %

Period from
1 April
2018 to

1 November
2018
—E-N\F
mMA—H=ZE
—T-NF
+—A—H
HAfE
HK$'000
FHET

387

53

Cash flows of the discontinued operation were as follows: RIPREEBHB S RN -

Net cash used in operating activities REEBER S FE

Net cash outflow W& mF5E

Period from
1 April
2018 to

1 November
2018
—E-N\F
MA—HB=
—E—N\F
+—A—H
HAfE
HK$'000
FHET

(2,949)

(2,949)

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities of the Best Sky FREENEEBPNEERBER
Group at the date of disposal are disclosed in note 35 to the EERGRE M EHRERMIISHKE -

consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020

BHE
12.

EoFF= A= AULFR

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

Directors’ remuneration:

— fees

— salaries and other allowances

— retirement benefits scheme

EEFW
~#%
~ %% REAER

N RIS A

contributions

Others employees (excluding
directors):
— salaries and other benefits
— contributions to defined

contribution retirement benefits

schemes

(@) Directors’ emoluments

HEE (TREESE):

~ 5 REMIET
— RE IR AIBF

BE!

Directors’ emoluments for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, is as follows:

2020

Executive directors:
Ms. Yang Wei

Mr. Zhang Yangiang
Mr. Gu Zhonghai'

Non-executive director:
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky

Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Chung Koon Yan
Dr. Yang Fuyu
Ms. Zhao Yongmei

WTESE:
Bt
RARITE
BRBRE

FRTES
REBLZL

BUFHITES

EERLE
BEMRELT
w2t

12. EERAMAX

2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
1,742 1,497
- 353

13 13
1,755 1,863
11,590 3,838
480 193
12,070 4,031

(a) EEFHM

RIEEAGEM LR A & B
REMEGIBEBENFRNESTHES W

T
—E-EF
Retirement
Salaries benefit
and other scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
ek BRIREF
we H A2k B #ar
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET FET FET
240 - - 240
650 - - 650
232 - - 232
260 - 13 273
120 - - 120
120 - - 120
120 - - 120
1,742 - 13 1,755

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

12. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(@) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

2019

Executive directors:
Ms. Yang Wei
Mr. Zhang Yangiang

Non-executive director:
Ms. Ng Mui King, Joky

Independent non-executive
directors:
Mr. Chan Ying Cheong?
Mr. Chung Koon Yan
Dr. Yang Fuyu
Ms. Zhao Yongmei

Notes:

HITEE
Bl L
R

FRITES:
REBRUL

BUFNTES:

RESLAL?
BERSLLE
mEMEL
LS X ogu

12. EERAAXZ(E)

@) EEHM(E)

—E-NF

Retirement

Salaries benefit

and other scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total

ek RRIEF)
we HA2ah FFEIfR BEt
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FEr FEr
240 - - 240
600 333 - 933
240 20 13 273
57 - - 57
120 - - 120
120 - - 120
120 - - 120
1,497 353 13 1,863

1 Mr. Gu Zhonghai was appointed as an executive director

on 9 August 2019.

2 Mr. Chan Ying Cheong resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 21 September 2018.

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office. None of the directors has
waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in both years.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020

BHE
12.

—E_TF=A=t+—HILFE

EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2019: two) are directors of the Company
whose emoluments are set out above. The emoluments
of the remaining three (2019: three) highest paid
individuals are as follows:

Salaries and other allowances Fre R EAMEL,
Retirement benefits scheme RARAE FFTEIEH R
contributions

The number of non-director highest paid individuals
whose remuneration within the following band is as
follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000

During the year, no emoluments were paid by the
Group to any of the five highest paid individuals as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
compensation for loss of office (2019: nil).

(c) At the end of the reporting period, there was no forfeited
contribution, which arose upon employees leaving the
retirement benefits scheme and which are available to
reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

Z % 1,000,000 % 7T

12. EERAMAXZ(E)

(b)) EEERBEFAL
AEERAGZSHFALEEAR
AMA(ZE-NF MA)E
EOEFMERNLEX -HT=%

“E-NF ZR)BEEFAL
ZFHBaT

2020 2019
—g-®F —ZT-AF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
2,142 1,361

13 61

2,155 1,422

HBNF NI BEZEERR
FMALZEBWMT

Number of individuals

A
2020 2019
—g-®F —TNF
3 3

FAAEELRAEFNAEK
= AL HERIEB - (ERWR
Sl E MBS MBEAREEIR 2 82
B ERBREE (T -NF:
&) -

) RNBEHEEER  TELER
Wz sk - BRI E &R
HARREAEEIMESL - WA A
PR B FE A 2 R -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

13.

14.

DIVIDEND

No final dividend was paid or proposed during the year, nor
any dividend has been proposed by the board of directors
subsequent to the end of the reporting period (2019: nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss
Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company for the

&8

purpose of basic and diluted loss FAEE
per share
Number of shares BB E

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic and
diluted loss per share

ma -

The calculation of diluted loss per share does not assume the
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options and the
conversion of the Company’s outstanding convertible notes
as they had an anti-dilutive effect to the basic loss per share
for the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. The basic and
diluted loss per share are the same for both years.
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13.

14.

ET EERERN N EER
mE  AREER AEN

[ g=\

P4 A0 4 TR 1 3K A2 B UK 1 R H AR
B RREHRREFENERZIR
THEABRE (ZT—NF : &) -

BRER
REFBACEXRBRAULCERE
ARREE ARG TRERRESE
BIERATSEAE

st EERERNNEEER
T A R I 8

2020 2019
—g-8F —T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
(31,739) (16,783)
'000 000

T T
2,374,783 2,368,936

BE_Z-_ZFRK-_F—NF=A
=+—HIEEE  FFESREEEE
TR AR R M ARITE B B A i R &
TEREAERN AR EEREE
B REAAKSEHSRAELAEEAR
BEWE - RZMEFERN  §KRE
ARESEEEMRR -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE
14. LOSS PER SHARE (continued)

From continuing operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share

attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Loss EiE

Loss for the year attributable to
owners of the Company for the
purpose of basic and diluted loss
per share

FREE

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used herein
are same as those detailed above for the purpose of basic
and diluted loss per share from continuing and discontinued
operations respectively.

From discontinued operation

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

Profit Y F

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the
Company for the purpose of basic and diluted
earnings per share

The weighted average number of ordinary shares used herein
are same as those detailed above for the purpose of basic and
diluted earnings per share from continuing and discontinued
operations respectively.

e EERERN B EER
mE - AREEER AEN

14. SREEB (8)

REFECERE
ARREE ARG TRERRESE
BIERATBIETE -

2020 2019
—B-FF  —TF
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET TFET
(31,739) (22,440)

ARG ERBFELERE MR LE
REXGNEREANBEERM
5 LR EAe T E R R EE
B E A E R o

B B AR UL A T
AATEEARIEERERREER
A TR A T B -

2019
—E-NF
HK$'000
FET

RAEEREARBERNTE -
2 YNGE ZON Y

5,657

ARG ERBIFEEEEE IR
REXBNERERNLREERNM
5 HERERMINEFSERKEE
B FERR e

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RE B RS R AR B R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

15. LAND USE RIGHTS 15. T HbE R
HK$'000
FHET

Cost: A
At 1 April 2018 W-E—N\EFEMA—H 6,253
Exchange alignment PE A% (406)
At 31 March 2019 RZZT—hF=A=+—8 5,847
Accumulated amortisation: Rt -
At 1 April 2018 R-ZZE-—N\FWMA—H 77
Amortisation charge during the year FREIHFX 83
Exchange alignment b 5 3 (5)
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—-NF=A=+—H 155
Carrying amounts: FREE :
At 31 March 2019 R_ZE-hF=A=+—8H 5,692
The land use rights of the Group are located in the PRC with REB T HERECNFE - 2T
the remaining leasehold period of 63 years. HEHRBEIFE -
Upon application of HKFRS 16 on 1 April 2019, the land use RZE-—NENA—BEBEENE
rights were reclassified as right-of-use assets (note 16). WELAFE165 T FERAEEN

g RiEMEEE (HE16) -
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A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

The land use rights of the Group are located in the PRC with
the remaining period of 62 years.

For both years, the Group leases various offices premises
for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed
term of one year to four years, but may have extension and
termination options as described below. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of HK$3,776,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of HK$8,840,000 as at 31
March 2020. The lease agreements do not impose any
covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets
that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

16. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 16. ERAEEE
Land use Office
right premises Total
T fEAE W AWE F
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
At 1 April 2019 R-ZB—hEMA—H
Carrying amount AREE 5,692 2,086 7,778
At 31 March 2020 RZEBEZEHF
=B=+-—H
Carrying amount REE 5,250 3,590 8,840
For the year ended BE-Z-%F
31 March 2020 ZA=+—HILEE
Depreciation charge TEER (80) (1,433) (1,513)
Exchange alignment bE A (362) (57) (419)
Expense relating to short-term EACBAERBEBERER
leases and other leases with FERB BT IEHRE LERE
lease terms end within 12 16552 BRy 128 A g
months of the date of initial MEEMFEENR
application of HKFRS 16 436
Total cash outflow for leases HERS RN RR 1,935
Addition to right-of-use assets RNECRAEEE 2,994

AEBH T MELRAE - 8 T
HR R 62 -

RzMmEFE  AEERE2EHE
ZEMAEYE - HEAHHEEH
RAS—FEMF - MRl AA T XA
REHA R 4% 11 SR 12 1 o R B R BKIR(E A
EBERER - HASENR 0GR
fF o PR E T HA S R 3 A A J8EH 4 5
RER - AEBRAA KN EREILTE
ERKARHIMITHFER -

HERFIHEHE
I RZE-_EF=A=+—H®

RME | (E3,776,00078 7T & REE
FH # & 8,840,000 7T ° Br A
BENHEEEMNRB#SIN  AE
eI A EINEMRE  HEEET
1S FAER KR -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. M%¥ - BERRE
Furniture,
Bearer Leasehold fixtures and Motor
plant  improvements equipment vehicles Total
B %E
EEREN  HENEEE K&t RE @t
HK$000 HKS 000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET TET
Cost: A
At1 April 2018 RZE-\FEA-A 10,957 59 5,130 312 16,458
Additions NE - - 10 - 10
Disposal of subsidlaries HENBATF
(hote 35) (Ht35) - - (4,340) (113) (4,459)
Exchange alignment 5 R (711) - (497) (25) (1,233)
At31March2019andat ~ R=E—N%F
1 Apri 2019 ZA=T-Bk
“E-NENA-A 10,246 59 303 174 10,782
Additions RE - 357 76 - 433
Exchange alignment 7R (655) 6) ®) (11) (680)
At 31 March 2020 R-BZEE
ZR=+-H 9,591 410 3n 163 10,535
Accumulated depreciation: 5% :
At 1 April 2018 WZE-\EMA—AH 1,897 4 1,327 180 3,445
Charged for the year REEMR 2,042 15 429 39 2,525
Disposal of subsidlaries HERBATF
(hote 35) (H35) - - (1,399) (32) (1431)
Exchange alignment AR (116) - (139) (13) (268)
At31March2019andat  R=E—N4F
1 Apri 2019 ZA=T-BR
“E-NENA-A 3,823 56 218 174 4,21
Charged for the year TEENR 2,221 73 57 - 2,351
Exchange alignment 5 R (286) (1) 1) (1) (305)
At 31 March 2020 R-B-EF
ZR=+-H 5,758 128 268 163 6,317
Carrying amounts: REE:
At 31 March 2020 RZB-%F
ZA=t+-H 3,833 282 103 - 4,218
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE
=R=1—-H 6,423 3 85 - 6,511
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY
The Group leases out various retail stores under operating
leases with rentals payable monthly. The leases typically run
for an initial period of one to four years, with unilateral rights
to extend the lease beyond initial period held by lessees only.
Maijority of the lease contracts contain market review clauses
in the event the lessee exercises the option to extend.

All lease arrangements are denominated in RMB. The lease
contracts do not contain lessee’s option to purchase the
property at the end of lease term.

At 1 April 2018

Exchange alignment PE 5, 8 28

R-T—N\FMmMA—H

18. REWE
AREERBRELHESEETEEE
B SARNES - HE—RY
A —ENE  BE TAMBEAEE
EFBRENVREETER - KD
&S YA AR AITEERETR
BN TSR R o
FTERELZHUAREAE -HEA

MY ARBEEAFAAREREREEE

P EERYIRIBE o

HK$°000
FET

63,789
(4,140)

At 31 March 2019 and at 1 April 2019 R-ZE—AF=A=+—H8BxK

—ET-NFHEA—H
Loss arising from change in fair value A {EZBELKEIR
Exchange alignment ME W, B

At 31 March 2020

The Group’s investment property was held for lease to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation purpose are measured using
the fair value model and are classified and accounted for
as investment property. The Group’s investment property is
located in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

R-B-®F=A=+-8

59,649
(1,929)
(3,789)

53,931

AEEREERENRRRESHE
AFEENNREMEEREARF
EEAFELASBERLARARKEY
X AKBHOREMEMNTE IR
RHEORS -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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Cost:
At 1 April

Disposal of subsidiaries (note 35)

At 31 March

Accumulated impairment:

At 1 April

Impairment loss recognised
Eliminated on disposal of subsidiaries

At 31 March

Carrying amounts:

At 31 March

10. &

B

R A—H
HEWB AR (#aL35)
R=A=+—H
RETREE :
REA—H
ERERHREEE
& B A R BT IR 3
R=A=+—H
ARMEE :
R=A=+—H

Goodwill acquired was allocated for impairment testing

purposes to the following CGU:

—  Yenbo Gain (Forestry business segment)
— Best Sky (Landscaping and earth-rock engineering

business segment)
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19. GOODWILL

2020 2019
—g-BF —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
9,257 49,996

- (40,739)

9,257 9,257
9,257 10,480

- 9,257

- (10,480)

9,257 9,257

o

==

B (MEXRBDER)
ROERFEEERETATIEZE
X% 8

UREAEME  rREREE SR
ENNRESELEN
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A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

19. GOODWILL (continued) 19. & (&)

Yenbo Gain BEF

During the year ended 31 March 2019, an impairment loss HE_T-NF=ZA=1+—HILFE
of approximately HK$9,257,000 was recognised in the HY Rk 1B B9 18 %9 9,257,000 7 T Jh I 4R
consolidated statement of profit or loss. The impairment was BERERABR - HETEARLEH
mainly due to macro business environment uncertainty and HMERBEIAPAIMEERFRT
downturn demand of forestry products. Management have e Al BEEABREBBHRNE
therefore adjusted their expected profit forecast to reflect the AIA R BR il R RAFE -

impact of the abovementioned factors.

20. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 20. BHEHEWE
HK$'000
FET
At 1 April 2018 RZE—N\FEWMA—H 95,971
Additions NE 96
Exchange alignment b 5 F 2 (6,450)
At 31 March 2019 and at 1 April 2019 RZE—NAF=ZA=+—8B&®
—E-NFHEA—H 89,617
Addition NE 203
Written down R (1,947)
Exchange alignment b 5 F 2 (5,708)
At 31 March 2020 R-Z-ZH=ZA=+-—H 82,165
The properties held for sale at 31 March 2020 and 2019 are R-_E_ZTZFERN_ZT—AFE=ZA
located in the PRC. =+—H FEHEWELNPE -
21. INVENTORIES 21. FE
2020 2019
—B-EF —ZT-hF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Finished goods RIAX i 23 -
Inventories are expected to be recovered within one year. BEHFEHR —FRIKE -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS 22.
Fair value ~EE
At 1 Apri M A—A
Increases due to plantation 18 A& i 3 0
Decrease due to harvest B R w2
(Loss)/gain from changes in fair value /X - & % &)l H & Ak A
less costs to sell Fifs (B518) e
Exchange alignment TE 3 3 &
At 31 March R=A=+—H
Less: non-current portion of W EMEEMERBE D

biological assets

-

Current portion mBNER S

pa g

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group harvested
approximately of 670,000 catties (2019: 580,000 catties) of
chinese herbal. The directors measured the fair value less
costs to sell by income approach based on discounted cash
flow model.

The Group’s biological assets represent the growing populus
alba var. pyramidalis and chinese herbals as follows:

Populus alba var. pyramidalis es
Chinese herbals AL
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EMEE
2020 2019
—g-®FE -—T-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
45,972 46,542
4,050 4,925
(4,286) (4,296)
(5,784) 823
(1,469) (2,022)
38,483 45,972
37,344 42,346
1,139 3,626

HE-_Z-_EF=-A=+—HBIt#F
E - AEBEWKE 4670,000F (=ZF
— L4 : 580,000 /1) R Z&Hf - EEHIR
BRRRERERNKABKRAET 2

AFERE EHA -

AEENEYEERKRENFES K

RS BTN PR

2020 2019
—g-®F -—T-AF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHT
37,344 41,919
1,139 4,053
38,483 45,972
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A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-ZF-A=1T—HLHFE

22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued) 22, £YEE (&)
The quantity of biological assets at the end of reporting period REmERRNEMEEREN TR

were as follows:

AEBHEYEERB L EXEER

Populus
alba var. Chinese
pyramidalis herbals Total
HER B Mt
‘000 ‘000 ‘000
T T T
At 31 March 2020 R-B-FHF
=RA=+-—H 200 446 646
At 31 March 2019 R-ZZE—NEF
=A=+—H 220 1,746 1,966
The Group’s biological assets were valued by independent RZZEZEF=A=+—HHE -2
professional valuers at 31 March 2020. The independent HEE 2 BIESEHEMRERER
professional valuers involved in this valuation included a KEFTAZEMEE (IMRICS]) v &2
professional member of the Royal Institution of Chartered 28 RHEREBHEERZEEM
Surveyors (“MRICS”) and have appraisal experience in a broad B PDEVEEE £DEE-
range of assets such as property assets, biological assets, BEEMEE BMEERSREE -

mining rights and assets, technological assets and financial
assets in the PRC and Hong Kong.

All biological assets are categorised as Level 3 in fair value FIBEMEERATERBRPHER
hierarchy. Details of valuation methodology used is disclosed FE=H e ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬁxﬁﬁ\ TR AR
in note 42 to the consolidated financial statements. B IR E42 -

HRERBERLFR —T—N-—FT_TFEFR

w
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mE

For the

B R ¥R R MY AT

year ended 31 March 2020

HE-Z-BF=A=T—AILFE
22. BIOLOGICAL ASSETS (continued)

Th

e Group is exposed to a number of risks related to its

plantations as follows:

(1)

2

3)

4)

Regulatory and environmental risks

The Group is subject to laws and regulations in the
jurisdiction in which it operates. The Group has
established environmental policies and procedures
aimed at compliance with local environmental and other
laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify
environmental risks and to ensure that the systems in
place are adequate to manage those risks.

Supply and demand risks

The Group is exposed to risks arising from fluctuations
in the price and sales volume. Where possible the
Group manages this risk by aligning its harvest volume
to market supply and demand. Management performs
regular industry trend analysis to ensure that the Group’s
pricing structure is in line with the market and to ensure
that projected harvest volumes are consistent with the
expected demand.

Climate and other risks

The Group’s plantations are exposed to the risk of
damage from climatic changes, diseases, forest fires and
other natural forces. The Group has extensive processes
in place aimed to minimise those risks, including regular
forest health inspections and industry pest and disease
surveys.

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risks arising from changes
in prices. The Group does not anticipate that the prices
of populus alba var. pyramidalis and chinese herbals will
decline significantly in the foreseeable future. The Group
reviews its outlook for chinese herbals prices regularly in
considering the need for active price risk management.
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NFR

EERRERR

REBAETHEEMRERDEE
@B HPERIOER - AEBEHIE
REBREER  WETEH
R REAMARE - EEEETE
HRaT - ABRIREE R - 3
REAFHIRERAEEZFRER -

HRER
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HHRAR - AEEEAIRENER
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WEEEZRR - BEEETE
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1t &m - RN L R EMBE A
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% BT BARMGE AR R 1T
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A MR R AR MY R

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-ZF-A=1T—HLHFE

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables JRE L BR 3R

Less: Allowance for credit losses B 15 EE R E
Other receivables Hin e Llﬁl
Prepayments TR

Deposits Ee

Note:

() At 31 March 2019, HK$34,680,000 of other receivables
represents the consideration receivable for the disposal of equity
interests in the Best Sky Group to Mr. Ng Wah Pang (“Mr. Ng”).
The amount was settled during the year ended 31 March 2020.

(i) At 31 March 2020 and 2019, prepayments mainly represented
the amounts paid to suppliers.

@iy At 31 March 2020, other receivables of approximately
HK$4,057,000 represented contribution receivable from non-
controlling interests.

The following is an aging analysis of trade receivables,
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates the
respective revenue recognition dates and net of allowance for
credit losses:

Within 3 months =EAA
3 months — 6 months =@ A =~1EA
Over 6 months B i@ 7S E A

23. EWIRA K H it EW K

2020 2019

—ECEF —E-NF

notes HK$°000 HK$’000
it FET FET
51,828 48,716
(565) (129)

51,263 48,587

(), (i) 22,004 35,406
(i 82,775 56,798

821 591

156,863 141,382

#fit -

i) RZE—NFZA=+—H: &
JfE Ui 3k T8 34,680,000 78 TT /A& [A) R
e ([REEDHEXREER
EZERRE BHE_T_ZTF=
A=+—RLLFE SEEEH-

iy RZEZTFR-_ZZF—-NF=A
=+—H BERNREBEZERIZINT
HEBNESRE -

iy RZZTE_TF=-A=+—8 Eit
JE Uk FXIE 49 4,057,000 78 Tt A FE U JE
HX*‘E /£§°

AN BRI REER
SRNEEE- N ﬁEmEIHHifH 1) I 31

BREEBEEERY
2020 2019
—E-EF —T—-hEF
HK$’000 HK$°000
FET FET
39,947 46,699
8,247 1,888
3,069 -
51,263 48,587

HRERBERLFR —T—N-—FT_TFEFR
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE_Z_TF=A=1+—HILLFE
23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

24,

The average credit period granted to customers is 6 months
after an invoice has been sent out.

At 31 March 2020, trade receivables of approximately
HK$35,073,000 (2019: HK$45,703,000) is due from the
Group’s largest customer.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other

receivables for the year ended 31 March 2020 are set out in
note 41 to the consolidated financial statements.

CASH AND BANK DEPOSITS

HK$ BTT

United States Dollar (“USD”) E (%))
Euro Dollar (“Euro”) Bt ([BTl)
Renminbi (‘RMB”) AR (TAR%]D)

RMB is currently not a freely convertible currency in the
international market. The conversion of RMB into foreign
currencies and remittance of RMB out of the PRC are subject
to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control
promulgated by the PRC government.

At 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and bank deposits
denominated in RMB of approximately HK$9,400,000 (2019:
HK$4,094,000). The remittance of these funds out of the PRC
is subject to the exchange control restrictions imposed by the
PRC government.
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23.

24,

e LAt Bl iR I Lt P WK R (48
BRYEPZVFHAEERRABRLERR
/\f.ﬂ

R-E-TFE=ZA=+—H A&EH
FEW S A F 2 ZIB L) 435,073,000
BT (ZZE— 5 1 45,703,000 7T) ©

BE-_ZT-_THFE_A=-1THILHFE
MWE 5 N E AL RESORREEFS
N BB mRM T4

ReERIBITER
2020 2019
—g-®E  —T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
3,645 27,877
104 434
136 -
9,400 4,004
13,285 32,405

ARBREILIFEFEMSE/mERZ
B ARBHIBMEINE LB ARE
PE R B 7R X P B 8 2 SMNEE
AR Bl FOERR IR R

RZZEZTF=R=+—0 ' A5H
EHEUAARBFENR S RIRTHT
F#4]9,400,000/8 T (Z & — N F -
4,004,000 7C) ° IR BEIE R ZEE
THETRREBNAETHINEEER
il o
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RE B mRMHMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables
Other payables (Note)
Accruals

JEAT BRK
Hoh JE A5 5KOR (A 72)
fERT &M

An aging analysis of the trade payables is as follows:

Within 3 months
Over 3 months but within 1 year
Over 1 year

=@EAR
B=EABE—FNR
B—F

The credit period on purchase of goods and services ranged

from 30 days to 365 days.

Note: Other payables mainly include the followings:

()  the amount due to ex-director of the Company and a
director of the Company’s subsidiaries of approximately of
HK$2,500,000 and HK$1,692,000 (2019: HK$2,500,000
and HK$1,692,000) respectively which are repayable on
demand, unsecured and interest-free; and

(i) amounts of approximately HK$7,291,000 represented
advances from third parties which are repayable within
one year, unsecured and bear interest of 12% per annum.

25, ENERERREtESTE

2020 2019
e L
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T FHT
32,111 48,204
22,851 10,939
1,599 946
56,561 60,089
AR BRR ST
2020 2019
—g-®F —T-AF
HK$°000 HK$'000
F#T FET
1,858 47,925
30,253 -
- 279
32,111 48,204

BEEMmMARBNEESNN FI0E
365H -

Wit - BEfbENSRRETERENTEE:

) EAHARANETESERERARD
AIMBARIESHES BN
2,500,000 7% 7T & 1,692,000 7%
JL(ZZ— 1% : 2,500,000/
7L % 1,692,000/ 7T) * %A
BIEE(EE EERR RS
P54

iy & F#7,291,000% JTIE K B
FEZF2BF AR—FANE
B EERRIRFENE12%ET

=1
o

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

26.

27.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Provision of mobile advertising media
services

When the Group receives deposit before providing advertising
display services, this will give rise to contract liabilities at the
start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the relevant
contract exceeds the amount of the deposit. The Group
typically receives a deposit on acceptance of a contract.

Substantially all the contract liabilities at the beginning of the
years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 have been recognised
as revenue during the respective financial reporting period
as the Group will normally provide the services to satisfy the
remaining performance obligations of the relevant contract
liabilities within one year or less.

The Group classifies these contract liabilities as current
because the Group expects them to be settled in normal
operating cycle within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period.

AMOUNTS DUE TO DIRECTORS/RELATED
COMPANIES/NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS/A
SHAREHOLDER

The amounts due to directors/related companies/non-
controlling interests are non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand. Included in amounts due to
non-controlling interests with the amounts of approximately
HK$1,130,000 (2019: HK$1,282,000) related to consideration
payable for acquisition of Zhifeng Holdings Limited (“Zhifeng”).

The amount due to a shareholder is non-trade nature,
unsecured, interest-free and has no fixed repayment terms.
The amount which the shareholder has no intention to demand
for repayment within 12 months after the reporting period and
is classified as non-current liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

28. LEASE LIABILITIES 28. HEAME
At 31 March 2020, the Group had lease liabilities repayable as RZE-ZTF=ZA=+—H ~%£E
follows: EEENHEESENT
2020
—E-EF
Present
value of the Total
minimum minimum
lease lease
payments payments
BREHAESR BREAESXK
ZHE b
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Within one year —F R 1,745 1,903
After one year but within two years —FRIEXMEA 2,031 2,164
3,776 4,067
Less: total future interest expenses B ARIRH B B (291)
Present value of lease liabilities MEgGBEIRE 3,776
Less: Amount due for settlement B 1218 A AR BRI B 4
within 12 months (shown BEHNEE(RRBEaE
under current liabilities) B TIR) (1,745)
Amount due for settlement after 12 1218 A& 2B B 458 /9
months (shown under non-current S (RIERBEEETY
liabilities) ~) 2,031
Lease obligations are mainly denominated in HK$. HEFREETZAABITFE -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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ARE IR RMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-ZF-A=+T—HLHFE

29. CONVERTIBLE NOTES 29. TRRRE

The movements in the liability component of the Group’s
convertible notes are set out below:

At 1 April KU H—H
Imputed interests (note 8) wWENE (HE8)
Conversion of convertible notes B2 AR AR B AR
At 31 March R=A=+—H

Convertible Notes issued on 30 March 2015

On 30 March 2015, the Company issued zero coupon
convertible notes with an aggregate face value of
HK$110,000,000 (the “Convertible Notes”) to not less than six
subscribers who are independent third parties. The Convertible
Notes is unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable upon
maturity which is the fifth anniversary of the date of issue. The
holders of the Convertible Notes have the right at any time
during the conversion period to convert the whole or part of
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes into
ordinary shares of the Company at an adjusted conversion
price of HK$0.08 per share (adjustment of conversion price as
detailed in the Company’s announcement dated 15 October
2015). The Convertible Notes are denominated in HK$ and are
shown under current liabilities at 31 March 2019.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the convertible
notes with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$32,774,000 were converted into 410,000,000 new shares
of the Company at the conversion price of HK$0.08 per share.

The Convertible Notes are compound financial instruments
containing two components, liability and equity elements. The
fair value of the liability component was calculated using the
discounted cash flows method at a market interest rate for the
equivalent non-convertible note. The effective interest rate of
the liability component on initial recognition is approximately
14%. The equity component was stated at its fair value using
the Binomial Tree Pricing Model and included under the
heading “Convertible notes equity reserve”.
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2020 2019

—_ 7 — ﬂE — EE _j-l.rf'z
HK$’000 HK$000
FET FET
30,215 27,817
2,559 2,398
(32,774) -
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B ¥R FE-NAF=ZA=+—HK
MENBEYR -
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AR EEZHBRESR008E T
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

30. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

At 1 April 2018 RZZE—N\FEHAH—H

Credited to the consolidated FFALGREERE
statement of profit or loss (K1z#10)
(note 10)
Exchange alignment ME H 8 &
At 31 March 2019 and R-Z—NEF
1 April 2019 =A=+—8k
—ZET-NFHEA—H
Credited to the consolidated FFAGZEERE
statement of profit or loss (K1at10)
(note 10)
Exchange alignment bE B
At 31 March 2020 R-ZBE-ZHF
=A=+—H

As at 31 March 2020, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of cumulative tax losses of approximately
HK$53,635,000 (2019: HK$35,474,000) as it is not probable if
there will be future taxable profits against which the losses can
be utilised. No deferred tax asset has been recognised due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The unrecognised
tax losses could be carried forward indefinitely except for the
tax losses arising in the PRC will expire in one to five years for

offsetting against future taxable profits.

30. EERIEERE

Fair value on
investment Convertible
property notes Total
REWMEZ
NEE TRBRE #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
(21,083) (813) (21,896)
- 391 391
1,368 - 1,368
(19,715) (422) (20,137)
482 422 904
1,255 - 1,255
(17,978) - (17,978)

R-ZB-_TFE=F=+—H @R
K A] B AR SR B SR A5 4 A0) LA #5585 mT 4

A2 HIEEE

R 5 B 3 L R

=+ % 78 B 48 4953,635,000 (Z & — f,
F 1 35,474,000 7T) HERIE LT 18
BE BmREEGTEEZZERN )
MEBERRECHRIEEE - RERMIE
EIETERPAE  ERENRTEE
AR AR S R R B RR B R A 2 R TE &S

BERAR—Z=RFRIIH -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BAK
2020 2019 2020 2019
“ECEFE —T-NF ZBIEE —TNF
Nominal Nominal
Number of ~ Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary ordinary
shares shares shares shares
LER Tak EEkRz  ETake
RO EE R 2B HE HE
‘000 ‘000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FR T FET FET
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2018, at 31 March 2019, R-E-N\FRA—8:
at 1 April 2019 and at 31 March —ET-AF=A=t-H"
2020 at HK$0.01 each “E-NEMA-AR
“ECEFZA=+—H"
BREE0ET 30,000,000 30,000,000 300,000 300,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRME
At 1 April REA—H 2,368,936 2,368,936 23,689 23,689
Shares issued on conversion of RERTRREEBITHRD
Convertible Notes 410,000 - 4,100 -
At 31 March R=A=+—H 2,778,936 2,368,936 27,789 23,689

Note: During the year ended 31 March 2020, several Convertible
Notes holders exercised their conversion rights attached to
the Convertible Notes with an aggregate principal amount of
approximately HK$32,774,000 to convert into 410,000,000
ordinary shares of the Company at an adjusted conversion

price of HK$0.08 per share.

32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities at
the end of reporting period (2019: nil).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

2012 Share Option Scheme

In order to enable the continuity of share option available to
be granted by the Company, an ordinary resolution had been
proposed to and passed by the shareholders at the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 3 August 2012 to
adopt a new share option scheme (the “2012 Share Option
Scheme”) upon the termination of the share option scheme
adopted at the annual general meeting of the Company held
on 2 August 2002.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme enables the Company to
grant options to selected persons to subscribe for shares in
the Company as incentives or rewards for their contributions
or potential contributions to the Group. The Board may, at
its discretion, invite (i) any director or any employee of the
Company, any of its subsidiaries or any invested entity; (ii)
any holder of legal or beneficial title of any securities issued
by any member of the Group or any invested entity; (iii) any
business or joint venture partner, contractor, subcontractor,
agent, sub-agent of the Group or any invested entity; (iv)
any person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional services to any member of the Group or any
invested entity; and (v) any supplier of goods or services,
customer or distributor of the Group or any invested entity, to
take up options to subscribe for the shares in the Company
for a consideration of HK$10 per each lot of share options
granted.

The 2012 Share Option Scheme is valid for a period of 10
years commencing on 3 August 2012. The option period shall
not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of option. There is
no minimum period for which an option must be held before
it can be exercised. HK$10 is payable on acceptance of an
option within 28 days from the date of grant. The total number
of shares in respect of which options may be granted under
the 2012 Share Option Scheme must not in aggregate exceed
10% of the shares in issue as at the date of adoption of the
2012 Share Option Scheme or the date of approval by the
shareholders in general meeting where the limit is refreshed.

33.

B ST E
—E-—FERETE
BEARARAEERDERE BER
—E-—ENA=ZRETZAATRK
HBEFRG LMRRIZE2ZIEREB
BEBRBER  URNRIEARARFE
EE-_FNAZBRITZRERFX
RN ERETEIE - RS
MR &I ([ T — —FHEE ) -

B —E - FEREREEARRDF
BEREERETIEEATRBARAQF
B EAREHAEEELEBK
BEER 2 EESRM -  EEgA
BEE - (AR EWEKBAR
AR EFE 2 TR E SR TAE
8 (i) AN EEAKE AR S ERE
BERMBTAMNESFZETRER
FrBERZEMFEA A ()RS B
R EER Z EREBKEEEE
B A -OBEB RE- 2R
B (aAEBTMRKE QR KT
I EEREIREMRT ARSI EMR
i ST B ST EAR ~ S B E R
ZHEMALRER : RvAEERE
AR E B 2 MRS 2 e
B BEPSSHEE UEBFRHEBR
B1I0BTZRE BEMAREAL
IR 2 RS AR HE o

TR —FERETEER T ——
FNAZHBET T+ FHARERK - B
RPEAREBREZ AR TR
BB+ F - RITHEBRENTERE
EEHAH - ERREBREE R
“+NBARAZMI0BTIAER—H
B - BIE T — —FERETE
AL CERESRBRDBRE &
HABHBB T — —FHEIRET 2T
MBS IR E RS HEE T
PREHZEBEITIRD10% °
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2012 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted and to be granted to each
individual in any twelve month period up to and including the
date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue at the
date of grant unless approval from Company’s shareholders
has been obtained. Options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates in excess of
0.1% of the total number of shares in issue or with a value in
excess of HK$5 million must be approved in advance by the
Company'’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during the specified
option period. The exercise price shall be determined by the
directors, and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s shares on the date of grant; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company’s shares. The maximum
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options granted and yet to be exercised under the 2012 Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Company must not exceed 30% of the Company’s shares in
issue from time to time.
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 33. BREFE (&)

—E-_FERETE (B
BRIEES AR RIIREIE - REER
FHEE(BEEZA) EEN+ @A
HEARSEATEREREREZ
BRENTTERE BT RBEIT 2R
DA TEBBRREAREZE %
TRD1% - B TF ARG ETERERK
BYRTEETKRESAZHEA
T ERENBEE EITRGD AR
0.1% ° sk {& & 2 %1 5,000,000 7t °
BB ELEE AR B PRI -

fE IR P PN 4R E I AR BRI N BE RS 1T
FoTFEEARESETE 240AT
VZEFhrzeeE  (RELBHZ
RARIRMDUYTE : () BEEXLBH
AT A EE % B 2 AR ARG FH U™
B i) ARRBROEE - RIE-F
—ZFBREF B EA N B E R EAMA
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
HE-_T-TF-A=+—HILFE
33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
2012 Share Option Scheme (continued)
Movements in the number of share options outstanding and
their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

33. BMIRERTE ()
—E-CHEBRETE(E)
R ARTTRERE At 2 2B 2 8) i H ARk
IHEFITEELT -

No. of underlying shares comprised in option

T ARRERBRARE

At Granted  Exercised Lapsed  Cancelled  Outstanding
Exercise price 1 April during during during during  at31 March
Participants Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2019 the year the year the year the year 2020
RZ%-1% it Juk $3
S8t ik fis ShAEE MA-B  REARE RERGR  RERXY  WEREE ZAZ1-8
Employess of the Group 4 February 2016 4 February 201610 HK$0.264 33,600,000 - - (11,200,000 - 22,400,000
6 January 2026
F5EES TE-RECABR ZE-RECRMBE 084ET
“ERE-ARE
Consultants 4 February 2016 4 February 2016 o HKS0.264 78,400,000 - - - - 78,400,000
6 January 2026
L E-NECARR E-RECARAE 04T
ZECRE-ARE
112,000,000 - - (11,200000) - 100,800,000
Weighted average exercise price HKS0.264 - - - - HKS0.264
METHAER 026487 02647

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
2012 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Participants Date of grant Exercisable period
BEAL RiRH fiH
Employees of the Group 4 February 2016 4 February 2016 0
6 January 2026
F5EER “E-REZAmE ZE-RE-FREE
ZETCRE-ARE
Consuants 4 February 2016 4 February 2016 0
6 January 2026
Ef “E-REZARE ZE3-7ECFREE
EIRE-ARE

Weighted average exercise price

METIEE

Exercise price
per share

ERkE

HK80.264

0264 T

HK80.264

02645 T

33. BMIRMERTE (&)

—E-—EBERETE(E)

No. of underlying shares comprised in option

it NERE RBROG R

At Granted  Exercised lapsed  Canceled  Outstanding

1 Ao during during during duing &t 31 March

2018 the year the year the year the year 2019
RZZ-)\% RIT-NE
MA-B  REARL REARE  RERXR  REREE ZRz1-8
33,600,000 - - - - 33600000
78,400,000 - - - - 78400000
112,000,000 - - - - 112000000
HK30.264 - - - - HKS0264
02645870 026477

Except for 11,200,000 share options were lapsed during 31
March 2020, no other share options were granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled during the years ended 31 March 2020

and 2019.

At the end of the reporting period, the number of shares
in respect of which may be issued upon exercise of share
options granted and remain outstanding under the 2012
Share Option Scheme was 100,800,000 (2019: 112,000,000),
representing 3.63% (2019: 4.73%) of the shares of the

Company in issue at that date.
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RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under rules and regulations of the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group, in fund under the
control of trustees. The Group and its employees are each
required to contribute 5% of relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme.

The employees employed by the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefits schemes
operated by the PRC government. The PRC subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the retirement benefits schemes
based on a certain percentage of their payroll to fund the
benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to
these retirement benefits schemes is to make the required
contributions under the schemes.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 26 June 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement with Mr. Ng, pursuant to which the Group
agreed to sell, and Mr. Ng agreed to acquire, 51% of equity
interests in the Best Sky Group at cash consideration of
HK$34,680,000. The disposal was completed on 1 November
2018 and the net assets of Best Sky Group at the date of
disposal were as follows:

ERA(E

Consideration receivable

34.

35.

RARBREE
REBRBAGEAESF G2
RAINBROISHBEEERERREE
SEEARBNEE (RESFE]) -
BECHECEERARECEED
FEAE B2 HERAES - A&E
LEREBYBREBHF LA LZ5%
FSRTE R EIHEK -

XERTENBARZEE DT EK
i &8 2 B R B IR AR K@ A E 81 A
B -hEfBARARFEZETA
L ERKE A ET B ARIA B B F
@ e REBERZEFRKENGEZ
ME— B AETIRIB AT BIVE L PRZA R -

HEMEA R

RZZE—NENAZ+B KEH
HMREAFTUBEEHE Bt &%
ERENEMRELEREURESRE
34,680,000 T X R EE 2 51%
PR - HEEHER T —N\F+—
A—H%EK  EXREENEE A
BEFEDT :

HK$'000
T

34,680
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35. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

35. HEHBAE (&)

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was BAEFIEZEEREBBEIN:
lost:
HK$'000
FrET
Net assets disposed of: Fr E&EFE
Property, plant and equipment (note 17) Y - B NEE W T 17) 3,022
Gooadwill (note 19) e (HaiE19) 30,259
Trade and other receivables JrE L B 5% % L Ath i W 3R TE 4,608
Cash and bank deposits R MIRITHER 372
Trade and other payables JE 1< B 3K K L A BB 5 IR (12,155)
Non-controlling interests FE1E R B 5 2,038
Net assets disposed of FFHEEEFE 28,144
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries: HEMBAT ZWE :
HK$'000
FET
Consideration receivable R E 34,680
Add: Release of translation reserve e ERFEEED 30
Less: Net assets disposed of BT EEEFE (28,144)
Expenses related to disposal of HEEREEE@ANME
Best Sky Group (550)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries (note 77)  HEKB AT KWE (A1:£11) 6,016

Net cash outflow arising on disposal:

Consideration received

Less: Cash and bank deposits disposed of

Net cash outflow arising on disposal

HEREEZREREFHE

HK$°000

FET

AR (E -
W FTHERE RRITER @72
HERELEZRESREFHE (372)
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION 36. ¥BaH

Acquisition of Junteng International Limited (“Junteng”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Junteng Group”)

On 18 June 2019, Green Aprx Investment Ltd, a wholly-owned
subsidiary, entered into a subscription agreement in relating
to subscribe for 51% of the issued share capital in Junteng at
a total consideration of US$51 (equivalents to approximately
HK$1,000). Junteng is an investment holding company and
the principal activities of the Junteng Group is principally
engaged in provision of magazines publication in the PRC. The
acquisition was completed on 13 August 2019. The assets
acquired and liabilities assumed did not constitute a business
combination as defined in HKFRS 3 Business Combination
and therefore the acquisition was accounted for as assets
acquisition.

WIEERRERERAT (RED R
HEHHMBAT (B ((HREEE])
R_FBE—AEXXATNE " 2EHB
NRIBRBREBR AR LRER
FORNREBNBRESIETT(BE
R #91,0008 70) REHKES1%E %
TR - B AR E IR AR - Mk
BEBFEHERNPEREM D
RARTS - WIEBHER _Z—LEN
A+=8%K ERENEE KT
ENBBYTEXRELEAH(EER
BRUBEMELERNEIRELEH) -
Bt - WEEBARIEEERE -

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUKBAAHWEKBEEERERRZE
acquisition are as follows: EuT
HK$'000
FET
Trade and other receivables JrE L B 3R B L Ath i W 3R IE 1,612
Cash and bank deposits e MIRITHER 13
Non-controlling interests FEIE R M 5 247
Trade and other payables JFE A<F B SR K2 L A JE £~ R IE (645)
Amount due to shareholders JE AR R FRIE (1,313)
Fair value of net liabilities assumed I FREN A TE (86)
Net cash flow on acquisition of Junteng Group: WEREEERNE 2 REFE
HK$’000
FET
Cash consideration paid ENBRSRE 1
Less: cash and cash equivalent B BEREEIRE K&
acquired HeEED (13)
Net cash inflow WEMAFE (12)
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Acquisition of &I &K E 2R HH R A 7 (Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Information Technology Co., Ltd*) (“Shenzhen
Zhixunpai”) and its subsidiary (the “Shenzhen Zhixunpai
Group”)

On 12 December 2018, Wonderful Imagine Limited
(“Wonderful Imagine”), an indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, entered into a capital increase
agreement with two independent third parties that Wonderful
Imagine agreed to contribute RMB5,100,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$5,971,000) as share capital to Shenzhen
Zhixun, which represented 50.5% of the entire equity interests
in Shenzhen Zhixun. The Shenzhen Zhixunpai Group is
principally engaged in the provision of mobile advertising
media services for property market participants in the PRC.
The acquisition was completed on 1 February 2019. As such,
the Shenzhen Zhixunpai Group becomes subsidiaries of the
Company and the results of the Shenzhen Zhixunpai Group
are consolidated into the consolidated financial statements of
the Group.

Consideration

ENReRE

Cash consideration payable

Acquisition-related costs have been excluded from the
consideration transferred and have been recognised as
expense in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ARE IR RMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 36. K6 (E)

WERINERRESDEBRLT
(MRYIE IR D) B =B 27 (GRYI
kSR ])

RZE—NF+-A+=-H KAQ7F
— BB ENBRAZEER
AR ([RE]) ERBBILE=FH
RIVIEE G e REREIISA
& BB AR 5,100,000 7T (FHE A4
5,971,000 70) 1E AR A - A5 FIIE
UK 2 SRA% #E HY 50.5% o R YA R
SEXENETAPRAYEMIZLHE
HRHBPHESEBRY - WESE
RZE—NF-_A—HBH=K - At
FUETREEKAEARFNKBA
A FRYIEMREEBMNEELRES HFA
REBRIEEIERE -

RE

HK$'000
FET

5,971

WHEARBEAAD B A EAER

Assets acquired and liabilities recognised at the date of RUBARHWERELSER CRERZE
acquisition are as follows: EuT
HK$'000
FET
Trade and other receivables JFE WA B 35 K L A P LSRR TR 6,651
Amount due from shareholders JE W5 A% 3R KR 10,995
Cash and bank deposits Re MIRITHER 73
Trade and other payables JE 1< BIR 3K B2 L At P& 5 3RIE (2,029)
Contract liabilities BHEE (3,866)
Total identifiable net assets AR EELFE 11,824
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36. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 36. XK&6 (&)
Acquisition of &I H &K E & B R 2 7 (Shenzhen WERYEFRRELSNFEERATR
Zhixunpai Information Technology Co., Ltd*) (“Shenzhen (MRIIBFAIR]) REK B QR (ORI
Zhixunpai”) and its subsidiary (the “Shenzhen Zhixunpai BRRER] (8)
Group”) (continued)
Goodwill arising on acquisition: WHEBELHEE
HK$'000
FHET
Consideration payable EfRE 5,971
Add: non-controlling interests o e E R 5,853
Less: net assets acquired B T EEFE (11,824)
Goodwill e 22 _

Net cash inflow on acquisition of Shenzhen Zhixunpai
Group

ENRENRE

Cash consideration paid

Less: cash and cash equivalent acquired
Net cash inflow WEMAFE
Included in the loss for the year ended 31 March 2019, a
profit of approximately HK$27,000 is attributable to the
additional business generated by the Shenzhen Zhixunpai
Group. Revenue for the year includes approximately of

HK$15,428,000 generated from the Shenzhen Zhixunpai
Group.

Had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018, total
Group’s revenue for the year would have been approximately
of HK$237,895,000, and loss for the year from continuing
operations would have been approximately of HK$23,021,000.
The pro forma information is for illustrative purposes only
and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and results
of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2018,
nor is it intended to be a projection of future results.

B T EBRE RN EEY

W FE R & 5 55 (B 9 BE 2 A F
#

HK$'000
TET

(73)

(73)

BHE_T-NF=-A=1t—"HILFE
BEEERYIEMIKSEE SRR
e IE B TS A4 27,00078 7T °
FERSEBEREFRINEAIKEED
#915,428,0007%& Tt °

WKBEEEER _Z—\FNA—
Bk A6BFERARIBENA
237,895,000,/8 70 FFE L E XS
BEEEBIKY 523,021,000 7T °
HEERHERBP T TA—TRTK
BEHINER-_Z—/\FNWA—H®=
X T A 55 B S 2 3 K A B PR Wi e I
BEE  NEBEEERRKREENTEA -
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INTERESTS

On 29 January 2019, Field Source Capital Resources Limited
(“Field Source”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
allotted and issued 50 and 49 new shares at HK$1 each,
to Strong Soar Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, and Skytop Fly Investment Holding Limited, an
independent third party, respectively. Upon allotment and
issue of the new shares, the Group’s shareholding interests in
Field Source was diluted from 100% to 51% and the Group
was deemed to dispose of a 49% shareholding interests
in Field Source. The Group recognised an increase in non-
controlling interest of approximately HK$34,000 in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

On 30 April 2019, Yenbo Gain, a indirect non-wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company, and Sunshine Wonder, a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a share
transfer agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed
to enter into a intra-group transfer (the “Transfer”) which
Yenbo Gain agreed to dispose of, and Sunshine Wonder
agreed to acquire, 60% of the entire issued share capital
of Zhifeng Holdings Limited (“Zhifeng”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Zhifeng group”). Further details are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 April 2019. The Transfer
was completed on 31 May 2019. The Group recognised
a decrease in non-controlling interests of approximately
HK$1,681,000 in the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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37. TRANSACTION WITH NON-CONTROLLING

BEFZERESHRS

R-ZZE—-—hRE—A=-+hIB X2
AZEBENBARIEEEREGRA
A(EEZ2])ESRIB TS B MA
A2z 2 &M B A A Strong Soar
Limited N2 — 44 % 32 35 = 75 Skytop Fly
Investment Holding Limited ¢ 2 & 2
1750 A% K 49 A% ¥ A 17 o 74 B 2 I &
TR & RNEBREENFRE
M100%# EE51% AEBEWHE B
HERELH49% FFIRE - NEBER
fRE BT AR S R HE R FE PR AR A 21 38 AN
#]34,0007%8 JT °

RZZE—-AEWMA=+H8"  AQAZ
MEZEIETEHNBRARIREREAR T
H % & & W B 2 7 Sunshine Wonder
IR E RS BUEFREHE
TEEAZEE([EE])  BEFH
Z 1 & © Sunshine Wonder [@ & I i&
FELERERAR(EE]) REK
BAR (HBIEEELE]) 60%ME
HEEITIRA - EZHBEHRARF]
MERA-Z—NFNA=+AMNA
Lo EHEAN - E-HFERA=1+—
A5 - AEBE LA WK R R
RIEFE R 2R A 491,681,000 7T ©
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38. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group entered into the following material
related party transactions during the years ended 31 March
2020 and 2019:

(@) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors and key management
personnel during the year was as follows:

Salaries and other benefits
Retirement benefit scheme
contributions

The remuneration of directors and key management
personnel is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individuals.

(b) Loan from related parties

Included in amounts due to related companies of
approximately HK$52,105,000 (2019: HK$55,673,000)
represents the balances with the companies in which
Mr. Huang Shih Tsai, a substantial shareholder of the
Company, has equity interests and/or directorships.
Other than the aforesaid, details of the balances with
related parties at the end of the reporting period are set
out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

#r B K B A 4@ R
RKAERIE &I 5K

3. EXNHEIRS
BRerE MR EMERH TSI -
REBEEZE-_FTFR_FT—NF=A
=+—HIEFEE  AEEQETUAT
BERBAEIRS

(a) TEEEAECHE
RERNEERTEEEEABZ

HBMMT
2020 2019
—g-®F —TAF
HK$°000 HK$’000

FH7T FHT

2,461 2,364

40 31

2,501 2,395

EERTREEEBABZHMA
FMZEeRENALTZRERE

—
JE ©

(b) REBELSHWER
PN B E QA RIE Y
52,105,000 L (Z & — NF :
55,673,000/ 7T) Jh 15 # AR A A
FERFREHHEILERERMDE
Hh/HETEE 2 ARG
B o BR LE SN - RIRE BRI
HHEBER 2 ERFFIBEHNER
B EHREMFE27 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

— 2
ire ISR R M A
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-ZF-A=+T—HLHFE
39. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
(@) The Group, as lessee, leases certain premises under
operating lease arrangements. Leases for premises are
negotiated for terms ranging from 1 to 4 years for the

. MEHENEE

(@ AEE (E/EAEAN) RELS
HOZHHESTHE REE
“ECEF-AZTHLESFE

year ended 31 March 2020. Y2 BEEEBEA—ZMOF -
At the end reporting period, the Group had commitments RBEHEAEER AEBEIRE
for future minimum lease payments under non-cancelable T HSEE LY MER THIR

operating leases which fall due as follows: MY RRBEERRAT -
2019
—h&F
HK$'000
FET

The Group as lessee AEBEREHEA

— Within one year ——FR 1,538
— In the second to fifth years inclusive —EFEEFRF (BEEEMT) 1,225
2,763

The Group does not have an option to purchase the
leased premises at the expiry of the lease period.

(b) At the end of reporting period, the Group had contracted
with the tenants for the following future minimum lease
receivables:

The Group as lessor AEBERSHBEA
— Within one year ——FR

— In the second to fifth years
inclusive

/M)

Property rental income earned during the year ended 31
March 2020 was approximately of HK$917,000 (2019:
HK$743,000). All of the Group’s investment properties are
held for rental purposes. At 31 March 2020, the property
expected to generate rental yields of 1.7% (2018: 1.2%)
on an ongoing basis.
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—FE_FEFRF(R

AR B EE FEN R E B E R
BEHEWE -

b) MIMEHR - NEEEBFFTL
AR T RREIEEE R -

mE

2020 2019
—B-FF —NHF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FAET TET

757 570

746 410
1,503 980

HE_ZT-_TF=-A=+—RHLFE
BRI ER S WAL E917,0007%
gL (ZZ— L5 : 743,000 7T) ° A&
SENMEREMENFERNES
B RZTE_TF= H + B
FEAMERSELR1T7T% (T —NF:
1 2%)67451/\1“?&@& °
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40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

40. EXERE

AEEHEEHR

B URERALE B A

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the cash and cash equivalents and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The Group monitors its capital structure on a basis of gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by equity as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The capital structure of the Group consists of long-term
borrowings (comprising amount due to a shareholder and
convertible notes) and lease liabilities and equity attributable
to owners of the Company (comprising share capital and
reserves).

The directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

TEERKERAELAe R REEE
WA R R RS ASS B - R R RR
R R KO o 7N £ B 258 3R A%
EFHER -

AEBREAABLREREERE
18 o LR TIALR A BB R FTR
FRERESTH -

AEBEZEXREREBERBEE (B
BN —RBCORFA R AR E
BIREERBEARER T%ENE
s (B BRERARFE) -

%%Eﬁﬂ%ﬁﬁzﬁ g - EREMZ
CEEEREARANEREEE

ZMEE%ZHEER cRIMEHREEERZ

BARBELERMT

Long-term borrowings REEE
Lease liabilities (note 28) HEBEWiE28)
Amount due to a shareholder JERT— AR R FIE
(note 27) (K1a£27)
Liability component of convertible BMBREEaES S
notes (note 29) (B17#29)

Less: Cash and bank deposits
Net debt

Equity attributable to owners
of the Company

Gearing ratio

B e MIRTTER

ARBIEE ARG

EENCYE] R

2020 2019
—E-FF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FEIT
3,776 -
69,414 69,414
- 30,215
(13,285) (32,405)
59,905 67,224
79,217 82,708
76% 81%

HRIZRER

w

Al —B-h- T -TEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BE-F-FF=A=t—HLEE
41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@) Categories of financial instruments

(b)

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

41. BT H
() BBTEREER
2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
BKEE
B EK AT E B EE 87,373 116,989
BkE s
BT E 2B aE (190,594) (224,065)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b)
The Group’s major financial instruments are disclosed
in above. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk; the policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures
to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.

There has been no change to the types of the Group’s
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risk.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)
(i) Market risk management
Currency risk

(ii)

The Group is exposed to currency risk which gives
rise to cash and bank deposits that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transaction relates.

Certain cash and bank deposits are denominated in
USD and RMB. The conversion of RMB into other
currencies is subject to the rules and regulations
of foreign exchange control promulgated by the
government of the PRC. The Group is not exposed
to foreign exchange risk in respect of exchange
fluctuation of HKD against RMB as the Group does
not have material balance in RMB.

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is not exposed to material foreign
exchange risk exposure in respect of HK$ against
USD as long as this currency is pegged. Therefore,
USD are excluded from the analysis below.

No sensitivity analysis is provided in respect of
exchange fluctuation of HK$ against RMB as the
Group does not have material balance in RMB.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in
market interest rates arises primarily from bank
deposits with a floating interest rate. The Group does
not use derivative financial instruments to hedge its
interest rate risk.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group did
not have variable rate interest bearing liabilities. The
Group has no exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit risk management

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amounts of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

4. BB TARGE)
BREBREERRREEE)

(b)

@

(ii)

5 R EE

EEmRE
AEBAZGERR  WE
ENE (BB S 28
BREEZNREB AN
ER)HEZRERRTE

ey
oA °

ETRE MRITHERIAE
TTRAREFE  ARER
BmAHEMER AR TR
I 28 ) SN BEE 61 AR R K AR
{5 o RS E Y EE H B BB

TUR AR IE X% B #) 1 E
R\ - TSARNASEEL EE
RARBE &R -

HRE 7T

AEEEEN  AEEIT T
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SNER R - Bt - ETAH
FIAI TR DT »

HRAEEL EEAARE
MEE S MAERBITHEAR
%2 ER R B RHBURE D
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ERBREZRBFBFIE
RITIF K » AN B & I A
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
(i) Credit risk management (continued)
At 31 March 2020, the Group has certain

4. BB TRGE)
(b) MEEBREEBERBE(E)

(i) EEREE (&)
RZE-ZTF=-A=+—

concentration of credit risk as 74% (2019: 95%) of
the trade receivables of the Group were due from
top five customers. The directors considered the
credit risk is limited since the Group only trade with
customer with an appropriate credit history and good
reputation. The directors monitored the financial
background and creditability of those debtors on an
ongoing basis.

The credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade
receivables, deposits paid, other receivables and
bank balances.

The management of the Group makes periodic
collective assessment as well as individual
assessment on the recoverability of deposits
paid and other receivables based on historical
settlement records, past experience, and also
available reasonable and supportive forward-looking
information under ECL model upon application of
HKFRS 9. The management of the Group believes
that there is no material credit risk inherent in the
Group’s outstanding balance of deposits paid and
other receivables.

Management considers the Group has limited credit
risk with its bank balances which are deposited in
leading and reputable banks and are assessed as
having low credit risk. Bank balances are deposited
with reputable banks. The Group has not incurred
significant loss from non-performance by these
parties in the past and management does not expect
so in the future.

Trade receivables

The Group has applied the simplified approach in
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime
ECL, which is calculated using a provision matrix
or assessed individually. The provision matrix was
based on historical credit loss experience with
reference to the past default experience of the
debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast conditions at
the reporting date.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

(ii)

Credit risk management (continued)

Trade receivables (continued)

At 31 March 2020, the ECL of debtors with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$51,589,000
(2019: HK$48,716,000) was assessed by using
provision matrix with expected loss rates up to 1.7%
(2019: 3.9%) applied on different groupings. Debtors
that are considered as credit-impaired with gross
carrying amount of approximately HK$239,000
(2019: nil) were assessed individually.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group
recognised impairment loss of amount approximately
HK$197,000 (2019: reversal of impairment loss of
approximately HK$122,000) based on the provision
matrix. Impairment allowance of HK$239,000 (2019:
nil) were made on debtors that were credit-impaired.

Deposits and other receivables and bank balances

Deposits and other receivables were measured as
either 12-month expected credit losses or lifetime
expected credit loss, depending on whether
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition. If a significant increase in
credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial
recognition, impairment is measured as lifetime
expected credit loss. To assess whether there
is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
deposits and other receivables as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of initial
recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. During
the year ended 31 March 2020, an impairment loss
of approximately HK$1,002,000 (2019: nil) was
recognised in respect of other receivables.

The credit risks on bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks with high
credit ratings assigned by international credit-rating
agencies.

4. BB TARGE)

(b)

BREBREERRREEE)

(i) FEmRBREE(E)

JEW AR 51 (&)
RZE—EF=ZA=+—
CBEHAEREBREYD
51,589,000 T (=& — 1L
£F : 48,716,000 7T) 8978
HEEEERATEERND
FEHEERESE1T%(Z
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RAEFEREAREAEY
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
(i) Credit risk management (continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime
ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables
under the simplified approach:

At 1 April 2018 RZE—-N\EWA—H
Reversal of impairment loss ROBEAREERTE
recognised, net

At31 March2019and at 1 April MZZE—AF=A=+—HR

2019 RZE-NFMA—H
Impairment losses recognised, net T A5 (B 6518 % 48

At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZEF=-F=+—H

(iiij) Liquidity risk management

In management of the liquidity risk, the management
manages the Group’s funds conservatively by
maintaining a comfortable level of cash and cash
equivalents in order to meet continuous operation
needs. Various banking facilities and credit lines
will be considered to fund any emergency liquidity
requirements. The Group currently relies on funds
generated from business operations, issue of new
shares and convertible notes as well as advances
from directors/related companies/non-controlling
interests as principal source to maintain its liquidity.

The Group monitors and maintains a level of cash
and cash equivalents considered adequate by the
directors to finance the Group’s operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
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41. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

(iii)

Liquidity risk management (continued)

The following tables details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based
on the agreed repayment terms. Undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities are based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay.
The analysis is prepared on the same basis for both
2020 and 2019.

Weighted
average
effective

interest rate
mEFH

BRI

2020 “ECEE

Non-derivative financial iabilites T4 BB AE

Trade and other payables ERERRE TR -
Lease liablties figak 5.46%
Amaunts due to directors #ﬁ% -
Amaunts due to related companies F fTEE -
Amaunts due to non-controling interests {7 EF2 f a5 -
Amount due to a shareholder E—%RREE -
Total @

2019 ZE-NE

Non-derivative financial iabilites T4 BHBAE

Trade and other payables ERERFREMERTE -
Amounts due to directors EREEHE -
Amounts due to related companies  EREE D AFUE -
Amounts due to non-controling interests & i FE2 B % 38 -
Amount due to a shareholder E—4REE -
Convertible notes TARER 14%
Total @

4. BB TARGE)

(b)

BREBREERRREEE)

(i) ZEELEBEE (&)
TRFMBIEREEEKRR
HEAREEETEYH
BEANIHSBER - HKE
ﬁz*%ﬁfﬁiﬁéllwﬁﬁ”zw

AREAM R Z & F B 8t
B _TE-_TFEFR_FT—AN
FONT TR BRI LT -

On demand Total Total
or less than Oneto  undiscounted carrying
one year five years cash flows amount
REXY AR
-£/ -2R% RERELE BEAE
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
AT AT AT AT
56,561 - 56,561 56,561
1,903 2,164 4,067 3,776
6,576 - 6,576 6,576
52,105 - 52,105 52,105
2,162 - 2,162 2,162
69,414 - 69,414 69,414
188,721 2,164 190,885 190,594
60,089 - 60,089 60,089
6,576 - 6,576 6,576
56,673 - 55,673 55,673
2,098 - 2,098 2,098
- 69,414 69,414 09,414
32,800 - 32,800 30,215
157,236 69,414 226,650 224,065

HRIZRER

Al —B-h- T -TEER

w
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Except as detailed in the following table, the directors consider
that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recognised in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values:

Convertible Notes Al E R

The fair values of Convertible Notes is classified as Level 3
category in fair value hierarchy which have been determined
in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based
on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant
inputs being the discount rate that reflects the return required
by the holder for investing in similar financial instrument.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020

42. NFEE
BRI RFRESN EERR - RERE
MEHETHER 2 HBEERAGH
AZREERAAFERS

2019
—E-NF
Carrying
amount Fair value
FRmEE NS
HK$'000 HK$’000
FBET FET
30,215 28,356

ABREEBEZAFEIBERATFESTR
ZEZRR - DIRBARBEBRAIRITHE
RanE0MEE HPREENHAH
BEAIFRE  URBFEAREBLUMS
TAMERNER -
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FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s
investment property and biological assets measured at the
end of the reporting period on a recurring basis, categorised
into the three-level fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement.

2. AFEFEGE)

DNFEER
TREIXNHERREEE B IREE M
ERFEIN BB LM REEL
FRBRAFEFEAREZ=ZER
FEERRBZAKERENERE
MEENRFE -

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E— EHR E=& st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FEIT FEIT FET
At 31 March 2020 R-B-EHF
=BA=+—H
Investment property: HEYE
— Located in the PRC — (IR - - 53,931 53,931
Biological assets EYEE - - 38,483 38,483
- - 92,414 92,414
At 31 March 2019 RZT—NF
=A=+—H
Investment property: "EYE
— Located in the PRC — LA - 59,649 - 59,649
Biological assets EMEE - - 45,972 45,972
- 59,649 45,972 105,621

During the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, there
were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, and there
was transfer of fair value measurements into level 3 from level
2 (2019: nil) of investment property as a result of change in
valuation methodology which involved significant unobservable
inputs. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between
levels of fair value hierarchy as at the date of the events or
change in circumstance that caused the transfer.

BE-_Z-_ZEFR_FT—NF=A
=+—HUEFE F—REF_F 2
M meEE  REMENATEFE
RME2RBAEIR (ZE—HLF:
/) RAAMEREHIRES ¥
RERTABRBIBEN L - AEE
ZBURE ARSI BEENSHKIBENR
PEEARRAATESHR EHEE -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 42. AFEFE(E)
Fair value measurement of investment property REMENAFEFTE

The fair value of the Group’s investment property at the
end of the reporting period has been arrived at on the
basis of a valuation carried out by Asset Appraisal Limited,
an independent qualified professional valuer who are not
connected with the Group and have among their staff
members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors with recent
experience in the valuation of property in the relevant locations.

At the end of each reporting period, the management will (i)
verify all major inputs to the independent valuation report; (ii)
assess property valuations movements when compared to the

AEEREMENREHRNQFE
TREE T A BB XA ER T BE
BEMEBRRARARETHMEEM
B - RAREAKEY EEE  H
BEREBREANEMEBEMET - BT
HAEHBULEN Y EGHESR -

REREHEEER  BEER ()&
BBV GERSZMAIZHAR
() EEF 2 EERS LRE G

prior year valuation report; and (i) holds discussion with the V)G EEE) 0 (i) BB B ER
independent valuer. B

Level 2 hierarchy % —E&

As at 31 March 2019, the fair value of investment property ZE-NF=ZA=+—H fRH
located in the PRC is determined using market comparison lZTxéﬁ@%Z NFEDI2EANAL
approach by reference to recent sales price of comparable BMEERERE (REGFHKERE

properties on a price per square metre basis to the quality of
the Group’s buildings compared to the recent sales which is
publicly available.

A RAKEEFRENAFHASI
HIHE 2 MEZERRAMIGHEA

Level 3 hierarchy =Es
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within NBEEE=FHNRFEAELHE
Level 3:
Investment
property
REYHE
HK$'000
FHET
Carrying amount REE
At 1 April 2019 R_ZE—-—hFMOMA—H -
Transfer from Level 2 into Level 3 Q FE_RBAFE=R 59,649
Loss arising on change in fair value NTFEEHELENEIR (1,929)
Exchange alignment M 5 & (3,789)
At 31 March 2020 R-ZE-EF=A=+—H 53,931
Note: The transfer from Level 2 to Level 3 is due to a lack of Wi mEZREAF=HREHREEY
observable market data, resulting from a decrease in market EMiZE8RY BRI R ER

activity for the investment properties.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

2. AFEFEGE)

Fair value measurement of investment property (continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the
key inputs to the valuation of investment properties classified
as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

Valuation
Description technique
g fEEH M
Investment properties located Income capitalisation
in the PRC approach
IR EMREYE WAE X

The valuation of investment property located in the PRC were
based on income capitalisation approach which capitalised
the rental income of the property and taking into account the
reversionary potential of the property after expiry of the current
lease. Measurement of the fair value is positively correlated
to the market rental and price per square metre and inversely
correlated to market yields.

Fair value measurement of biological assets

Biological assets were stated at fair value less costs to sell at
the end of the reporting period. The fair value was determined
by the independent qualified professional valuer, Graval
Consulting Limited by using income approach with reference
to market determined prices, cultivation areas, species,
growing conditions, cost incurred and to be incurred and
expected yield of crops.

There has been no change from the valuation technique
used in prior year. In estimating the fair value of the biological
assets, the highest and best use of the biological assets is
their current use.

REMENDFETE (B)
DEARFEERE=Z R 2ILEYNH
HEMRAZHEEFEREELEZ
BEWNT :

Significant
unobservable Key unobservable
inputs inputs
EAXATABEEGRA FEFRAHEE
g WARE
Market yields 5%
5 &
Monthly Rental RMB25/m? to
Income RMB108/m?
A2 A BFHAK
ARM25TTE
Market price (price F¥HK
per square meter) AREEA087TT
M5 ERB RMB5,900/m? to
(BFHAERS) RMB18,000/m?
BFHAK
AR 5900 E
F¥HK
AR #18,0007T

RPEZREYE 2 HETDRE
WABRETE BB EY)
FHEWALEZEBZEFMEB M
WiEmk 2 EREN - RFEAE
EmISHEE MNEF I KERKIEL -
HEmSWaE KRR R -

EMEENAFEE
EYEENREHEGEEREZAF
ERHERATIR - A FETIHIE
YEEBEREXEMLERMBIERERER
BRARZEMSEE EEEE -
miE - ERBR BEERBEL
ZRAANRTER 2z RIEMESER
WASEMEE °

OB E S E P ER A R (R (BRI
B NEFEMEEZ A FER
EMEEERMMERRI&ES &
EME -

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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Fair value measurement of biological assets (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The following significant unobservable inputs were used to
measure the Group’s biological assets plantation:

Description

i

Populus alba var.
pyramidalis Bunge
#EG

Cistanche

deserticola
ARA

Glycyrrhiza uralensis
Fisch
HE

Lycium barbarum
AL AR

Valuation technique

ERM

Income approach

LN

Income approach

LN

Income approach

LN

Income approach

LN

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTTBZEGARE

Estimated selling price (per cubic
metre)

st EE (B AK)

Required rate of return

ATk

Estimated selling price (per catty)

A EB(Em)
Required rate of return
Ak

Estimated selling price (per catty)

A EB(EmT)
Required rate of return
Ak

Estimated selling price (per catty)
fhetEE (BT)

Required rate of return

B EIRE
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42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued) 42,

DNFEFEE)
EMEENDTEFECE)
BHFE=RAFETEHEH

U TERTABRGABBERNGE
AEENEYEERER -

Key unobservable inputs
as at 31 March

TEFTRERARS

W=A=+-8
2020 2019
—g-8F  —T-nE
RMB600 RMB700
ARMO0T  ARET00T
22.92% 22.57%
RMB8 RMB13
ARMSRT  AR%IST
22.92% 22.57%
N.A. RMB2
TER  AR%2%
N.A. 22.57%

TR

RMB 10 RMB15
ARB10E  AREIST
22.92% 22.57%
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HE—

42. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (continued)

Fair value measurement of biological assets (continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

(continued)

Description

i

Lycium ruthenicum

R

Hippophae
rhamnoides

DR

Ziziphus jujuba
AR

Valuation technique

fEERM

Income approach

LN

Income approach

LN

Income approach

LN

Significant unobservable inputs

EXTABREGARE

Estimated selling price (per catty)

fhErEE (BT)

Required rate of return
FERRE

Estimated selling price(per catty)

fhEr&E (8T)

Required rate of return
FT% Bl X

Estimated selling price (per catty)

A EE(8T)

Required rate of return
P& B

BERHE=

The fair value measurements are negatively correlated to the A E{H:t+ &4
price and required rate of return of each group of biological ZEEHEREE EE«E

assets.

The reconciliation of the movement between opening and
closing balances of biological assets categorised valuations
under fair value hierarchy of Level 3, measured at fair value
using a valuation technique with significant unobservable

il

inputs is set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial

statements.

REE=&

HREZRER

42. AFEFE(E)
EYMEENDAFETE ()
SRR FEFEHEH (B)

Key unobservable inputs
as at 31 March

TERTERRBANS
W=A=+-8
2020 2019
—g-%5 —n&
N.A. RMB10
THA  AREI0T
N.A. 22.57%
Sl
RMB 6 RMB8
ARM6T  AR%eRT
22.92% 22.57%
RMB 4 RMB5
ARM4T  AREST
22.92% 22.57%

EHEMBEENER M

NP EERENEESBMA
BN R RESREBNER - BIER
HERMEZEAFEFERGAEKRTH
BRa ABBEY

RERE IS ImRME22

V

A=z

w
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43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES 43. M@ A RIFAER
The Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2020 were as RZE-_ZTF=ZA=+—H  &~AF
follows, the class of shares held is ordinary unless otherwise ZHBRARMT  BRBEITHAEIN -
stated: IR M BRI REBR
Proportion of nominal

Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued capital/

Incorporation/ paid/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Company Principal activities

ARAREL

AL/ BRARAR BRfTIRE/EREL

WEATER fEHY/AX kA& /ERER FrEmEEL Al TEER
Directly Indirectly
E# A%
Hi-Smart Technology Limited Hong Kong HKS1 100% - Investment holding
BEMRARRT &k 1B RERR
Yenbo Gain Limited British Virgin Islands US$22 - 81.82%  Investment holding
BENBRAT] RBRUHS RET REBR
Hong Kong Silversage Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 81.82%  Investment holding
ERRNERERAR e 10,0007 REBR
SR (R BR AR The PRC RMB5,535,590 - 81.82%  Investment holding
B MR (R BR AR el AR 5,535,590 REBR
MERRRENRIEERAR" The PRC RMB1,838,500 - 81.82%  Cultivation and distribution
of agricuttural and forestry
products

MEPHNEDRTERAR e ARE1,838,5007 BERAHEMZED
Field Source Capital Resources Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 51%  Trading (supply chain) business
$LARERAR &k 18T B (fEk) %%
G RPERREXERAA The PRC RMB25,000,000 - 100%  Property investment and

development, operating and
managing residential and
commercial properties
BURPERREXARAR el ARE DERERER K2R
25,000,007 EEAERAENE
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HE

“ECRF=RA=1+—HILFE
43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARER

Forever Uprise Creation Limited
XAERARRT

Prime Profit International Group
Holdings Limited
BNMERERAR AR
BB RERREXERAR
BMNLSREREEXARAT

Shenzhen Zhixunpai Information
Technology Co Ltd.*
MIERREEHRERAR
BMNEAREEMRERAR
EMNEAREEMREERRR®

@Grant Shine Limited
EOERAF

Place/country of
Incorporation/
operation

L/
BEnE/BX

Hong Kong
B

Hong Kong
&k

The PRC
i

The PRC

Gl

The PRC

il

Hong Kong
&R

Issued and fully
paid/registered
capital

ERTRAR
R&/ERER

HKS!1
187

HKS$1

187
RMB10,000,000
AE®
10,000,0007C

RMB10,100,000

N
10,1000007C

RMB1,000,000
AE®
1,000,007

HK$1,000,000
1,000,000% 7T

43. B RARFMAER (B)

Proportion of nominal
value of issued capital/
registered capital
held by the Company

ARARRL

BRORE/ERER

Freb LAl

Directly
E#

100%

100%

HARERBRDA —

Indirectly
B

51%

50.5%

30.3%

51%

Principal activities

IERH

Trading (supply chain) business

85 (M) X
General trading business
~REHXH

General trading business

—REHFH

Provision of inteligent advertising
media services
REEEESHRRE

Provision of intelligent advertising
media services

RIBREERRRY

Trading (supply chain) business

B5(HEE) 25

TN _TFFR
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43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 43. B RARFMAER (8)

Proportion of nominal

Place/country of Issued and fully value of issued capital/

Incorporation/ paid/registered registered capital
Name of subsidiary operation capital held by the Company Principal activities

ARAREL

AL/ BRTRARE BRORE/ERER

WRARER e/ A RE/ERER FrieEEL Al IERH
Directly Indirectly
Bk B
BN SReEEERARAGC The PRC RMB5,000,000 - 26.01%  Provision of magazines printing
and advertising services
ENpEEBXERERAR® el ARE Rt IR RE SR
5,000,000
Sunshine Wonder Limited British Virgin Islands US$100 100% - Investment holding
Sunshine Wonder Limited EBRAES [ REARR
Zhifeng Holdings Limited British Virgin lslands USS100 - 60%  Investment holding
FERRERAR) EBRNHES 100% 7T REBR
Thousand Investments Limited Hong Kong HKS1 - 60%  Investment holding
GBRABRAT] &R 18T RERR
RYEKEERERAR! The PRC HK$1,000,000 - 60%  Investment holding
MIEREEERERAT e 1,000,000% 7 REBR
HEERPEYRERAA The PRC RMB10,000,000 - 60%  Researchand develop on forestry
products
nEERTEMRERAE e AEE REREER
10,000,000 7T
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43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Place/country of Issued and fully
Incorporation/ paid/registered
Name of subsidiary operation capital
AR/ BRTRAR
WRARER mend /A REx/ERER
HEERGEEENERRAR" The PRC RMB10,000,000

ez

#

RRELEAXBRAA" e N

10,000,0007C

limited liability company (solely invested by Taiwan, Hong Kong
or Macao legal person) established in the PRC.

limited liability company (solely invested by foreign owned
enterprise) established in the PRC.

limited liability company (solely invested by legal person)
established in the PRC.

Although the Group’s effective ownership interests in these
companies were equal to or less than 50%, the management
consider that the Group control these companies through more
than 50% voting power in the board or shareholders’ meeting of
these companies and therefore these companies are accounted
for as subsidiaries of the Group.

The PRC subsidiaries adopted 31 December as financial
year end date for local statutory reporting purposes. For
the preparation of these consolidated financial statements,
accounts of those PRC subsidiaries for each of the 12 months
ended 31 March 2020 and 2019 have been used after making
adjustments, as appropriate, for compliance with accounting
principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.

43. B RARFMAER (B)

Proportion of nominal
value of issued capital/
registered capital
held by the Company
ARAREL
BRORE/ERER

PR E{E Bl
Directly
E& A%

Principal activities

IEXR
Indirectly

- 60%  Forestry cultivation, promotion

and application of agricultural
technologies, and information
consultation

HERSE - “%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
BRNRESH

# RPBERIMERAR(HEE &
BERPFPEABE) ©

Y ORPBERZMERAR (RINERE
BE) -

A RPBERINBERAR (HEAS

&) -

@ RBEAELEERZEARIMMAERE
HENHDNE0%  BIEER AN
EEBEBZSA T%%Aiﬁiﬁ

SHRIBO% R ERIZEFZER
ES: AR S N TJ\EEEIH’EK%@E’]
LEi=PNE]

REHEERRME - PEMELQF
Kt+=—A=*+— H%E%ﬁﬁfz
BB -ZETEMBAREE
TERE-NF=ZA=1T— Eix
ToEAZRESEREEEBRM

SRFRAMELEE AE - AREER
B IEREK

HRERBERLFR —T—N-—FT_TFEFR

w
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HE_Z_TF=A=1+—HILLFE
43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
the end of the reporting period or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particular of
excessive length.

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Group that have material non-controlling interests. The
summarised financial information below represents amounts
before intergroup elimination:

43. B RARFMAER (8)

5 I RIRO W S HA R sl 4 PO AL ] iy
A EEAREEERES

ERINBSZARBEMBELGF - HES
ARTIEFEAEERESEEZIQ
Al BEERR FHHAGHEBEARE
BEERARTLE -

NRBERAEERERE AR ER
FEEMBRBMFIS - TIHKE
M2 REEEMYHEATN S

Proportion of
Place of incorporation ownership interests and
and principal place voting rights held by
Name of subsidiary of business non-controlling interests
A IR FERBREFHEND
] PEEX: TRERMY FERRERRZRADY
2020 2019
= S L S
Shenzhen Zhixunpai Group (mote ) the PRC 49% 49%
RIEAREE W2y Tl
Yenbo Gain Group the PRC 18.18% 18.18%
RENEE L
Zhifeng Group the PRC 40% 40%
TE5E i

Indlividual immaterial subsiciaries
with non-controlling interests

FRFERERERFEEX
AR

Notes:

()  Excluding the non-controlling interests of its subsidiaries.

The summarised financial information of Zhifeng Group as at and

for the year ended 31 March 2019 was included in the Yenbo
Gain Group. Pursuant to the Transfer, as disclosed in note 37
to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s effective
interest in the Zhifeng Group has increased from 49% to 60%.

GREAT WORLD COMPANY HOLDINGS LTD Annual Report 2019-2020

Loss allocate to Accumulated
non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
AREFERBENER gtk aRER

2020 2019 2020 2019
A A = L
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
FEr TET FEr AT

(2,068) (184) 3,601 5,069

(1,600) (2.252) 45,144 46,744

(3,942) N/A (5,624) N/A*

TER TER

(3,957) (251) 783 529

43,904 52,942

liogza

() TEEENBARNEZERER

* EEEERZZE-NEF=ZA=1+—
HEEBZEZB IEFEHEBERE
gE%ﬂ)\@%ﬂ%@ RIEEE
W fR & B TS R 2 BT A 37@?&% '
AEBREEEENEREREH
49% 1 E 60% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE
43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Set out below are the summarised financial information

before intragroup eliminations for subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests that are material to the Group.

43. B RARFMAER (B)

TXHIEMBERR (HEEULAEH
MEBERZ FEEERS) REENA

HIEMWTBEERE -

Summarised financial information B ERSE
At 31 March 2020 R=-B-TBF=HA=+—8
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group Gain Group Group
Y& IR
5 EBRE SEE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FETT FAET FAETT
Current assets MEEE 65,599 74,469 10,616
Current liabilities mENEE (58,360) (59,429) (1,897)
Non-current assets EMBEE 2,703 59 46,427
Non-current liabilities EREBAE (2,584) - -
Net assets BEFE 7,358 15,099 55,146
At 31 March 2019 RZZE—nF=HA=+—H
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group Gain Group Group
RIS FUR
£E BENEH FEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET FEIT
Current assets BN E E 20,188 56,740 N/A 38 A
Current liabilities mENEE - (22,643) N/A @
Non-current assets FEREBEE (8,595) 54,536 N/A T iE
Non-current liabilities FnBEE - - N/A T~ 38 B
Net assets BEFE 11,593 88,633 N/A 38 A

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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e B HRRMEE
For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE_T-ZF-A=+T—HLHFE
43. PARTICULAR OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Summarised financial information
For the year ended 31 March 2020

43. B RARFMAER (8)

Revenue Wz

Expenses 53

Loss for the year AEFEHE

Other comprehensive loss Hih 2 MHEE

Loss and other comprehensive A E 518 I
loss for the year Hih2HEEE

Net cash generated from KB EBISIRE FEE
operating activities

Net cash used in investing WEXBMABR T8
activities

Net cash used in financing BE XSRS FEE

activities

For the year ended 31 March 2019

Revenue &=
Expenses >
Profit/(loss) for the year AERER, (BE

Other comprehensive

)
Hit2mElas (B1E)

income/(loss)
Loss and other comprehensive A4 E 518
loss for the year Hib2HEEIE

Net cash generated from/
(used in) operating activities

Net cash used in financing
activities

AR,/ (FTH)
H&F5E
BEEBFTRRE 55
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MEERBE
BE-Z-_ZEF=-A=+—-HLEE
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group Gain Group Group
Y& &K
&8 RHEAEE EUEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET FET
293,975 70,099 577
(297,528) (138,096) (10,431)
(3,553) (67,997) (9,854)
(682) (5,537) (623)
(4,235) (73,534) (10,477)
6,405 1,149 73
(357) (25) -
(501) - -
HE-Z-NWEF=-A=+—RHLLFE
Shenzhen
Zhixunpai Yenbo Zhifeng
Group Gain Group Group
RN IR
55 RENEE EEEE
HK$°000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
15,428 7,070 N/A 38 A *
(15,401) (7,666) N/A A~ i A -
27 (596) N/A A~ i A -
(258) (8,475) N/A 3 A *
(231) (9,071) N/A B A -
143 (7,785) N/A 3 A *
- (32) N/A i -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
E-EF-A=+—HIFE

44, RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

HE—

45.

as

cash flows from financing activities.

Finance Other Lease
costs  payables liabilities

) v
REHK 7E RERE
HKSO0 RSO0 HKSOmD

44,

MEXBTELEEBEZHR

TERFMAEEREXBAELRE
MEE  BRERSKIFRECES - &
BEXGELRERSERSREDK
FARKADREFENAEEESIR
fgﬁmg%} BEEHNRLRES R

Amounts  Amounts
Amounts dueto duetonon-  Amount

Convertible dueto  related controling  duetoa
notes  directors companies interests shareholder Total

ERES  EGBE BUFER E4-2

TABRE  AE QARNE  RENE BREE AW
SO0 HKSUD  HKSUDD  HKSU00 SO0 KD

Fér  TET  FEr TR TEr FErT AT FEr TAL
At1 April 2019 Z-N\ERA-A - - - 21817 6,576 59,543 2,319 69414 165,669
Non-cash changes # ﬁﬁ
- Finanoe costs recagnised ot ) *Eﬁﬁf ; BN W) - - - - - - -2
Cash flows BenE
- Qutow rom financing actties -BEEB i - - - - - 38N 1) - (4090)
At 31 March 2020 ey = - - - 25 656 55673 2098 69414 163976
Application of HKFRS 16 ERERHBREENZ 165 - - 208 - - - - - 2088
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENE-H - - 2,086 30,215 6,576 55,673 2,008 69,414 166,062
Non-cash changes FRERE
- Finence costs recognised e g ~EERBERL(F#6) 276 - 1% 2,559 - - - - 3030
- Conversion of convertible notes -BEUARSE - - - (B - - - - (g
- New lease entered ~FAuEE - - 2,99 - - - - 299
- Bxchange alignment —[E5 A% - (169) - - - (33 - - (349
Cash flows REnE
- Infowr{outfow) from financing acthities  ~BE £ 2554/ (i) @8 7460 (1499 - - (239) 64 - 5500
At 31 March 2020 R-B-BEZA=t-H -1 3,776 - 656 52105 2162 69414 141,34
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 45. TEFBRE XS .
The Group entered into the following major non-cash investing AEBETMTEIRIRSREEH
activities and financing activities which is not reflected in the N EERE  BEERRGERERE
consolidated statement of cash flows: IR
(@) On 1 February 2019, the Group disposed 51% of equity @ R-FT-NAF-—A—H A&EH
interests in the Best Sky Group at a consideration of EHEREERS1%BHE KER
HK$34,680,000. The amount remained unsettled at 34,680,000/ 7T e @K ER = ZE
31 March 2019 and included in the trade and other —hE=A=+—H r‘j?fi,%ﬁ
receivables. During the year ended 31 March 2020, the AT AFEUZAR SR K HL At P IRROA
amount was settled. BT -_TF=HA=+—HL
FRE ZREREE -
(b) Capital contribution from non-controlling interests of b)) BEEBRERTIESRL
amount approximately HK$4,057,000 remains unsettled 4,057,000 T AEE AR
and was included in the trade and other receivables at A HARET AR UL BR 3k & Ho At e
the end of the reporting period. W FKIE ©
() During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group ) #H= —EF=A=+—H

entered into new lease agreements for the use of office
premises for four years. On the lease commencement,
the Group recognised right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities with amount approximately of HK$2,994,000
and HK$2,994,000 respectively.

U:ifh ZK%?M%??}J%/&%@%

%é%&iﬁﬂﬁ% fa%%i\%éiﬁﬁu )
2,994,000 77T} 2,994,000 7T

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

HE

—E-TF-A=t+—RIFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(a) Statement of financial position of the Company

Non-current assets
Right-of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment
Investments in subsidiaries

Amounts due from subsidiaries

Current assets
Deposits and prepayment
Cash and bank deposits

Current liabilities

Other payables

Amount due to a subsidiary
Lease liabilities

Amount due to a director
Convertible notes

Net current liabilities

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liability

Amount due to a shareholder
Lease liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves
Share capital
Reserves

Equity

FRBEE
EREEE
M - BE R
RHMBRARZIRE
JE U Bt B X B R IR

REBEE
B MBI RIR
e LRITER

nERE
Ho 1l J& A 5K0R

& — M B X Bl kIR

MERE
e —REFFA
AR

RBEEFE

FRBEME
BRI B E
e — R IR IR

EERE

EXRfEE
A
R

i

Signed on behalf of the board of directors by:

Ng Mui King, Joky
Director

Zhang Yangiang

Director
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46. XRFRZHMBRAKRRFEEEE

2020 2019
—g-B% -—T-AF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHT
1,169 -
37 64

33 22
90,246 148,782
91,485 148,868
553 557
539 20,893
1,092 21,450
(838) (784)
(16,432) (7,337)
(1,061) -
(6,574) (6,574)
- (30,215)
(24,905) (44,910)
(23,813) (23,460)
- (422)
(33,208) (33,208)
(131) -
(33,339) (33,630)
34,333 91,778
27,789 23,689
6,544 68,089
34,333 91,778

HATEEREREFERE

RER
EFE

RA R

EF
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For the year ended 31 March 2020

B2-2-%

= —=

FZA=+t—HILFE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
MOVEMENT OF RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
(continued)

(b) Reserve of the Company

(c)

46. XRTRZHBRAKRRERED

(%)

(b) ADEEE

Share Convertible

Share option  notesequity  Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
TRRE
ROEE  BRERE RERE ZithE @t
HKS'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HK$'000
T TAT AT AT TAT
Asat 1 Apri 2018 RZE-\EWA-R 213,910 11,513 13,454 (196,947) 101,930
Loss and total comprehensiveloss  FREER2AFRLE
for the year - - - (33,841) (33,841)
As at 31 March 2019 and RZE-NE
1 Aprl 2019 ZA=+-BR
“Z-N\ERA-B 273910 11,513 13,454 (230,789) 66,089
Loss and total comprehensive loss  FRBERZAFELE
for the year - - - (90,219) (90,219)
Conversion of convertble notes R AT HRER 42,128 - (13,454) - 28,674
Lapse of share options BIREXN - (1,151) - 1,151 -
As at 31 March 2020 23
ZR=1-H 316,038 10,362 - (319,856) 6,544

Nature and purpose of the reserves

()

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The share premium account of the Company is
distributable to the owners of Company under the
Companies Law (2013 Revision) of the Cayman
Islands subject to the provisions of the Company’s
memorandum and articles of association and
provided that the Company will be in a position
to payoff its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business immediately following the date on
which the dividend is proposed to be distributed.

Share options reserves

The share option reserves represent the fair value of
the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted by the Company.

Convertible notes equity reserve

The convertible notes equity reserve represents
the value of the equity component of unexercised
convertible notes issued by the Company with
related deferred tax recognised.

(c) REMEREWN
() KREGEE
BEREBESEAFE(ZE
—=F&5])  WEARQE
HEERETR A R ARNE 2
HBRET - AAFA B8RO &
BIRMAARHEE AELED
& ERARERRE R
SRR S B ERTE - DEEEE
HN A B EBP R & -

(i) FEREHE
BRERBEARRRLZ
W ARITE B I B IR AT
BEZRAFE

(iii) AR E IR
MR REERFEEELAD
A EITIE R AT A AR
REZ RN ZEER B
FRRIER AT FERR

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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For the year ended 31 March 2020
?

HE—

E_TF=A=1+—HILLFE

47. EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

On 27 April 2020, the Company entered into a
subscription agreement (the “Subscription”), pursuant
to which the Company has agreed to issue and allot
473,780,000 shares at subscription price of HK$0.021
per share. The Subscription was completed on 11
May 2020 and the net proceeds of approximately
HK$9,780,000 will be used as general working capital.

Following the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019
(“the COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2020, a series of
precautionary and control measures have been and
continued to be implemented over the world, which has
affected the business and economic activities of the
Group to certain extent. Pending on the development
of the COVID-19 outbreak subsequent to the date of
these financial statements, further changes in economic
conditions for the Group arising thereof may have impact
on the financial results of the Group. The overall financial
effect of the above cannot be reliably estimated as of
the date of these consolidated financial statements. The
Group will pay close attention to the development of the
COVID-19 outbreak and continue to evaluate its impact
on the financial position and operating results of the
Group.

48. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

49.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019.

Under the transition methods, comparative information is
not restated. Further details of the changes in accounting
policies are disclosed in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS

au

The consolidated financial statements were approved and

thorised for issue by the board of directors on 29 June

2020.
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47. BEMRER

49.

#—%—?Emﬁ—+ta ZiN
NEIFIY— 1 REHE (RE
F1H]) Bt AAFREER
%1ikownﬁm%ﬁ&M%
473,780,000 % I 15 - R EE =18
Eﬂ:2_§$£H+—E%
X - BT 15 3} 38 )% %8 499,780,000
BITERE—REEES -

(@)

2019 BARmERR S _5F
MIREE ([COVID-19&F 15 ) A% -
—RIpEEREE T GEE
RERBERNER  BE—FERE
EEREREBMERREE
EB) o ZEUEMEKRBERE - BB
ECOVID-19B B ERE A%
l%@@#ﬁmwﬁimtf*
''''''' BE) N REE AR BB S EEEK
VE -HEZZREYHHREA
B P EHNEEYSYEE
AR AT c AR BB BB E
COVID-19% 15 R » W&
FHE B AR EE B AR R AL E
X¥ENTE-

. KRB F
AREBER-_ZE—AENA—HEHNKX
E%E/%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%mgom
BRENE BASILERER &
TR E By — *ﬁﬁéﬁé%ﬁ
MR FE2IE -

GRS M B®RE

,m/\gﬁﬁ‘k#&?iaﬁ/\_ = = i/\ﬂ
ZthBESEEgHEREERE-



Five-Year Financial Summary

IFUBRE

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TFE=A=+ALFE

The summarised consolidated results, assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted the audited

financial statements of the Group, are set out below:

RESULTS

Revenue W =

Loss before tax BR 5 A ES 18

Income tax credit FRiEHiE %

Loss for the year from BELEEBH
continuing operations REEFBE

Profit/(loss) for the year from 7K £F J& 42 || 48 &
discontinued operation ES 1002 |

(B#8)
Loss for the year REEEE
Attributable to: AT (L -

Owners of the Company A A RIZEA A
Non-controlling interests ~ JE12 I 25

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Total assets BEE
Total liabilities BeE
Net assets EEFE

Non-controlling interests  FE4% A% 4 25

AEBRNBERBEMBEEZ
BERAREHME BEREAKEEEZY

Bma<) &I

ES

Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—-HLEE

— -, ==
IREEE -

2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
ZEIRfE —T—NEF —E-N\F —E—+F —ZT—RF
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEr FEr FEr FEr
441,778 230,039 53,205 55,122 18,212
(42,141) (22,842) (27,584) (19,106) (26,869)
885 392 433 627 2,938
(41,256) (22,450) (27,151) (18,479) (23,931)
- 5,304 (7,847) - -
(41,256) (17,146) (34,998) (18,479) (23,931)
(31,739) (16,783) (38,756) (17,822) (24,766)
(9,517) (363) 3,758 (657) 835
(41,256) (17,146) (34,998) (18,479) (23,931)
EEREE
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HILEE
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EBEC-EF —“E-NF E-N\F —ZET—+HF —T—RE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FETT FETT FET FET FET
357,808 381,228 381,031 335,177 357,047
(234,687)  (245,578)  (222,575)  (193,464)  (210,022)
123,121 135,650 158,456 141,713 147,025
43,904 52,942 47,750 10,914 12,380

HABRBRERQATE T T -ZFFH
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Major Properties

B RYES

For the year ended 31 March 2020
BE-T-TE=A=+ALFE

Investment property

Location Intended use
i 25 BERZ

Commercial use

BEMRR

Commercial units on
Level 1 to 3 and

41 carparking spaces on
Basement, Venice Building,
No. 130 Renmin South
Road, Zhongxincheng
District, Leshan City,
Sichuan Province,

The PRC

b

PIIES

ZLm

LI @

AR 13058

“ g KE
1E31&

[EEXEZVS

R 41 B=E L

Properties held for sale

Location Intended use
il 2 BERZE

Commercial use

BEMR

Residential units on

Level 5 to 21, Venice
Building, No. 130 Renmin
South Road, Zhongxincheng
District, Leshan City
Sichuan Province

The PRC

H

EPIIES)

2\

O

AR 1305%
e KE
5IEZE211Z

FEEA

REWE
Category of Gross
lease term floor area
BAOER HEEEE
(sq.m.)
(FHK)
Medium term lease 8,471.90
FHAFR 4
fE B
Category of Gross
lease term floor area
HLER HWEEEE
(sq.m.)
(F75K)
Medium term lease 19,779.92

IR A
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Group’s
interest
rEBEZER
(%)

(%)

100

Group’s
interest
rEEZER
(%)

(%)

100
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